University of Alberta

A population-based comparison of injuries among farm children to non-farm children in Alberta, 1999-2010

by

Kyungsu Kim

A thesis submitted to the Faculty of Graduate Studies and Research in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

Doctor of Philosophy in Epidemiology

Department of Public Health Sciences

© Kyungsu Kim Spring 2014 Edmonton, Alberta

Permission is hereby granted to the University of Alberta Libraries to reproduce single copies of this thesis and to lend or sell such copies for private, scholarly or scientific research purposes only. Where the thesis is converted to, or otherwise made available in digital form, the University of Alberta will advise potential users of the thesis of these terms.

The author reserves all other publication and other rights in association with the copyright in the thesis and, except as herein before provided, neither the thesis nor any substantial portion thereof may be printed or otherwise reproduced in any material form whatsoever without the author's prior written permission

Abstract

<u>Objectives</u> - To systematically review literature on rural-urban differences in pediatric injury incidence and to examine incidence of all-cause injury, agricultural injury, and injury-related health care utilization for farm children compared to several groups of non-farm children under 18 years of age in Alberta, Canada.

Methods – A systematic review examined population-based observational studies published from 1970 to August 2013, that compared rates or health care outcomes of injury between rural and urban children (<18) living in Canada or the United States. Three of population-based retrospective cohort studies followed farm, rural, First Nations (FN), urban children from 1999 to 2010 to examine incidence of injury and related health services using the linkage of four administrative health databases (data from physician visits to deaths). Person-time incidence rates and adjusted hazard ratios were calculated based on injury episode. <u>Results</u> – Systematic review demonstrated that rural children sustained a higher rate of overall injury, particularly from MVC and suicide than urban children. Primary studies showed farm and rural children, especially rural FN children, had higher rates and greater utilizations of overall injury, especially for severe injuries, than urban children. This trend was consistent for most injury mechanisms but more notably for other land transport (e.g., ATVs, animal riding, agricultural vehicle-related injuries), natural/environmental (e.g., bees, insects, animals-related), and unintentional firearm-related injuries. Farm and rural non-FN children were at a greater risk of agricultural injuries, more outstandingly

for farm-animal and machinery-related injuries, than rural FN and urban children. Agricultural injuries appeared to be more unintentional and lethal. Rural FN children, followed by rural non-FN and farm children, experienced greater utilization of higher levels of medical facilities, thinner shapes of injury pyramid, and greater proportions of pre-hospital deaths.

<u>Conclusions</u> – Greater burden of injury for farm and rural children and specific patterns per group indicate a need for targeted and specialized injury prevention strategies for higher-risk mechanisms in each group, attention for agricultural injury controls to extended populations, comprehensive intervention strategies for underlying inter-related causes of injury in rural areas, and an advanced pediatric trauma care for serious injuries the ED for efficient and timely care in rural areas.

Acknowledgements

I express my deep gratitude to my supervisor, Dr. Donald C. Voaklander for his support and great guidance. I would like to thank the supervisory committee, Dr. Jeremy Beach and Dr. Sentil Senthilselvan for their valuable advice and comments.

To my parents, Mr. Chunyoung Kim and Mrs. Sunbun Ahn and my parents-in-law, Dr. Youngsang Jung and Mrs. Yeongsuk Won, thanks for endless love and encouragement. I would like to express my deepest appreciation and respect to my mom-in-law. Her support, sacrifices she has made, and loving care for my family has made this thesis possible. To my lovely daughters, Hyein and Hyerin, thanks for being my daughters and being the source of my happiness. And thank you Kangho, my wonderful husband. Your advice, encouragement, and support is always the pillar of strength in my life.

I would like to present my appreciation to my friends, Dejan Ozegovic and Dr. Maria Ospina for their support and valuable comments. I also would like to thank Rural Development Administration of Korea to allow me to study abroad in Canada and express my special thanks to research fellows in the institute, Dr. Kyungsuk Lee, Dr. Kyungran Kim, Hyocher Kim, and Hyesun Choi filling in for me while I was away.

My thesis research was supported by, the Public Health and the Agricultural Rural Ecosystem (PHARE), the Western Regional Training Center for Health Services Research (WRTC), and Canadian Institutes of Health Research and the Canadian Agricultural Safety Association (CASA) through the Alberta Centre for Injury Control and Research (ACICR). I would like to thank for their financial support and training.

Table of Contents

Chapter 1. General introduction	1
1.1 Background	1
1.1.1 Agricultural injuries among children	1
1.1.2 Agricultural and non-agricultural injuries for farm children.	2
1.1.3 Comparison of children's injuries between different groups	3
1.1.4 What prior studies are lacking	5
1.2. Objectives and research questions	6
1.2.1 Objectives	6
1.2.2 Research questions	6
References	7
Chapter 2. Differences in incidence of injury between rural and urban chi	ildren in
Canada and the U.S.: a systematic review	9
2.1 Introduction	9
2.2 Methods	10
2.2.1 Search Strategy	10
2.2.2 Study Selection	11
2.2.3 Quality Assessment	12
2.2.4 Data extraction	13
2.2.5 Data analysis and synthesis	13
2.3 Results	14
2.3.1 Description of included studies	14
2.3.2 Methodological quality of included studies	15
2.3.3 Primary outcome (injury incidence)	15
2.3.4 Secondary outcomes (length of hospital stay, hospital costs, e	etc.)19
2.3.5 Effect of other factors on injury differences	19
2.4 Discussion	20
2.4.1 Summary of evidence	20
2.4.2 Interpretation	21
2.4.3 Investigation of heterogeneity	22
2.4.4 Strengths and limitations	23

2.4.5 Implications for research and practice	25
2.5 Conclusions	
References	27
Chapter 3. Differences in incidence of all-cause injury between farm, ru	ral, and
urban children in Alberta	53
3.1 Introduction	53
3.2 Materials and methods	55
3.2.1 Study Design	55
3.2.2 Study participants	55
3.2.3 Data Sources	56
3.2.4 Injury identification	57
3.2.5 Injury episode	58
3.2.6 Statistical analysis	60
3.3 Results	62
3.3.1 Demographic Characteristics	62
3.3.2 Incidence rate of injury by the level of care	63
3.3.3 Intent of injury	65
3.3.4 Mechanisms of injury	65
3.3.5 Mechanisms of intentional injuries	
3.4 Discussion6	
3.5 Conclusions 74	
References	76
Chapter 4. Agricultural injury for farm and non-farm children in Alberta	91
4.1 Introduction	91
4.2 Materials and methods	93
4.2.1 Study Design	93
4.2.2 Study location	93
4.2.3 Study participants	94
4.2.4 Data Sources	95
4.2.5 Injury identification	95
4.2.6 Injury episode	97

4.2.7 Statistical analysis	98
4.3 Results	100
4.3.1 Demographic Characteristics	101
4.3.2 Frequency and incidence rate	101
4.3.3 Agricultural versus non-agricultural injury	104
4.4 Discussion	106
4.5 Conclusions	113
References	114
Chapter 5. Differences in injury-related health care utilization for farm, r	ural, and
urban children	127
5.1 Introduction	127
5.2 Materials and methods	129
5.2.1 Study Design	129
5.2.2 Study location	129
5.2.3 Study participants	129
5.2.4 Data Sources	130
5.2.5 Injury identification	131
5.2.6 Injury episode	132
5.2.7 Statistical analysis	133
5.3 Results	134
5.3.1 Demographic Characteristics	135
5.3.2 Injury episodes and services	135
5.3.3 Injury pyramid by children's groups and sex	136
5.3.4 Place of deaths in terms of level of care	137
5.3.5 Hospitalization status	137
5.3.6 Nature of injury	138
5.4 Discussion	139
5.5 Conclusions	143
References	144
Chapter 6. General discussion and conclusions	155
6.1 Overview of study objectives	155

6.2 Summary and interpretations of the results	155
6.3 Limitations and strengths	157
6.4 Implications for research and practice	159
6.5 Conclusions	162
References	164
Appendix I. MEDLINE (Ovid Version) search strategy	166
Appendix II. Health care utilization among five children's groups	168

List of Tables

Table 2-1. Characteristics of the included studies	33
Table 2-2. Methodological quality of included studies using the Modified NOS	44
Table 3-1. Subject demographics	82
Table 3-2. Incidence rate and proportion of any-cause injuries	83
Table 3-3. Hazard ratios of any-cause injuries from Cox proportional hazard model	84
Table 3-4. Crude rate and rate ratio of any-cause injuries by the intent of injury	85
Table 3-5. Crude rate and relative risk of injuries at the emergency department visit level and above combined by mechanism and intent	86
Table 4-1. Subject demographics	119
Table 4-2. Incidence rate of agricultural injury	120
Table 4-3. Multivariate Cox proportional hazard model for agricultural injuries at the emergency department visit level and above combined	121
Table 4-4. Relative risks (95% CI) of agricultural injury for males to females	123
Table 4-5. The leading causes of non-fatal agricultural injuries(crude incidence rates and rate ratios)	124
Table 4-6. The leading causes of non-fatal agricultural injuries (proportions)	125
Table 4-7. Mechanism and nature of injury for non-fatal agricultural vs. non-agricultural injuries	126
Table 5-1. Subject demographics	148
Table 5-2. Episodes and services of any-cause injuries	149
Table 5-3. Status of all hospitalizations by children's group	150

Table 5-4. The leading natures of injury episodes by children's group and 151 the level of medical care

Table 5-5. An number of services per an injury episode by nature of injury152

List of Figures

Figure 2-1.	Flow of study retrieval and selection	47
Figure 2-2.	Rate ratios of any cause/intent of injury for rural children to urban children	48
Figure 2-3.	Rate ratios of intentional injury for rural children to urban children	49
Figure 2-4.	Rate ratios of motor vehicle crash-related injury for rural children to urban children	50
Figure 2-5.	Rate ratios of firearm-related injury for rural children to urban children	51
Figure 2-6.	Rate ratios of other cause of injury for rural children to urban children	52
Figure 3-1.	Crude incidence rate of non-fatal injuries (emergency department visits and hospitalizations) by the mechanism of injury	89
Figure 3-2.	Crude incidence rate of fatal injuries by the mechanism of injury	90
Figure 4-1.	Incidence rate of agricultural injury by sex and proxy-severity of injury	122
Figure 5-1.	Injury pyramid by children 's group and sex	153
Figure 5-2.	The place of deaths in terms of level of care	154

List of Abbreviations

ICD: International Classification of Disease E-codes: External Cause of Injury Codes EM: Emergency Department FN: First Nations HR: Hazard Ratio LOS: Length Of Stay MVC: Motor Vehicle Crash NOS: The Newcastle-Ottawa Scales OLT: Other Land Transport (land transport injuries other than motor vehicle traffic, pedal cyclist, pedestrian injuries; i.e., ATVs, animal riding, agricultural vehicle-related injuries) OR: Odds Ratio PHS: Personal Health Number **RR:** Rate Ratio or Relative Risk SE: Standard Error SES: Socioeconomic Status SMR: Standardized Mortality Ratio U.S.: The United States WHO: World Health Organization 95% CI: 95% Confidence Interval

Chapter 1. General introduction

1.1 Background

1.1.1 Agricultural injuries among children

Agriculture continues to be one of the most dangerous occupational sectors in Canada as well as across the world due to high rates of fatal injuries.¹⁻³ Agricultural hazards extend not only to farm workers but also to farm children for two primary reasons. Firstly, the working and living environments of farms can hardly be separated. In particular, for young farm children, play areas are often the same as the dangerous workplaces of their parents, which results in the highest agricultural death rate for young children, being under five years of age, than any other age group of children.^{2,4,5} Secondly, farm children and adolescents participate in farm work. Farm children are commonly assigned work on their family's farms from as young as 7-9 years of age,⁶ and adolescents make up a considerable proportion of the agricultural workforce.⁷ Therefore, it may be assumed that that farm children have been suffering from more injuries than other groups, as farm children are exposed to an extra hazardous environment (farm work itself, machinery, toxic chemicals, dugouts for irrigation, etc.) that other children may not be exposed to.

Standard definition of injury by the World Health Organization (WHO) is "Injuries are caused by acute exposure to physical agents such as mechanical energy, heat, electricity, chemicals, and ionising radiation interacting with the

body in amounts or at rates that exceed the threshold of human tolerance. In some cases (for example, drowning and frostbite), injuries result from the sudden lack of essential agents such as oxygen or heat".⁸ Injury is the leading cause of death for children, accounting for more than half of all deaths for children in Canada .⁹ The hazardous environment surrounding farm children results in high rates of fatality and disability from agricultural injuries. Agricultural fatal injury rates for children in Canada and the U.S. ranged from 7.0 to 13.2 per 100,000 population per year.¹⁰⁻¹² More than 40% of farm injuries in children who visit emergency departments leave them with an ongoing disability.¹³ In Alberta, 46 children under 20 years of age died from agricultural injuries between 1990 and 2006.⁴

1.1.2 Agricultural and non-agricultural injuries for farm children.

Injury for farm children can be classified into agricultural injury and non-agricultural injury. Agricultural injury refers injury that is related to farm/ranch operation or farm/ranch environmental hazards.¹⁴ Agricultural injury includes both work-related and non-work-related injuries, such as deaths on agricultural vehicles being used for agricultural work or recreational purposes.¹⁴ There are many factors related to agricultural injury for children including age, gender, cause, and season. Younger children (under 5 years) and adolescents aged 15-19 experienced more injuries than other age groups of children.^{5,15} More males than females are injured on farms in almost all age groups.¹⁶⁻¹⁹ The male to female ratio in fatality rates of farm-related injury consistently increase with age.^{11,12} Machines/machinery is the greatest cause of fatal agricultural injures, accounting for 66% of agricultural deaths to children ¹⁰, and half of these machinery deaths

involve tractors ^{10,12}.

Non-agricultural injury refers to injuries that do not involve agricultural work or hazards. For example, this category includes injuries from sports, motor vehicle collisions, school violence, etc. that are not related to the farm work/environment. Prior studies have primarily focused on agricultural injury, therefore, little is known about injury rates and patterns of non-agricultural injury for farm children. Due to lack of information on this injury category (non-agricultural injuries), overall injury rates for farm children have not been estimated.

The lack of information on all causes of injury for farm children may be related to the methods of prior studies in using administrative health databases. Previous studies have extracted agricultural injury data from administrative health databases using International Classification of Disease (ICD) codes.^{4,12,12,19,20} This approach is efficient and effective to illustrate general problems from agricultural injury for all children in a population, but it has limitations to estimate a true incidence rate of agricultural injuries "for farm children". Without identifying farm children, it would not be possible to examine the incidence of other injury categories of injuries for them, either. Only an approach that specifically identifies farm children in a population-based fashion and then examines their specific injury experience can truly estimate injury incidence of injury in this population.

1.1.3 Comparison of children's injuries between different groups

The majority of prior studies are descriptive studies on the prevalence of agricultural injuries. Comparison studies with samples of farm children and

non-farm children are rarely performed. Some studies have attempted to compare the injury incidence for farm children and other groups of children, but they have limitations in the scope of injuries covered, the age range/characteristics of subjects, comparability, etc.

Miller et al.²¹ found that the occupational injury rate among farm adolescents was one of the three highest among all industries based on Washington state workers' compensation claims. Hard and Myers ²² reported that occupational death rates to young workers in the agricultural sector was 3.6 times greater than that for young workers of all industries combined in the United States. This gap was highest in 15 year olds working in the crop production sector with a 6.1 fold increase in rates. Although these two studies obviously indicate that young farm workers suffer greater injuries than other young workers, these studies using compensation claims were not able to examine non-occupational injuries. Brison et. al.²⁰ compared fatality rates of preschool children on farms to those in Canadian children of the same age. The fatal injury rate from agricultural injuries for farm children was 1.7 fold higher than one of all-cause, unintentional injury among all Canadian children aged 1-6. If data of farm children deaths included non-agricultural deaths, this difference would likely be larger. This study does provide valuable information about the very youngest children, but it did not provide any information on children that are transitioning into the farm workforce. Non-fatal injuries were also not examined in this study.

Some studies compared the injury rates and causes between rural and urban children. Differences in rates of all-cause injury between rural and urban

children were not significant.²³ However, non-fatal injury rates increased with an increase of rurality in the U.S.,²⁴ and rural children sustained significantly greater fatal injuries in some specific injuries compared to urban children in Colorado:²³ Increased motor vehicle deaths and firearms accidents/suicides were found in some age groups of rural children. A population-based study in Alberta, Canada²⁵ found that the risk of motor vehicle collision injury were significantly higher for rural children in comparison to urban children (3 times greater for injury requiring hospitalization, 5.4 times higher for fatality).

These studies indicate that injury patterns are different in rural and urban children, and rural children are at increased risk of some specific injury types. However, these data are not sufficient to estimate injury incidence for farm children, as rural children do not truly represent farm children, and differences and similarities in injury risk between farm and non-farm children in rural areas have not been examined.

As a result of these limitations, it has been difficult to determine whether farm children sustain more injuries, the extent to which they suffer more, and what specific injuries they are more vulnerable to, in comparison with other groups of children.

1.1.4 What prior studies are lacking

Although existing studies have provided useful and substantial information of farm-related injuries for children, there have been noticeable limitations in the scope of injury and estimation of the relative risk of injury for farm children; 1) conventional approaches have primarily dealt with agricultural injuries for

children, and all causes of injuries (agricultural and non-agricultural injuries) for farm children have not been studied in North America, 2) existing studies have a deficiency in overall comparison of injury incidence of farm children to other groups of children.

For an accurate and comprehensive understanding of injuries for farm children, it is essential to compare all causes of injury between farm and non-farm children. The derivation of the true risk and relative burden of injury for farm children is necessary to assist decision makers in the development of appropriate health and safety standards for farm children. The approach offered by this study as a population based epidemiologic study will offer new insight into the risks farm children are exposed to.

1.2. Objectives and research questions

1.2.1 Objectives

The proposed study examined the incidence and health care utilization of injuries for farm children under 18 years of age in comparison to non-farm children in Alberta from 1998-2010.

1.2.2 Research questions

- 1. What are the differences in injury rates between rural and urban children based on a systematic review of the literature?
- 2. What are the differences in rates and patterns of all-cause injury between farm, rural, and urban children in Alberta from 1998-2010?

- 3. What are the differences in rates and patterns of agricultural injury for farm and non-farm children in Alberta from 1998-2010?
- 4. What is the difference in injury-related health care utilization for farm, rural, and urban children in Alberta from 1998-2010?

References

- (1) National Safety Council editor. Injury facts 2008 edition. ; 2010.
- (2) Pickett W, Hartling L, Brison RJ, Guernsey JR. Fatal work-related farm injuries in Canada, 1991-1995. Canadian Agricultural Injury Surveillance Program. CMAJ 1999 Jun 29;160(13):1843-1848.
- (3) Sharpe A, Hardt J. Five deaths a day: workplace fatalities in Canada, 1993-2005. Available at: http://www.csls.ca/reports/csls2006-04.pdf, 2006.
- (4) Alberta Centre for Injury Control & Research (ACICR). Agricultural-related injury deaths in Alberta, 1990-2006. Available at: http://www.acicr.ca/documents-reports/injury-data-reports, 2009.
- (5) Bancej C, Arbuckle T. Injuries in Ontario farm children: a population based study. Inj Prev 2000 Jun;6(2):135-140.
- (6) Marlenga B, Pickett W, Berg RL. Assignment of work involving farm tractors to children on North American farms. Am J Ind Med 2001 Jul;40(1):15-22.
- (7) Lee BC, Westaby JD, Chyou PH, Purschwitz MA. Agricultural employers' hiring and safety practices for adolescent workers. J Agric Saf Health 2007 Jan;13(1):25-32.
- (8) Baker, S., O'Neill, B., and Karpf, R. The Injury Fact Book. Lexington: Lexington Books; 1984.
- (9) Child Injury Division, Bureau of Reproductive and Child Health, Health Canada. Canadian injury data, mortality 1997 and hospitalizations 1996-97. Available at: http://dsp-psd.pwgsc.gc.ca/Collection/H47-71-1999E.pdf, 1999.
- (10) Canadian Agricultural Injury Reporting (CAIR). Fatal and hospitalized agricultural injuries among children and youth in Canada. Available at: http://www.caisp.ca/tecrep.html, 2007.
- (11) Rivara FP. Fatal and non-fatal farm injuries to children and adolescents in the United States, 1990-3. Inj Prev 1997 Sep;3(3):190-194.
- (12) Rivara FP. Fatal and nonfatal farm injuries to children and adolescents in the United States. Pediatrics 1985 Oct;76(4):567-573.
- (13) Swanson JA, Sachs MI, Dahlgren KA, Tinguely SJ. Accidental farm injuries in children. Am J Dis Child 1987 Dec;141(12):1276-1279.

- (14) Canadian Agricultural Injury Reporting (CAIR). Agricultural Injuries in Canada 1990-2000. Available at: http://www.caisp.ca/natrep.html, 2003.
- (15) Kanagy PK. 2001 childhood agricultural-related injuries. Available at: http://www.nass.usda.gov/Statistics_by_State/Pennsylvania/Publications/Annu al_Statistical_Bulletin/2003_2004/niosh.pdf, 2006.
- (16) Cogbill TH, Busch HM,Jr, Stiers GR. Farm accidents in children. Pediatrics 1985 Oct;76(4):562-566.
- (17) Lim GW, Belton KL, Pickett W, Schopflocher DP, Voaklander DC. Fatal and non-fatal machine-related injuries suffered by children in Alberta, Canada, 1990-1997. Am J Ind Med 2004 Feb;45(2):177-185.
- (18) Pickett W, Brison RJ, Hoey JR. Fatal and hospitalized agricultural machinery injuries to children in Ontario, Canada. Inj Prev 1995 Jun;1(2):97-102.
- (19) Canadian Agricultural Injury Reporting (CAIR). Gender analysis of fatal and hospitalized farm injuries in Canada, 1990-1996. Available at: http://www.caisp.ca/gender.html. Accessed 2001.
- (20) Brison RJ, Pickett W, Berg RL, Linneman J, Zentner J, Marlenga B. Fatal agricultural injuries in preschool children: risks, injury patterns and strategies for prevention. CMAJ 2006 Jun 6;174(12):1723-1726.
- (21) Miller ME, Kaufman JD. Occupational injuries among adolescents in Washington State, 1988-1991. Am J Ind Med 1998 Aug;34(2):121-132.
- (22) Hard DL, Myers JR. Fatal work-related injuries in the agriculture production sector among youth in the United States, 1992-2002. Journal of agromedicine 2006;11(2):57-65.
- (23) Hwang HC, Stallones L, Keefe TJ. Childhood injury deaths: rural and urban differences, Colorado 1980-8. Inj Prev 1997 Mar;3(1):35-37.
- (24) Coben JH, Tiesman HM, Bossarte RM, Furbee PM. Rural-urban differences in injury hospitalizations in the U.S., 2004. Am J Prev Med 2009 Jan;36(1):49-55.
- (25) Kmet L, Macarthur C. Urban-rural differences in motor vehicle crash fatality and hospitalization rates among children and youth. Accid Anal Prev 2006 Jan;38(1):122-127.

Chapter 2. Differences in incidence of injury between rural and urban children in Canada and the U.S.: a systematic review

2.1 Introduction

Injury is the leading cause of death for children aged 1 to 19 years in Canada and the United States (U.S.).^{1,2} The World Health Organization (WHO) reported that on a daily basis, more than 2,000 children die worldwide from unintentional injuries, and at least half of these deaths are preventable if appropriate prevention measures are adopted.³ Injury trends and problems vary between populations and communities, and an identification of specific injury problems for different populations is required to target injury control strategies.

Rural and urban children are surrounded by different physical and socio-economic environments and risk factors of injury. Prior studies have demonstrated differences in injury rates and patterns of injury between these groups (e.g., higher rates of overall injury and motor vehicle crash (MVC) injury for rural children than their rural counterparts).^{4,5} However, review or systematic examination of injury differences between these two populations has not been performed previously. Stewart Fahs et al.⁶ reviewed literature on risk behaviors including injury experience among adolescents in rural, suburban, and urban areas, but the study did not focus on comparisons of injury incidence between these geographic groups.

Canada and the U.S. share similarities in terms of geography, demographics, socio-cultural environment, economic growth, infrastructure, etc..⁷ In both countries, rural areas comprise 93-95% of the land mass, but rural populations make up 19-21% of the total population with declining trends over time, ⁸⁻¹¹ and experience poor access to health care services and a shortage of health care providers (e.g., physicians).^{10,12} Conversely, they have different health insurance systems (universal social system in Canada vs. mixed public-private system in the U.S.)¹³ and firearm control laws (less restrictive regulations in the U.S. vs. Canada).¹⁴

The objective of this study is to systematically identify and synthesize the existing evidence to assess whether there are differences in injury incidence between rural and urban children (aged under 18) in Canada and the United States. Understanding the injury-related health disparity between rural and urban children would help to develop effective injury prevention strategies specific to each setting and, in particular, to raise the profile of injury sustained by rural children for additional funding and intervention initiatives.

2.2 Methods

A protocol of this study was developed in advance to outline the objective and methods. The review protocol has been registered in PROSPERO (registration number: CRD42011001244).

2.2.1 Search Strategy

A research librarian and the first author developed search strategies, and the first author conducted searches of the following electronic databases to identify reports: Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews, MEDLINE, EMBASE, Scopus, Web of Science, Health & Safety Science Abstracts, Safetylit, and ProQuest Dissertations and Theses Databases. Supplementary approaches were applied by searching websites of institutions and government agencies in Canada and the U.S. and checking reference lists of relevant studies. There was no restriction by publication status, but the searches were restricted to studies conducted in Canada or the United States and published in English. We used all appropriate search terms that imply the concepts of 'rural', 'urban', 'children', and 'injury', while applying them for controlled vocabulary as well as free text terms, when available. The search strategy for MEDLINE is presented in Appendix I, and this search strategy was modified as appropriate to the specifications of other databases.

2.2.2 Study Selection

Eligible studies for review were population-based observational studies or surveys that compared injury incidence (primary outcome) or injury-related health care outcomes (secondary outcomes including hospital length of stay (LOS), hospital costs, etc.) between rural and urban children within each study. Studies with a qualitative approach, reviews, and case series were excluded. Populations considered were children under 18 years of age living in Canada or the United States. If the upper age limit exceeded 18, studies were included if the majority of participants were <18 or subgroup data for that age group were provided. We included studies that classified rural/urban status either by area of residence or by area of injury occurrence. Injury outcomes comprised any cause or intent of injury regardless of severity of injury including mortality and morbidity (e.g., injury 12

causing medical attention or restricted activity) excluding risk behaviors (e.g., drug use experience or violence exposure).

To be included for review, the relative effect measures of injury for compared groups such as rate ratio (RR), odds ratio (OR), or Hazard ratio (HR) needed to be provided or be able to be calculated. Studies published from 1970 to August, 2013 were included given that large-scale injury prevention efforts began to emerge in the 1960s in the United States.¹⁵

For study selection, two independent reviewers first reviewed the titles and abstracts to remove obviously irrelevant reports being over-inclusive with broad inclusion criteria and secondly, assessed full-text reports of remaining studies using a standardized form that listed predefined inclusion criteria. Disagreements between reviewers were resolved by consensus or third reviewer adjudication.

2.2.3 Quality Assessment

The internal validity of included studies was assessed using the Newcastle-Ottawa Scales (NOS)¹⁶ developed for cohort studies. The NOS evaluates selection bias, comparability, and outcome assessment with eight items. It scores the validity by awarding a maximum of two stars for an item of comparability and one star each for other items. Scores are summed and range from zero to nine stars. We modified the NOS by removing three items (outcome status at start of study, follow-up period, and follow-up) that were assumed irrelevant to injury studies, leaving us with five items for a maximum possible score of six stars. As criteria to assess comparability, we chose age as well as socioeconomic status (SES) or medical service environment as important factors to be controlled for or matched.

Two authors independently conducted critical appraisal of the included studies. Disagreements were resolved by consensus or by third reviewer adjudication.

2.2.4 Data extraction

Data were extracted from reports using a standardized data collection form to gather information on the study design, population, data sources, urban/rural definition, outcomes, results, and additional information for assessments of the risk of bias. In cases of multiple reports from one study, information was combined. Some data were extracted from graphs.^{17,18} Data extraction was performed by the first author, and independently verified by the second author. More information was obtained by contacting investigators, if necessary. Data were extracted into an Excel database.

2.2.5 Data analysis and synthesis

Data were summarized and synthesized by the category of injury based on intent and cause of injury. The principle summary measure of the effect of residential area (rural vs. urban) on injury incidence was RR or OR. A Meta-analysis was not conducted due to large heterogeneity across studies as well as a lack of standard error (SE) in the majority of included studies as these studies mainly performed descriptive analysis with data for the whole population from administrative health databases. Therefore, data were synthesized qualitatively and displayed using a forest plot with point estimate of RR or OR without pooling of data. If a study classified rural/urban areas using more than two categories, RR for the most rural area vs. the most urban area was used. In cases of multiple RRs for the same study outcome, a RR for the largest age group and higher level of severity was chosen for the forest plot, otherwise multiple results are descriptively presented and not included in the forest plot. Effects of several factors (severity of injury, age and sex of participants, urban/rural categorization methods, a level of data collection (i.e., national or local), etc.) on RRs were explored qualitatively. A test for publication bias was not performed because of an absence of standard error (SE) in most studies as well as there being few studies for each injury outcome. Forest plots were drawn using RevMan software (version 5.1 for windows; The Cochrane IMS).

2.3 Results

2.3.1 Description of included studies

The flow of study retrieval and selection is shown in Figure 2-1. Overall, 2,943 reports were identified from literature searches. The full texts of 244 reports were examined and, of these, 198 studies were excluded. A list of excluded studies is available by contacting the first author. A total of 41 unique studies (46 reports) were included for the review, all of which were population-based cross-sectional studies (seven surveys ¹⁹⁻²⁵ and 34 studies using administrative health database).

Three studies ^{4,24,26} were reports from government agencies and the others were articles published in peer-review journals. The majority of studies (34 studies) were conducted for only a paediatric population, and seven studies ^{4,17,24,27-30}at the municipal level. Rural/urban areas were classified by participants' residential area (31 studies), school areas,^{20,22,25} location of injury occurrence (for

MVC injury^{28,33,36,41} and for firearm injury^{37,42}) or location of hospitals (sport-related injury³⁹). Definitions and categories of rural/urban areas varied across studies: The number of rural/urban categories included two categories (26 studies), three-five categories,^{4,17,20,21,23,25-27,29,34,38,42-45} and 10 categories³⁷ (King et al.⁴³ applied two categories as well as four categories). Most of the study participants were children under 17 to 20 years of age (21 studies), children under 15,^{26,27,29,30,36,40,41,45-47} mostly teenagers,^{20-23,25,48} young children,^{43,49} and children excluding young children.^{34,39} Key features of included studies were summarized in Table 2-1.

2.3.2 Methodological quality of included studies

The internal validity of studies was moderate. In total, 95 percent of studies (39 out of 41 studies) received four or more stars out of a possible six on the NOS. Stars given to studies using administrative databases included full stars,^{37,39,50} five stars,^{4,26,30,31,33,36} and four stars (25 studies). Three surveys ^{21,23,25} obtained five stars and the other four surveys^{19,20,22,24} were rated at three stars. The main reasons of lower star ranking were a lack of control for potential confounders and outcome assessment by self-report (Table 2-2).

2.3.3 Primary outcome (injury incidence)

Forty one studies compared injury incidence rates between rural and urban children. For effect measures, 32 out of 41 studies used unadjusted RRs, and the other studies reported adjusted RRs,^{33,37,50} adjusted ORs,^{21,23,25,39} or standardized mortality ratios (SMRs).^{4,30} Studies¹⁹⁻²⁵ using survey methodology investigated

only one category of injury, while studies with administrative data reported on one or several causes of injury within a single study.

Overall injury

Twelve studies reported rates of overall injury (any cause/intent) varying in severity from any injury needing medical attention to fatal injury. Six studies^{4,19,20,24,27,38} using national-level data consistently demonstrated higher risk of overall injury for rural children in comparison to urban children ranging from RR (rural vs. urban) = 1.04 to 3.53, whereas five studies^{31,32,44,47,50} with state or province level data presented variations in terms of effect size/direction ranging from RR=0.54 to 2.20 (Figure 2-2). One study¹⁸ conducted in Ohio reported that rural children (mostly Caucasian) experienced higher rates of fatal injury than urban Caucasian children, but lower than urban non-Caucasian children (mostly African American). Two studies examined traumatic brain injury. Reid et al.⁵⁴ reported higher risk of fatality for rural children (RR=2.37), and Gabella et al.¹⁷ also found higher incidence rates for rural children in all ages groups and both genders, with the exception of the young boys' group (<5 years).

Injury by intent

Unintentional injury: Two studies ^{26,46} addressed unintentional injury demonstrating consistently higher injury rates for rural to urban children ranging from RR=1.30 to 1.45.

Intentional injury: Eleven studies 4,21,29,35,44,46,48-50,52,58 reported on intentional

injury and the main results are illustrated by subgroup (Figure 2-3). As with overall intentional injury, Hammig and Weatherly⁴⁶ described lower risk of injury for rural children (RR=0.5). For suicides/self-harm, four studies ^{4,31,46,50} consistently demonstrated higher rates for rural children with RR ranging from 1.22 to 2.70. Thomson³⁵ reported a higher suicide rate (RR=1.86) for rural boys to urban ones but no differences among girls. Regarding homicides/assaults, there was inconsistency in results among six studies ^{29,31,44,46,48,50} ranging from RR=0.05 to 1.81. Child abuse was reported in three studies^{49,50,52} with inconsistency in results ranging from RR=0.56 to 1.82. Schnitzer et al.⁴⁹ also presented conflicting results of non-fatal child abuse by data source in the study with lower risk for rural children (RR=0.56) from medical data as well as inverse results (RR=1.49) from family services data. For fight-related injuries, one study²¹ reported a lower rate of injury for rural children with an adjusted OR of 0.78.

Injury by cause

Motor vehicle crash (MVC) injury: Injuries from traffic collisions were examined in 13 studies, ^{4,5,28,30,31,33,34,36,41,43,44,46,50} all of which were based on administrative health records with severe injuries (deaths or hospitalizations). All studies on overall MVC injuries or ones as occupants/passengers/pedal cyclists consistently demonstrated higher risk of injury for rural than urban children. Relative risks (rural to urban) of overall MVC injuries, ones as occupants, as passengers, and as pedal cyclists ranged from 1.40 to 2.75,^{4,5,31,46} from 1.20 to 5.40,^{5,33,41,44,46,50} 1.97,⁴³ and from 1.06 to 2.30,^{34,46} respectively (Figure 2-4). In addition to results in Figure 2-4, for overall MVC injury, standardized mortality ratios (SMRs) were reported at greater than 100 for rural children (137.62 in rural vs. 73.87 in urban children).³⁰ Also, for pediatric occupant injury,³⁶ the same direction of effect but an extreme effect size for males (RR=11.58) were reported. On the other hand, for MVC injuries as pedestrians, there was inconsistency in the direction of effects across three studies (two studies ^{46,50} in Figure 4, and one study²⁸ reported RR of 1.0 to 1.5 by age subgroup). Oliver and Kohen⁵ reported RR of 0.90 for MVC injuries as pedestrian- and cyclist-related combined.

Firearm-related injury: Seven studies (eight reports) in the U.S. ^{37,42,45,50,51,53,57} using administrative health databases reported on firearm-related injuries with severe outcomes (deaths or hospitalizations) (Figure 2-5). Overall, for firearm-related injuries, contrary results were found across three studies.^{37,42,55} Homicides using firearms were examined in five studies^{37,42,45,55,57} showing consistently lower rates for rural children with RR ranging from 0.02 to 0.42. As for unintentional firearm-related injuries, despite inconsistency in results among six studies, four^{37,45,53,55} out of six studies^{37,42,45,51,53,55} presented higher risk for rural children. For suicides, there was conflicting results from four studies.^{37,42,45,50}

Other cause of injury: Nine studies reported on several other causes of injury (Figure 2-6). Drowning,^{46,50} burns,⁵⁰ falls,^{31,50} poisoning,^{34,50} and bicycle-related injury^{34,50} were described with higher risk for rural children, while risk of falls

from windows⁴⁰ was lower for rural children than urban children, although these are based on just one or two studies for each cause of injury. There were contrary results regarding work-related injury ^{22,25} and sports-related injury,^{23,56} and no risk differences for suffocation were found from one study.⁴⁶

2.3.4 Secondary outcomes (length of hospital stay, hospital costs, etc.)

Three studies^{19,38,39} investigated secondary outcomes of injury. Two national surveys in the U.S. reported that health care costs for any injuries per injured child were higher for rural children compared to urban ones: for total cost \$1200 for metropolitan children vs. \$1800 for non-metropolitan children¹⁹; \$608 for urban children vs. \$661 for rural children in terms of emergency department expenditures.³⁸ Yang et al.³⁹ examined secondary outcomes for sports injury, reporting 46.1% higher hospital charges per discharge, and 5.61% longer LOS in urban hospitals than rural ones.

2.3.5 Effect of other factors on injury differences

Severity of injury: Eleven studies reported multiple data for the same outcome by severity of injury within a study (Table 2-1). Six^{19,20,22,33,36,54} out of eight studies^{19,20,22,26,31,33,36,54} that reported higher risk of injury for rural children consistently demonstrated increased RRs for more severe injuries and deaths. Three studies^{23,44,57} reporting lower risk for rural children showed inconsistency in results in terms of effects of severity on injury disparity.

Age of participants: Eight studies ^{4,17,27,28,32,41,53,55} presented age-specific injury rates. Effect of age subgroups on RRs between urban and rural children were not consistent across other variables within a study or across studies for overall injury and MVC injury, but one study⁵⁵ presented a positive linear relationship between age and RR (rural to urban) of firearm-related deaths (Table 2-1).

Sex of participants: Seven studies ^{17,18,33,36,47,55} reported sex-specific injury rates. Sex effects on RRs were not consistent across age groups within a study or across studies for any injury.^{4,17,18,47} However, relative risks (rural to urban) were higher for males than females in three^{33,36,47} out of four studies^{4,33,36,47} on MVC injury and in one study on firearm-related injury⁵⁵ (Table 2-1).

Urban/rural categorization: Fifteen studies^{4,17,20,21,23,25-27,29,34,37,38,42-44} provided rural-urban category-specific injury rates for more than 2 urban-rural categories (Table 2-1). All except two studies ^{23,29} demonstrated that rural-urban disparity was generally or consistently intensified when comparing more extreme rural and urban areas. For example, if RR of rural to urban children was larger than 1 (higher risk for rural children), the RR increased as the urban group was compared with a more distant rural group and vice versa.

2.4 Discussion

2.4.1 Summary of evidence

Injury is a major public health issue for paediatric populations.^{1,2} This systematic

review summarizes the available evidence regarding differences in risks of injury between rural and urban children in a qualitative fashion. A total of 41 population-based cross-sectional studies conducted in Canada and the U.S. were included for the review. Overall, our results show that rural children are at higher risk of overall injury, MVC injury, and suicide, whereas urban children in the U.S. experience higher rates of homicide from firearms. Rural-urban disparities for injury tend to be intensified with injury severity (for injuries that rural children are at higher risk for) as well as when comparing more extreme rural and urban region. Health care costs per child for overall injuries are higher for rural children. For other categories of injury, there was a lack of consistency in the results or an insufficient number of studies to review.

2.4.2 Interpretation

Higher risk of overall injury for rural children can be explained in multiple aspects. First, it may be attributed to the greater distribution of populations at high risk of injury (e.g., farm children ^{59,60} or Aboriginal children)⁶¹ and hazardous environmental conditions related with farming, mining, fishing, and forestry⁶² in rural vs. urban areas. Secondly, the disparity is more likely affected by apparent higher rates of MVC injury for rural children, which can be linked to several factors including higher driving speed in rural areas,⁶³ more frequent alcohol use,⁶⁴ lower restraint usage rates for rural children,⁶⁵ and delayed access to pediatric trauma care in rural areas.^{66,67} Thirdly, the rural-urban injury disparity may be influenced by potential confounding factors including socio-economic status and the medical environment that were not controlled for in most of the

included studies. Lower income and education level of rural people^{10,12,68} as risk factors of injury³² may cause overestimation of relative risks of injury for rural vs. urban children. Poorer access to health service in rural areas^{10,12} may confound the injury disparity in several ways: a possibility of underestimating minor injuries in heath databases⁶⁹ potentially due to distances required to receive care, an underestimation of hospitalized injuries because of greater pre-hospital deaths^{66,67} and transfers to urban hospitals,⁷⁰ and increased case fatality due to delay in medical care.⁷¹

As for other injuries, studies were consistent in reporting higher risk of unintentional injury, traumatic brain injury, drowning, falls, and bicycle-related injuries as well as those involving motor vehicle crashes for rural children, although these were examined by only two studies for each injury. Regarding firearm-related injury, there were different patterns by intent of injury: higher rates of firearm homicides for urban children vs. a tendency of higher rates of unintentional injuries for rural children, which is consistent with findings from previous studies that were conducted for all ages.^{72,73} One thing to be advised of is that all of seven studies of firearm-related injury were conducted in U.S. populations. Results on firearm-related injuries and intentional injuries in the U.S. may not be generalized to Canadian populations when reflecting on differences in firearm control regulations between the two countries. Interpretation of child abuse injury findings requires caution due to potential under-ascertainment of cases in hospital/ED discharge data⁴⁹ as well as limited search of social care databases in this review. Longer LOS and higher hospital charge of urban

hospitals for sport-related injury may partly be attributed by transfers of rural patients with severe injuries to urban hospitals.⁷⁰

2.4.3 Investigation of heterogeneity

To investigate heterogeneity, effects of some factors on rural-urban differences of injury were examined. First, rural-urban injury disparity tended to increase for more severe injuries, in cases of there being higher risk of injury for rural to urban children. This trend can be explained by more severe injuries for rural children,⁷⁴ greater possibility of under-reporting of rural minor injuries,⁶⁹ and higher death rates due to delay in medical care.⁷¹ Underestimation of rural minor injuries may be more notable in the U.S. where rural people have lower coverage of health insurance unlike Canada's universal coverage.¹²

Secondly, greater rural-urban injury disparities were likely to be found between more extreme rural and urban areas indicating a linear relationship between levels of rurality and injury rates. Thirdly, national-level data were more consistent across studies in general, while state or province-level data showed wider variations in effect size/direction as shown in figures. This implies more stability of national-level data as well as the need to consider local-level data when prevention strategies target local regions. Lastly, the effects of age and sex on rural-urban injury differences were not consistent across studies except effects of sex on MVC injury (i.e., greater RRs for males than females) and combined effects on firearm injury (i.e., greater RRs for older males). Although injury death rates for children have declined since the late 1970s,¹⁵ whether the declines were comparable between rural and urban children over time was difficult to examine.
2.4.4 Strengths and limitations

This systematic review was methodologically rigorous with a protocol and contained a comprehensive search strategy to discover the body of evidence of this topic. This review covers every cause/intent of injury outcome, providing a full-spectrum of injury disparity patterns between rural and urban children. We included only population-based studies that provided injury rates so that the results from this review may be generalizable to paediatric populations in Canada or the United States.

There are some methodological limitations of the primary studies included. The risk of bias of primary studies may limit the validity of the results as the majority of the studies applied descriptive rather than analytical statistics by calculating injury rates without controlling for potential confounders. Descriptive statistics may be meaningful to show the real trends of incidence, however, they may not be sufficient to examine the effect of residential area on injury incidence due to potential confounding. In addition, some studies on non-fatal injuries made unit-of-analysis errors⁷⁵ in calculation of injury rates by not adequately considering multiple injury events for an individual (i.e., not using person-time at risk as a denominator). Although this can result in miscalculation of injury rates, it does not affect relative risk due to a 'nullifying' of denominators in calculations.

There was substantial heterogeneity among the included studies that originated from the clinical diversity (e.g., cause/intent of injury, severity of injury, and characteristics of participants including age, race, and study setting) as well as from methodological variations (e.g., study design, data sources,

urban/rural classification/definition, and statistical methods). The large heterogeneity precluded a statistical pooling of effect estimates and hindered valid comparisons of results across the studies.

Most of the included studies classified rural-urban status by residential area, but several studies on MVC injuries and firearm injuries classified by a place of injury occurrence. Findings about MVC injury and firearm injury may be biased as we combined studies that applied the different rural-urban classification methods. However, this bias may not be significant as prior studies reported that place of fatal crash primarily matches with driver's residential areas⁷⁶ and that for the majority of firearm deaths they occurred within a county of residence.³⁷

Although the Newcastle-Ottawa quality assessment scale is recommended for a systematic review for non-randomized studies,^{75,77,78} reliability or validity of the tool was not provided. Further, we had to modify this scale without verification due to inapplicability to injury studies. A quality assessment tool considering unique characteristics of injury outcome should be developed in future studies. Even though this review was comprehensive, publication bias and selection bias (e.g., not including publications in French language) may be possible.

2.4.5 Implications for research and practice

To be more rigorous for future systematic reviews, primary studies on this topic are recommended to use a standard rural-urban definition to reduce heterogeneity among studies, to report injury rates with proper denominators, to perform analytical statistics controlling for potential confounders and offering SE of

measure of comparison for meta-analysis, and to provide data with basic figures of variable-adjusted as well as variable-specific injury rates (e.g., injury rates for age subgroups).

More efforts should be made to reduce the greater burden of overall injury for rural children, especially, of severe injury for children in remote rural areas. Interventions to reduce the higher risk of MVC injury for rural children, especially males are in need through increased use of child restraints, intensified driver-safety regulations, and education. The clear pattern of higher suicide rates for rural children is alarming, and identification of risk factors focusing on this suicide disparity is required in future studies. Stricter firearm controls may help to decrease firearm-related injury for paediatric populations, in particular, older paediatric males in the urban U.S.. Finally, more studies are needed for a clear understanding of geographical disparity on minor injuries such as burns, drowning, and poisoning and other health-related outcomes (e.g., disability) that are likely to show rural-urban injury differences.

2.5 Conclusions

There were rural-urban differences demonstrated in rates and patterns of injury in children based on 41 studies having a moderate risk of bias. Rural children sustain a higher rate of overall injury, particularly from MVC and suicide, while urban children in the U.S. suffer from a higher rate of firearm-related homicides. Greater injury disparities tend to be found between more extreme rural and urban regions. In particular, children in remote rural areas are at increased risk of severe injuries

than urban counterparts, possibly due to more hazardous environment, lower SES, and delayed access to paediatric trauma care in remote rural areas. These findings indicate the need for developing preventive strategies specific to each setting. Design changes in primary studies could also increase the possible utility of future systematic reviews. Future research is required to investigate rural-urban disparity for less-studied injuries and related health outcomes as well as temporal trends of identified disparities.

References

- 1. Statistics Canada. Leading causes of death and hospitalization in canada. . ;2012(02/22).
- National Center for Health Statistics. Health, united states, 2010: With special feature on death and dying. 2011;Library of Congress Catalog Number 76–641496.
- 3. WHO U. World report on child injury prevention. http://whqlibdoc.who.int.login.ezproxy.library.ualberta.ca/publications/2008/978 9241563574_eng.pdf. Updated 2008.
- 4. CIHI (Canadian Institute for Health Information). How healthy are rural canadians? an assessment of their health status and health determinants. . 2006.
- Oliver L, Kohen D. Neighbourhood income gradients in hospitalisations due to motor vehicle traffic incidents among canadian children. Inj Prev. 2009;15(3):163-169.
- 6. Stewart Fahs PS, Smith BE, Serdar Atav A, et al. Integrative research review of risk behaviors among adolescents in rural, suburban, and urban areas. Journal of Adolescent Health. 1999;24(4):230-243.
- 7. United North America. Comparisons between canada and the united states of america. http://www.unitednorthamerica.org/simdiff.htm. Accessed 02/22, 2012.
- 8. Statistics Canada. Canada's rural population since 1851: Population and dwelling counts, 2011 census. . 2012;Catalogue no. 98-310-X2011003.

- 9. U.S. Department of Transportation. U.S. population living in urban vs. rural areas.http://www.fhwa.dot.gov/planning/census_issues/metropolitan_planning/c ps2k.cfm. Accessed 12, 2011.
- Ministerial Advisory Council on Rural Health. Rural health in rural hands: Strategic directions for rural, remote, northern and aboriginal communities. . 2002.
- 11. Lubowski RN, Vesterby M, Bucholtz S, Baez A, Roberts MJ. Major uses of land in the united states, 2002. 2006;Economic Information Bulletin No. (EIB-14).
- 12. Eberhardt MS, Ingram DD, Makuc DM, et al. Urban and rural health chartbook. health, united states, 2001. 2001.
- 13. Boychu GW. National health insurance in the united states and canada: Race, territory, and the roots of differenc. Washington DC: Georgetown University Press; 2008.
- Hackam DJ, Mazzioti MV, Pearl RH, Mazziotti GM, Winthrop AL, Langer JC. Mechanisms of pediatric trauma deaths in canada and the united states: The role of firearms. J Trauma. 2004;56(6):1286-1290.
- 15. Grossman DC. The history of injury control and the epidemiology of child and adolescent injuries. Future Child. 2000;10(1):23-52.
- 16. Wells G, Shea B, O'connell D, et al. The newcastle-ottawa scale (NOS) for assessing the quality of nonrandomised studies in meta-analyses.
- 17. Gabella B, Hoffman RE, Marine WW, Stallones L. Urban and rural traumatic brain injuries in colorado. Ann Epidemiol. 1997;7(3):207-212.
- Hopkins RS, Writer JV, Mortensen BK, Indian RW. Childhood injury mortality in ohio, 1979 to 1986. setting priorities for prevention. Am J Dis Child. 1990;144(1):79-82.
- 19. Danseco ER, Miller TR, Spicer RS. Incidence and costs of 1987-1994 childhood injuries: Demographic breakdowns. Pediatrics. 2000;105(2):e27.
- Jiang X, Li D, Boyce W, Pickett W. Variations in injury among canadian adolescents by urban-rural geographic status. Chronic Dis Can. 2007;28(1-2):56-62.
- Lowry R, Powell KE, Kann L, Collins JL, Kolbe LJ. Weapon-carrying, physical fighting, and fight-related injury among U.S. adolescents. Am J Prev Med. 1998;14(2):122-129.

- Parker DL, Carl WR, French LR, Martin FB. Nature and incidence of self-reported adolescent work injury in minnesota. Am J Ind Med. 1994;26(4):529-541.
- 23. Rose MS, Emery CA, Meeuwisse WH. Sociodemographic predictors of sport injury in adolescents. Med Sci Sports Exerc. 2008;40(3):444-450.
- 24. Wilder, CS., National Center for Heafth Statistics, Health characteristics by geographic region large metropolitan areas and other places of residence, united states 1980-81. Vital and Health Statistics. 1984;Series 10(146).
- 25. Zierold KM, Garman S, Anderson H. Summer work and injury among middle school students, aged 10-14 years. Occup Environ Med. 2004;61(6):518-522.
- 26. Gagné, M., Hamel, D. Deprivation and unintentional injury hospitalization in quebec children. Chronic Diseases in Canada. 2009;29(2).
- 27. Coben JH, Tiesman HM, Bossarte RM, Furbee PM. Rural-urban differences in injury hospitalizations in the U.S., 2004. Am J Prev Med. 2009;36(1):49-55.
- 28. Mueller BA, Rivara FP, Bergman AB. Urban-rural location and the risk of dying in a pedestrian-vehicle collision. J Trauma. 1988;28(1):91-94.
- Riddick L, Brissie RM, Embry JH, et al. Homicide in alabama: An analysis of urban, suburban and rural murders in the deep south. Forensic Sci Int. 1989;40(2):105-122.
- 30. Wright JS, Champagne F, Dever GEA, Clark FC. A comparative analysis of rural and urban mortality in georgia, 1979. Am J Prev Med. 1985;1(1):22-29.
- 31. Brownell M, Friesen D, Mayer T. Childhood injury rates in manitoba: Socioeconomic influences. Can J Public Health. 2002;93(Suppl 2:S50-6):Noe-6.
- 32. Gilbride SJ, Wild C, Wilson DR, Svenson LW, Spady DW. Socio-economic status and types of childhood injury in alberta: A population based study. BMC Pediatr. 2006;6:30.
- Kmet L, Macarthur C. Urban-rural differences in motor vehicle crash fatality and hospitalization rates among children and youth. Accid Anal Prev. 2006;38(1):122-127.
- 34. Macpherson AK, To TM, Parkin PC, et al. Urban/rural variation in children's bicycle-related injuries. Accid Anal Prev. 2004;36(4):649-654.

- 35. Thompson TR. Childhood and adolescent suicide in manitoba: A demographic study. Can J Psychiatry. 1987;32(4):264-269.
- Thouez JP, Joly MF, Rannou A, Bussiere Y, Bourbeau R. Geographical variations of motor-vehicle injuries in quebec, 1983-1988. Soc Sci Med. 1991;33(4):415-421.
- 37. Nance ML, Carr BG, Kallan MJ, Branas CC, Wiebe DJ. Variation in pediatric and adolescent firearm mortality rates in rural and urban US counties. Pediatrics. 2010;125(6):1112-1118.
- Owens PL, Zodet MW, Berdahl T, Dougherty D, McCormick MC, Simpson LA. Annual report on health care for children and youth in the united states: Focus on injury-related emergency department utilization and expenditures. Ambulatory Pediatrics. 2008;8(4):219-240.e17.
- 39. Yang J, Peek-Asa C, Allareddy V, Phillips G, Zhang Y, Cheng G. Patient and hospital characteristics associated with length of stay and hospital charges for pediatric sports-related injury hospitalizations in the united states, 2000-2003. Pediatrics. 2007;119(4):e813-20.
- 40. Stone KE, Lanphear BP, Pomerantz WJ, Khoury J. Childhood injuries and deaths due to falls from windows. J Urban Health. 2000;77(1):26-33.
- 41. Niemcryk SJ, Kaufmann CR, Brawley M, Yount SI. Motor vehicle crashes, restraint use, and severity of injury in children in nevada. Am J Prev Med. 1997;13(2):109-114.
- 42. Nance ML, Denysenko L, Durbin DR, Branas CC, Stafford PW, Schwab CW. The rural-urban continuum: Variability in statewide serious firearm injuries in children and adolescents. Arch Pediatr Adolesc Med. 2002;156(8):781-785.
- 43. King WD, Nichols MH, Hardwick WE, Palmisano PA. Urban/rural differences in child passenger deaths. Pediatr Emerg Care. 1994;10(1):34-36.
- 44. Lapidus G, Lerer T, Zavoski R, Banco L. Childhood injury in connecticut. Conn Med. 1998;62(6):323-331.
- 45. Patterson PJ, Holguin AH. Firearm-related deaths among children in texas: 1984-1988. Tex Med. 1990;86(7):92-97.
- 46. Hammig B, Weatherly J. Gender and geographic differences in intentional and unintentional injury mortality among children in illinois, 1988-1998. Inj Control Saf Promot. 2003;10(4):247-250.

- 47. Hwang HC, Stallones L, Keefe TJ. Childhood injury deaths: Rural and urban differences, colorado 1980-8. Inj Prev. 1997;3(1):35-37.
- 48. Coyne-Beasley T, Schoenbach VJ, Herman-Giddens ME. The epidemiology of adolescent homicide in north carolina from 1990 to 1995. Arch Pediatr Adolesc Med. 1999;153(4):349-356.
- 49. Schnitzer PG, Slusher P, Van Tuinen M. Child maltreatment in missouri combining data for public health surveillance. Am J Prev Med. 2004;27(5):379-384.
- Svenson JE, Spurlock C, Nypaver M. Factors associated with the higher traumatic death rate among rural children. Ann Emerg Med. 1996;27(5):625-632.
- 51. Harruff RC. So-called accidental firearm fatalities in children and teenagers in tennessee, 1961-1988. Am J Forensic Med Pathol. 1992;13(4):290-298.
- 52. Jason J, Andereck ND. Fatal child abuse in georgia: The epidemiology of severe physical child abuse. Child Abuse Negl. 1983;7(1):1-9.
- 53. Keck NJ, Istre GR, Coury DL, Jordan F, Eaton AP. Characteristics of fatal gunshot wounds in the home in oklahoma: 1982-1983. Am J Dis Child. 1988;142(6):623-626.
- Reid SR, Roesler JS, Gaichas AM, Tsai AK. The epidemiology of pediatric traumatic brain injury in minnesota. Arch Pediatr Adolesc Med. 2001;155(7):784-789.
- 55. Svenson J, Spurlock C, Nypaver M. Pediatric firearm-related fatalities not just an urban problem. Arch Pediatr Adolesc Med. 1996;150(6):583-587.
- 56. Yang J, Phillips G, Xiang H, Allareddy V, Heiden E, Peek-Asa C. Hospitalisations for sport-related concussions in US children aged 5 to 18 years during 2000-2004. Br J Sports Med. 2008;42(8):664-669.
- Zavoski RW, Lapidus GD, Lerer TJ, Banco LI. A population-based study of severe firearm injury among children and youth. Pediatrics. 1995;96(2):278-282.
- 58. Brownell MD, Derksen SA, Jutte DP, Roos NP, Ekuma O, Yallop L. Socio-economic inequities in children's injury rates: Has the gradient changed over time? Can J Public Health. 2010;101(S3):S28-S31.

- 59. Miller ME, Kaufman JD. Occupational injuries among adolescents in washington state, 1988-1991. Am J Ind Med. 1998;34(2):121-132.
- 60. Canadian Agricultural Injury Reporting (CAIR). Fatal and hospitalized agricultural injuries among children and youth in canada. http://cair-sbac.ca/childrep.html. Updated 2007.
- 61. Alaghehbandan R, Sikdar KC, MacDonald D, Collins KD, Rossignol AM. Unintentional injuries among children and adolescents in aboriginal and non-aboriginal communities, newfoundland and labrador, canada. Int J Circumpolar Health. 2010;69(1):61-71.
- 62. Sharpe A, Hardt J. Five deaths a day: Workplace fatalities in canada,1993-2005. . 2006;CSLS Research Paper 2006-04.
- 63. Mitchell-Taverner, P., Zipparo, L. Survey on speeding and enforcement. www.infrastructure.gov.au/roads/safety/publications/.../Speed_Risk_4.pdf. Updated 2003April 2011.
- 64. Muelleman RL, Mueller K. Fatal motor vehicle crashes: Variations of crash characteristics within rural regions of different population densities. J Trauma. 1996;41(2):315-320.
- 65. Agran PF, Anderson CL, Winn DG. Factors associated with restraint use of children in fatal crashes. Pediatrics. 1998;102(3):E39.
- 66. Esposito TJ, Maier RV, Rivara FP, et al. The impact of variation in trauma care times: Urban versus rural. Prehospital Disaster Med. 1995;10(3):161-166.
- McCowan CL, Swanson ER, Thomas F, Handrahan DL. Outcomes of pediatric trauma patients transported from rural and urban scenes. Air Med J. 2008;27(2):78-83.
- Singh V, Statistics Canada. Rural income disparities in canada: A comparison across the provinces. http://www.statcan.gc.ca/bsolc/olc-cel/olc-cel?lang=eng&catno=21-006-X2001 007. Updated 2002. Accessed 7, 3.
- 69. Potter B, Manuel D, Speechley K, Gutmanis I, Campbell M, Koval J. Is there value in using physician billing claims along with other administrative health care data to document the burden of adolescent injury? an exploratory investigation with comparison to self-reports in ontario, canada. Bmc Health Services Research. 2005;5:15.

- Culica D, Aday LA. Factors associated with hospital mortality in traumatic injuries: Incentive for trauma care integration. Public Health. 2008;122(3):285-296.
- 71. Rogers FB, Shackford SR, Hoyt DB, et al. Trauma deaths in a mature urban vs rural trauma system. A comparison. Arch Surg. 1997;132(4):376-381.
- 72. Dresang LT. Gun deaths in rural and urban settings: Recommendations for prevention. J Am Board Fam Pract. 2001;14(2):107-115.
- 73. Wadman MC, Lander L, Kitamura B, Muelleman RL. Urban versus rural firearm injury pyramids: Using ecodes to compare the burden of injury. Inj. Prev. 2010;16:A66.
- 74. Mihalicz D, Phillips L, Bratu I. Urban vs rural pediatric trauma in alberta: Where can we focus on prevention?. J Pediatr Surg. 2010;45(5):908-911.
- 75. Higgins J, Green S. Cochrane handbook for systematic reviews of interventions. London: Wiley; 2008.
- 76. Blatt J, Furman SM. Residence location of drivers involved in fatal crashes. Accid Anal Prev. 1998;30(6):705-711.
- 77. Deeks JJ, Dinnes J, D'Amico R, et al. Evaluating non-randomised intervention studies. Health Technol Assess. 2003;7(27):iii-x, 1-173.
- 78. Sanderson S, Tatt ID, Higgins JP. Tools for assessing quality and susceptibility to bias in observational studies in epidemiology: A systematic review and annotated bibliography. Int J Epidemiol. 2007;36(3):666-676.

Study	Setting	Populations	Comparison	Outcomes	Results
Study ID, design	Location, period, data sources	Age, sample size, compositions	Urban/rural definition, classification	Category of injury, severity	Measure of difference (RR or ORs or SMRs)
Brownell, 2002 ³¹ Administrative data	Canada (Manitoba) 1994-1997, 1994/95-1998/99 (Province wide) Vital statistics(1994-1997), hospital discharge data (1994/95-1998/99)	<20 312 fatal injuries, 12,100 Hospitalizations * Winnipeg (metro): 51% of paediatric population	(2 categories) 1) Winnipeg (metropolitan), 2) Non-Winnipeg (non-metro) * By residence area	Any injury (unintentional + intentional) * Deaths, Hospitalizations	Rate Ratio (Non-metro vs. metro) * Hospitalizations: 2.43 * Death: 2.20 (Falls 2.18, motor vehicle 2.75, violence by self 2.70, violence by others 1.46, other injury 2.62)
CIHI, 2006 ⁴ Administrative data	Canada 1986-1996 (Nationwide) Canadian Mortality database	<20 Sample size: not found * Urban (CMA/CA): 78.5% of population of all ages	(5 categories) 1) Urban(CMA/CA), 2) Rural (4 subcategories of MIZ: Strong, moderate, weak, no MiZ) * By residence area	Any injury (unintentional + intentional) * Deaths	Standardized Mortality ratio * Overall injuries (ref: urban (CMA/CA) - 0-4yrs: strong MIZ 1.40, moderate MIZ 2.23, weak MIZ 2.55, no MIZ 4.24 - 5-19yrs: strong MIZ 1.66, moderate MIZ 2.01, weak MIZ 2.55, no MIZ 3.53 * Motor vehicle crashes (no MIZ vs. urban): 0-4yrs 3.22, 5-19yrs 2.93 * Suicide (no MIZ vs. urban): 5-19yrs 4.75 * See the article for RRs of overall injury, motor vehicle, and suicide by sex
Coben, 2009 ²⁷ Administrative data	The U.S. 2004 Nationwide Inpatient Sample (NIS)- discharge data of 20% hospitals of all the U.S. hospitals	<15 * Males: 50% of cases * Large urban: 51%, small rural: 9% of cases	(4 categories) 1) large urban: UIC code 1, 2) small urban: UIC code 2, 3) large rural: UIC code 3-6, 4) small rural: UIC code 7-9 * UICs: urban influence codes * By residence area	Any injury (unintentional + intentional) *Hospitalizations	Rate Ratio (ref: large urban) * 0-4yrs : small urban 1.05, large rural 1.17, small rural 1.11) * 5-14yrs : small urban 0.96, large rural 1.16, small rural 1.25
Coyne 1999 ⁴⁸ Administrative data	The U.S. (North Carolina) 1990-1995 (State wide) Medical Examiner database	11-18 419 victims * Males: 51% of population, 79% of victims * Urban:65% of population, 72% of victims	(2 categories) 1) Urban : Metropolitan statistical area (>50,000) 2) Rural: non-MSA * By county of residence	Homicide * Deaths	Rate Ratio (rural vs. urban): 0.72

Table 2-1. Characteristics of the included studies

Study	Setting	Populations	Comparison	Outcomes	Results
Study ID, design	Location, period, data sources	Age, sample size, compositions	Urban/rural definition, classification	Category of injury, severity	Measure of difference (RR or ORs or SMRs)
Danseco, 2000 ¹⁹ Survey	The U.S. 1987-1994 National Health Interview Survey (NHIS)	<22 3,073 injuries (3,058 children) * Males: 61%, metropolitan : 75%, white: 85% of all injuries, respectively	(2 categories) 1) Metropolitan: MSA-central city and MSA-non-central city 2) Non-metropolitan: non-MSA-non-farm and non-MSA-farm * By residence area	Any injury (unintentional + intentional) * Deaths * Non-fatal injury: medically attended or temporarily disabling	Rate Ratio (non-metro vs. metro) - Non-fatal: 1.25 - Fatal: 1.32 * Costs per child : metropolitan \$1200 , non-metropolitan \$1800
Gabella, 1997 ¹⁷ Administrative data	The U.S. (Colorado) 1991-1992 (State wide) Hospital discharge data , death certificate data	<20 6,368 cases for all age groups including adults * Males: 67% of injures for all ages * CMSA: 54%, rural, remote: 3% of injuries for all ages	(4 categories) 1) CMSA : >1 million 2) Other metro (=MSA) : >100,000 or contain a place with >50,000 3) Rural, non-remote : adjacent to an MSA or 2,500 4) Rural, remote * By county of residence	Traumatic brain injury * Hospitalizations or deaths	Rate Ratio (rural remote vs. CMSA) - Male: 0-4 (0.18), 5-14(2.16), 15-19(1.38) - Female: 0-4 (1.11), 5-14(1.22), 15-19(2.02) * presented with graphs: see the article for rates by regional category
Gagne, 2009 ²⁶ Administrative data	Canada (Quebec) 2000-2004 (Province wide) Hospital data system	<15 24,540 injuries * Males: 64% of all injuries * CMSA of Mon.: 40% , small towns & rural area: 27% of injuries	(4 categories) 1) CMA of Montreal, 2) Other metropolitan (>100,000), 3) Agglomerations (10,000 to 100,000), 4) Small towns and rural area (<10,000) * By residence area	Any injury (unintentional) * Any hospitalizations * Severe cases: hospitalizations (≥3 days), admission to the intensive care unit, or death	Rate Ratio (ref : CMA(Montreal)) * Any injury: other metropolitan 1.20, agglomerations 1.51, small towns & rural 1.36 * Severe injury: other metropolitan 1.04, agglomerations 1.22, small towns & rural 1.45
Gilbride, 2006 ³² Administrative data	Canada (Alberta) 1995/96 (State wide) Health databases (physicians, emergency, hospitals)	<18 182,759 children * Males: 49% of participants, 56% of injuries * Urban: 73% of participants, 74% of injuries	 (2 categories) 1) Rural: second character of a postal code is "0" 2) Urban: others * By residence area 	Any injury (unintentional + intentional) * Injury seen by a physician	Rate Ratio (rural vs. urban) * Total (0-17): 0.94 * By age group: 1-4(0.98), 5-9(0.91), 10-14(0.91), 15-17(1.0)

Study	Setting	Populations	Comparison	Outcomes	Results
Study ID, design	Location, period, data sources	Age, sample size, compositions	Urban/rural definition, classification	Category of injury, severity	Measure of difference (RR or ORs or SMRs)
Hammig, 2003 ⁴⁶ Administrative data	The U.S. (Illinois) 1988-1998 (State wide) Compressed Mortality File (CMF) of CDC	1-14 3,481 fatal injuries * Males: 64% of all deaths * Urban: 81% of all deaths	(2 categories) 1) Non-metropolitan: <50,000 * By county of residence	Any injury (unintentional + intentional) * Deaths	Rate ratio (rural vs. urban) * All unintentional : 1.3 - Motor vehicle: 1.4 (Occupant:1.2, Pedestrian: 0.7, Pedal cyclist: 2.3, Others 3.0); Drowning :1.4 ; Suffocation: 1.0, Fire: 1.0; All others: 2.3; * All intentional 0.5 (Homicide 0.4, Suicide 2.0)
Harruff 1992 ⁵¹ Administrative data	The U.S. (Tennessee) 1961-1988 (State wide) Medical examiner reports	<20, 225 fatal injuries * White boys:58%, black boys: 25%, white girls: 11%, black girls: 5% of all deaths	 (2 categories) 1) Urban counties : >100,000, 2) Rural counties: the others * By county of residence 	Firearm (Unintentional) * Deaths	Rate Ratio (rural vs. urban): 0.53
Hopkins, 1990 ¹⁸ Administrative data	The U.S. (Ohio) 1979-1986 (State wide) Death database	1-16 4,212 fatal injuries * Metro: 61% of study population (white 80%, non-white 20%) * Non-metro: 39% of study pop. (white: > 96%)	(2 categories) 1) Metropolitan counties : >50,000 persons, 2) Nonmetropolitan: the others * By county of residence	Any injury (unintentional + intentional) * Deaths	Rate ratio (ref: metro white) -Boys: Non-metro 1.21, metro non-white 1.45 - Girls: Non-metro 1.30, metro non-white 1.77) * 96% of metro: white * presented with graphs
Hwang, 1997 ⁴⁷ Administrative data	The U.S. (Colorado) 1980-1988 (State wide) Death certificate	<15, white 1,010 fatal injuries * MSA: 72% of study population, 71% of all injuries	(2 categories) 1) MSA (Metropolitan statistical areas), 2) Non-MSA * By county of residence	Any injury (unintentional + intentional) * Deaths	Rate Ratio (Non-metro vs. metro): 1.05 * Motor vehicle injuries -Boys: 0-4 yrs 2.4, 5-9yrs 2.7, 10-14yrs 2.0 - Girls: 0-4 yrs 1.6, 5-9yrs 2.1, 10-14yrs 1.9 * Other unintentional injuries -Boys: 0-4 yrs 1.7, 5-9yrs 3.0, 10-14yrs 1.7 - Girls: 0-4 yrs 1.7, 5-9yrs 0.3, 10-14yrs 0.6
Jason 1983 ⁵² Administrative data	The U.S. (Georgia) 1975-1979 (State wide) Data from Georgia	<18 48 fatal injuries * Males: 63% of cases	(2 categories) urban, rural * By residence area	Child abuse (intentional) * Deaths	Rate ratio (rural vs. urban): 0.75

	department of Protective Services				
Table 2-1. Co	ontinued				
Study Study ID, design	Setting Location, period, data sources	Populations Age, sample size, compositions	Comparison Urban/rural definition, classification	Outcomes Category of injury, severity	Results Measure of difference (RR or ORs or SMRs)
Jiang, 2007 ²⁰ Survey	Canada 2002 (Nationwide) Health Behaviour in School-Aged Children (HBSC) Survey	11-15 7,235 adolescents (from 171 schools) * Males: 46% of participants * Large metro 15%, rural 22% of participants	(5 categories) * Beale urban-rural coding system: 1) large metro : >1 million, 2) medium metro : <100,000, 3) small metro : <250,000, 4) non-metro-adjacent : share a boundary with areas of >50,000, 5) rural : <50,000 * By location of a school	Any injury (unintentional + intentional) * Non-fatal injury : treated by a doctor or nurse * Serious injury: hospital admission or missing school or operation	Rate Ratio (ref: large metro) * Medically treated injuries (any injury) : medium metro 1.15, small metro 1.19, non-metro-adjacent 1.17, rural 1.13 * Serious injury: medium metro 1.24, small metro 1.43, non-metro-adjacent 1.29, rural 1.29
Keck 1988 ⁵³ Administrative data	The U.S. (Oklahoma) 1982-1983 (State wide) Medical examiner records	<20 32 fatal injuries * Males: 85% of deaths * Rural: 85% of deaths	(2 categories) 1) Urban: >75,000, 2) Rural: <75,000 * By county of residence	Firearm (Unintentional) *Deaths	Rate Ratio (rural vs. urban) by age group: 0-19 (3.8), 5-9 (2.4), 10-14 (1.4)
King, 1994 ⁴³ Administrative data	The U.S. (Alabama) 1978-1989 (State wide) Death certificate data	<5 Sample size: not reported Composition: not provided	* 2 categories - Rural county : <50,000 * 4 categories: urban, suburban, rural manufacturing, rural agriculture * By county of residence	Motor vehicle traffic injury (as passenger) * Deaths	Rate ratio * Using 2 categories (rural vs. urban): 1.97 * Using 4 categories (ref: urban): suburban 1.32, rural manufacturing 2.01, rural agriculture 2.12
Kmet, 2006 ³³ Administrative data	Canada (Alberta) 1997-2002 (Province wide) Alberta Collision Information System	<20 383 fatal injuries, 3,367 hospitalizations * In Rural area: 70% of all crashes hospitalizations, 81% of all crash deaths	(2 categories) 1) Urban (2 health regions with densities of 160 persons/km2), 2) Rural (the remaining 15 health regions with densities of < 11 persons/km2) * By crash location	Motor vehicle traffic injury (occupants) * Deaths, Hospitalizations	Adjusted Relative Risk (rural vs. urban) * Hospitalizations: 3.0 (95% Cl:2.8, 3.2) * Deaths: 5.4 (95% Cl: 4.2, 6.9) - Boys: 0-14yrs 0.15, 15-19yrs 0.23 - Girls: 0-14yrs 0.14, 15-19yrs 0.14

Study	Setting	Populations	Comparison	Outcomes	Results
Study ID, design	Location, period, data sources	Age, sample size, compositions	Urban/rural definition, classification	Category of injury, severity	Measure of difference (RR or ORs or SMRs)
Lapidus, 1998 ⁴⁴ Administrative data	The U.S. (Connecticut) 1988-1995, 1990-1944 (State wide) Vital statistics (1988-1995), hospital discharge data (1990-1994)	<20 1,403 fatal injuries, 21,148 non-fatal hospitalizations * Town size of >25,000: 62% of paediatric population	(4 categories) by town size 1) >100,000; 2) 50,000-100,000; 3) 25,000-50,000; 4) <25,000 * By residence area	Any injury (unintentional + intentional) * Deaths, non-fatal hospitalizations	Rate Ratio (ref: group 1 (metro)) * Overall non-fatal hospitalization: G2: 0.50, G3: 0.47, G4=rural: 0.54 * Overall deaths: G2: 0.62, G3: 0.57, G4= rural 0.54 * Homicide: G2: 0.17, G3:0.12, G4= rural 0.05 * Motor vehicle occupants deaths: G2: 1.06, G3: 1.15, G4= rural 1.82
Lowry 1998 ²¹ Survey	The U.S. 1992/93 National survey (NHIS) - Youth Risk Behaviour Survey (YRBS)	12-21 10,269 adolescents * Males: 50% of participants * Urban 31%, suburban 45%, rural 24% of participants	 (3 categories) 1) Urban: inside a central city within a MSA, 2) Suburban: a central city, but within a MSA, 3) Rural: outside an MSA * By residence area 	Fight-related injury (intentional) * Non-fatal	Adjusted Odds ratio (ref: urban): suburban 0.94 , rural 0.78
Macpherson 2004 ³⁴ Administrative data	Canada 1994-1998 (Nationwide) hospital discharge records (from CIHI)	5-19 9,367 children injured * Urban 44% , mixed rural/urban 35%, rural 21% of children injured	(4 categories) : urban, mixed urban, mixed rural, rural (by population density) * By residence area	Bicycle-related injury * Hospitalizations (including hospital deaths)	Rate Ratio (ref: urban) * All bicycle injury: mixed urban 1.19, mixed rural 1.34, rural 1.47 * Bicycle-related injury involving motor vehicle collision: mixed urban 1.10, mixed rural 1.10, rural 1.06
Mueller, 1988 ²⁸ Administrative data	The U.S. (Washington State) 1981-1983 (State wide) Department of transportation records, Death certificate data	<19 * 293 fatalities for all ages including adults * Urban children: 88% of pedestrian-vehicle collisions	(2 categories) 1) Urban: ≥2,500 populations, 2) Rural: the others	Motor vehicle traffic injury (as pedestrians) * Deaths	* Rate Ratio (rural vs. urban): <5 yrs 1.4, 5-9 yrs 1.0, 10-14yrs 1.5

Study	Setting	Populations	Comparison	Outcomes	Results
Study ID, design	Location, period, data sources	Age, sample size, compositions	Urban/rural definition, classification	Category of injury, severity	Measure of difference (RR or ORs or SMRs)
Nance 2010 ³⁷ Administrative data	The U.S. 1999-2006 (Nationwide) Vital statistics	<20 23,649 fatal injuries Composition: not provided	 (10 categories) : RUC codes (9categories) + central counties (≥1 million populations) * By county of injury occurrence 	Firearm (unintentional + intentional) * Deaths	Adjusted Rate Ratio (the most rural vs. the most urban) * Total firearm deaths: 0.91(0.63-1.32) * Firearm unintentional: 2.19 (1.27-3.77) * Firearm suicide: 2.01 (1.43-2.83) * Firearm homicide: 0.27 (0.5-0.15) * See the article for rates by regional category
Nance 2002 ⁴² Administrative data	The U.S. (Pennsylvania) 1987-2000 (State wide) Trauma registry	<20 3,781 children injured * Male: 88-92% of all victims * Urban:77%, non-metro:22% of all victims	(4 categories) 1) Urban: 2 urban counties from code 0, 2) Suburban: remaining code 0 counties, 3) Metro: code 1-3, 4) Non-metro: code 4-9 * Based on modified Rural-urban continuum (RUC) codes (10 category) by county * By county of injury occurrence	Firearm (unintentional + intentional) * Hospitalizations (≥3 days) or deaths or transfer	Rate Ratio (ref: urban) * Total firearm injury: suburban 0.1, metro 0.08, non-metro 0.09 * Firearm-unintentional: suburban 0.39, metro 0.38, non-metro 0.72 * Firearm-assault: suburban 0.06, metro 0.05, non-metro 0.02 * Firearm-suicide: suburban 0.4, metro 0.45, non-metro 0.6
Niemcryk, 1997 ⁴¹ Administrative data	The U.S. (Nevada) 1989-1992 (State wide) Nevada State Trauma registry	<15 860 injuries * Urban: 84% of paediatric population, 64% of all injuries	(2 categories) 1) Urban (Clark, Carson city, Washoe counties), 2) Rural (other counties) * By crash location	Motor vehicle traffic injury (driver and passenger) * Deaths or hospitalizations	Rate Ratio (rural vs. urban): 2.94 (0-4 yrs: 3.15, 5-14 yrs: 2.83)

Study	Setting	Populations	Comparison	Outcomes	Results
Study ID,	Location, period, data	Age, sample size,	Urban/rural definition,	Category of injury,	Measure of difference
design	sources	compositions	classification	severity	(RR or ORs or SMRs)
Oliver, 2009 ⁵ Administrative data	Canada 2001/2-2004/5 National Hospital discharge records with valid person identifier (HPOI)	<20 11,676 cases * Males: 62% of injuries * Urban: 66% of injuries	(2 categories) 1) Urban: CMAs and CAs, 2) Rural: others * CMAs: a total population of at least 100,000 of which 50,000 or more must live in the urban core *CAs: have an urban core of ≥ 10,000 * By residence area	Motor vehicle traffic injury (as occupants + as pedestrians/cyclists) * Hospitalizations	Rate ratio (rural vs. urban) * Motor vehicle traffic incident - as occupants, pedestrians/cyclists: 1.95 - as occupants: 2.44 - as pedestrians/cyclists: 0.90
Owens, 2008 ³⁸ Administrative data	The U.S. 2003 (Nationwide) 1) HCUP: ED visit records (15 states), 2) MEPS (national survey-36 states)	<18 1.46 million injuries * Males: 59% of injuries * Large metro: 35%, non-metro: 11% of injuries	(4 categories): 1) aggregate grouping of the urban influence code (UICs): Large metropolitan, Small metro., Micropolitan, nonmetro. & non-micropolitan 2) MEPS data : 2 categories (MSA, non-MSA) * By county of residence	Any injury (unintentional + intentional) * ED visits	* Rate Ratio (ref large metro): Small metro 1.18, Micropolilan 1.38, nonmetropolitan + non-micropolitan 1.47 * ED expenditures per child: urban \$608, rural \$661 (MEPS data)
Parker 1994 ²² Survey	The U.S. (Minnesota) 1991 (State wide) School Survey (39 schools)	15-17 3,051 students * Males: 51% of populations * Urban:58% of populations	 (2 categories) 1) Urban: schools with an average of 5% (range 1-13%) farm residents, 2) Rural: school with an average of 39 percent (range 19-67%) farm residents * By school classification according to the percentage of farm students 	Injury from work * Any injury seeking medical care or restricted activity ≥ 1 day * Reportable injury: loss of normal activity >3 days and/or permanent problem	Rate ratio (rural vs. urban) * Any injury: 0.87 * Reportable injury: 1.21

Study	Setting	Populations	Comparison	Outcomes	Results
Study ID, design	Location, period, data sources	Age, sample size, compositions	Urban/rural definition, classification	Category of injury, severity	Measure of difference (RR or ORs or SMRs)
Patterson 1990 ⁴⁵ Administrative data	The U.S. (Texas) 1984-1988 (State wide) Death certificate data	<15 337 fatal injuries Composition: not provided	 (3 categories) 1) Urban 1 : Level A MSA (MSAs having a population of ≥1,000,000) 2) Urban 2: MSA 3) Rural: non-MSA * By county of residence 	Firearm (unintentional + intentional) *Deaths	Rate Ratio (non-MSA vs. level A MSA): - Unintentional deaths: 2.89 - Homicide: 0.42 - Suicide: 0.56 * Rate or RR for three R/U categories: not provided
Reid, 2001 ⁵⁴ Administrative data	The U.S. (Minnesota) 1993 (State wide) Hospital discharge data, death certificate data	<20 977 children injured * Metropolitan: 64.5% of populations	(2 categories)1) Metropolitan2) Non-metropolitan* By county of residence	Traumatic brain injury * Hospitalizations or deaths	Rate Ratio (non-metro vs. metro): * Incidence: 1.05 * Mortality: 2.37
Riddick 1989 ²⁹ Administrative data	The U.S. (Alabama) July 1980-June 1982 (State wide) Records of homicide investigated by the Alabama Department of Forensic Science	<15 41 fatal injuries * Urban 44%, rural 46% of victims	(3 categories) 1) Urban: SMSA with a central city of 50,000 or more, 2) Suburban: SMSA without a central study, 3) Rural: others * By county of residence	Homicide * Deaths	Rate Ratio (ref: urban): suburban 0.38 , rural 1.04
Rose 2008 ²³ Survey	Canada (Calgary and surrounding area) 2004 School survey (24 high schools)	14-19 2,721 students * Males: 52% of participant* Urban city: 46% of participants	(4 categories) 1) Urban city: Calgary, 2) Other town: >1000, 3) Rural farm 4) Rural: others * By residence area	 * Sports injuries * Non-fatal injury 1. Any injury answered 2. Injury treated by a medical person 	Adjusted OR (ref: urban (Calgary)) * Any sports injury: other town 0.76, rural 0.91, rural (farm) 0.98 * Medically treated sports injury: other town 0.78, rural 0.8, rural (farm) 1.08

Study	Setting	Populations	Comparison	Outcomes	Results
Study ID,	Location, period, data	Age, sample size,	Urban/rural definition,	Category of injury,	Measure of difference
design	sources	compositions	classification	severity	(RR or ORs or SMRs)
Schnitzer	US (Missouri)	<10 5 657 cases	(2 categories): urban, rural * By county of residence	Child abuse	Rate ratio (rural vs. urban)
Administrative	(State wide)	* Males: 49% of	by county of residence	* Non-fatal	*1.30 (from reports + medical linked data) * 1.49 (from reports (DES)): 0.56 (from
data	1) child abuse reports from	cases			medical data)
	Division of Family Services	cases			
	(DFS), 2) hospital discharges. ED visits data				
	(PAS)				
Stone 2000 ⁴⁰	The U.S. (Hamilton county,	<15	(2 categories)	Falls from window	Rate ratio (rural vs. urban):
data	1991-1997	* Males: 64% of	of Cincinnati, 2) Nonurban:	* Fatal + nonfatal	0.24
	Cincinnati Children's	cases	remaining Hamilton County	injury (ED visits or	
	Center (CHMC) Trauma	* Urban: 74% of cases	area * By residence area	nospitalizations)	
	Registry (ED, hospital)		,		
Svenson,	The U.S. (Kentucky)	<18	(2 categories)	Any injury	Adjusted Rate Ratio (rural vs. urban):
Administrative	1988-1992 (State wide) Vital Statistics	1,024 fatal iniuries	1) Rural: most of rural counties are located in the	(unintentional + intentional)	All trauma 1.93; MVA as occupant 2.39;
data	(State wide) vital Statistics	*Males: 66% of	Appalachian region or have	* Deaths	MVA as pedestrian 1.56; Bicycle 2.11; Burns
		traumatic deaths	population of <10,000 2)		2.02; Poisoning 1.49; Drowning 1.62; Falls
		Kentucky	* By county of residence		1.73; Unintentional firearm-related 4.81;
		population			Abuse 1.82; Suicide 1.22; Homicide 1.81
		* Urban children: 45% of deaths			
(report 2)	1988-1993		The same as above	Firearm injury	Eirearm overall1 26: homicide 0 88: suicide
sevenson		<20	The same as above	* Deaths	1.28; unintentional 2.01
1996 ⁵⁵			(2	Cutatala	* See the article for rates by age and sex
I hompson 1987 ³⁵	Canada (Manitoba) 1971-1982	<21, Caucasian 115 fatal iniuries	(2 categories): urban, rural * By residence area	Suicide	Rate Ratio (rural vs. urban)
Administrative	(State wide) Autopsy files	* Males: 88% of	,	Deduis	- 15-17 yrs males: 1.86 - 15-17 yrs female: 1.0
data	of chief coroner	deaths			* Data of <15 yrs was not provided due to
					insufficient number of cases

Study	Setting	Populations	Comparison	Outcomes	Results
Study ID,	Location, period, data	Age, sample size,	Urban/rural definition,	Category of injury,	Measure of difference
design	sources	compositions	classification	severity	(RR or ORs or SMRs)
Thouez, 1991 ³⁶ Administrative data	Canada(Quebec) 1983-1988 (Province wide) RAAQ (Quebec automobile related database)	<15 2,361 non-severe injuries, 271 severe injuries * Urban: 80% of non-severe injuries, 67% of severe injuries	(2 categories) 1) Urban (>1000 and >400 persons/km2), 2) Rural (others) * By crash location	Motor vehicle traffic injury (driver and passenger) * Non-severe injury, severe injury (hospitalizations)	Rate Ratio (rural vs. urban) * non-severe: male 1.19, female 1.05 * severe injuries: male 11.58, female 1.83 - Boys: non severe 1.19, severe 11.58 - Girls: non severe 1.05, severe 1.83
Wilder, 1984 ²⁴ Survey	The U.S. 1980-1981 National Health Interview Survey (NHIS)	<17 78,000 households surveyed for the survey of all ages * SMSA: 67% of all participants	(2 categories) Metro = SMSA (Standard metropolitan statistical areas) * By residence area	Any injury (unintentional + intentional) Requiring medical attention or restricted activity ≥ 1 day	Rate Ratio (Non-metro vs. metro): 1.04
Wright, 1985 ³⁰ Administrative data	The U.S. (Georgia) 1979 (State wide) Deaths database	<15, white 111 fatal injuries * Urban: 44% of all deaths	(2 categories) 1) Urban: SMSA, 2) Rural: non-SMSA * By county of residence	Motor vehicle traffic injury * Deaths	Standardized mortality ratios (SMRs) with the state of Georgia as standard: Rural 137.62 (p<0.05), Urban 73.87(<0.01)
Yang, 2007 ³⁹ Administrative data	The U.S. 2000-2003 Nationwide Inpatient sample (NIS) of HCUP project	5-18 7,979 injuries * Males: 87% of sports injuries * Urban hospitals: 87% of sports injuries	(2 categories) 1) MSA (Metropolitan statistical areas), 2) Non-MSA * By location of hospitals	Sports injuries * Hospitalizations (excluding inpatient deaths)	 * Hospital charges per discharge: urban hospitals - 46.1% higher than rural hospitals. * LOS from sports-related injuries: urban hospitals - 5.61% longer
(report2) Ynag 2008 ⁵⁶	2000-2004	Age: the same as above	The same as above	Sport-related concussions * Hospitalizations	* Adjusted Odds ratio (rural vs. urban): 1.75 (95% Cl:1.11 to 2.77)

Study Study ID, design	Setting Location, period, data sources	Populations Age, sample size, compositions	Comparison Urban/rural definition, classification	Outcomes Category of injury, severity	Results Measure of difference (RR or ORs or SMRs)
Zavoski 1995 ⁵⁷ Administrative data	The U.S. (Connecticut) 1998-1992, 1986-1990 1) Death certificate data (1988-1992), 2)hospital discharge data (1986-1990)	<20 219 deaths, 533 hospitalizations * Males: 91% of deaths, 93% of hospitalizations * Urban: 78% of all deaths, 76% of hosp.	 (2 categories) 1) Urban: Connecticut's five largest urban centers (≥100,000) 2) Nonurban: others * By residence area 	Firearm (unintentional + intentional) * Deaths, hospitalizations	Rate Ratio (rural vs. urban) * Homicides by firearm: 0.11 * Hospitalizations for assaults: 0.11
Zierold 2004 ²⁵ Survey	The U.S. (Wisconsin) 2001 School survey (Five state- representative school districts, one large urban school in Wisconsin)	10-14 5,464 adolescents(3,189 injured) * Large city 8%, medium city 70%, rural 11% of the injured	(4 categories): Large city, medium city, small town, rural * By location of a school	Injury during summer work * Non-fatal	Adjusted OR (ref: large city): medium city 0.55, small town 0.58, rural 0.51

Table 2-2. Methodological quality of included studies using the modified NOS

< Surveys>

		Selection		Comparability	Outcome	
Study	Representativene ss of the exposed	Selection of the non-expo sed	Ascertainment of exposure	Comparability of cohorts	Outcome assessment	Overall NOS score*
Wilder 1984 ²⁴	Representative *	Same commu.*	Secure record *	No	Self report	3/6
Danseco 2000 ¹⁹	Representative *	Same commu.*	Secure record *	No	Self report	3/6
Jiang 2007 ²⁰	Representative *	Same commu.*	Secure record *	No	Self report	3/6
Lowry 1998 ²¹	Representative *	Same commu.*	Secure record *	Adjusting for age, gender, race, physical fighting, weapon-carrying **	Self report	5/6
Parker 1994 ²²	Representative *	Same commu.*	Secure record *	No	Self report	3/6
Rose 2008 ²³	Representative *	Same commu.*	Secure record *	Adjusting for age, gender, ethnicity, parent's education, sport exposure, BMI **	Self report	5/6
Zierold 2004 ²⁵	Representative *	Same commu.*	Secure record *	Adjusting for age, gender, race, hours worked, training, etc**	Self report	5/6

Table 2-2. Methodological quality of included studies using the modified NOS (continued)

	S	Selection		Comparabilit y	Outcome	<u> </u>	
Study	Representativene ss of the exposed	Selectio n of the non-exp osed	Ascertainme nt of exposure	Comparabilit y of cohorts	Outcome assessme nt	- Overal l NOS score*	
Brownell, 2002^{31}	Representative *	Same commu.*	Secure record *	Age, sex standardization*	Record*	5/6	
CIHI, 2006 ⁴	Representative *	Same commu.*	Secure record *	Age*	Record*	5/6	
Coben 2009 ²⁷	Representative *	Same commu.*	Secure record *	No	Record*	4/6	
Coyne 1999 ⁴⁸	Representative *	Same commu.*	Secure record *	No	Record*	4/6	
Gabella 1997 ¹⁷	Representative *	Same commu.*	Secure record *	No	Record*	4/6	
Gagne 2009 ²⁶	Representative *	Same commu.*	Secure record *	Adjusted for age and sex*	Record*	5/6	
Gilbride 2006 ³²	Representative *	Same commu.*	Secure record *	No	Record*	4/6	
Hammig 2003 ⁴⁶	Representative *	Same commu.*	Secure record *	No	Record*	4/6	
Harruff 1992 ⁵¹	Representative *	Same commu.*	Secure record *	No	Record*	4/6	
Hopkins,1990	Representative *	Same commu.*	Secure record *	No	Record*	4/6	
Hwang, 1997 ⁴⁷	Representative *	Same commu.*	Secure record *	No	Record*	4/6	
Jason 1983 ⁵²	Representative *	Same commu.*	Secure record *	No	Record*	4/6	
Keck 198853	Representative *	Same commu.*	Secure record *	No	Record*	4/6	
King 199443	Representative *	Same commu.*	Secure record *	No	Record*	4/6	
Kmet, 2006 ³³	Representative *	Same commu.*	Secure record *	Adjusting for age, sex, calendar	Record*	5/6	
Lapidus, 1998 ⁴⁴	Representative *	Same commu.*	Secure record *	No	Record*	4/6	
Macpherson 2004 ³⁴	Representative *	Same commu.*	Secure record *	No	Record*	4/6	
Mueller 1988 ²⁸	Representative *	Same commu.*	Secure record *	No	Record*	4/6	

< Studies with administrative health databases>

Table 2-2. Methodological quality of included studies using the	modified NOS
(continued)	

		Selection		Comparability	Outcome	
Study	Representativenes s of the exposed	Selection of the non-expo sed	Ascertainment of exposure	Comparability of cohorts	Outcome assessment	Overall NOS score*
Nance 2002 ⁴²	Representative *	Same commu.*	Secure record *	No	Record*	4/6
Nance 2010 ³⁷	Representative *	Same commu.*	Secure record *	Adjusting for various social, demographic,	Record*	6/6
Niemcry k, 1997 ⁴¹	Representative *	Same commu.*	Secure record *	No	Record*	4/6
Oliver 2009 ⁵	Representative *	Same commu.*	Secure record *	No	Record*	4/6
Owens 2008 ³⁸	Representative *	Same commu.*	Secure record *	No	Record*	4/6
Patterson 1990 ⁴⁵	Representative *	Same commu.*	Secure record *	No	Record*	4/6
Reid 2001 ⁵⁴	Representative *	Same commu.*	Secure record *	No	Record*	4/6
Riddick 1989 ²⁹	Representative *	Same commu.*	Secure record *	No	Record*	4/6
Schnitze r 2004 ⁴⁹	Representative *	Same commu.*	Secure record *	No	Record*	4/6
Stone 2000 ⁴⁰	Representative *	Same commu.*	Secure record *	No	Record*	4/6
Svenso n, 1996 ⁵⁰	Representative *	Same commu.*	Secure record *	Adjusting for age, sex, 911 service, etc. **	Record*	6/6
Thompson 1987 ³⁵	Representative *	Same commu.*	Secure record *	No	Record*	4/6
Thouez, 1991 ³⁶	Representative *	Same commu.*	Secure record *	Age standardization*	Record*	5/6
Yang, 2007 ³⁹	Representative *	Same commu.*	Secure record *	Adjusting for age, sex, income, etc**	Record*	6/6
Wright 1985 ³⁰	Representative *	Same commu.*	Secure record *	Age*	Record*	5/6
Zavoski 1995 ⁵⁷	Representative *	Same commu.*	Secure record *	No	Record*	4/6

* The NOS score was calculated by awarding a maximum of two stars for an item of comparability and one star each for other items. Scores are summed and range from zero to six stars.

Figure 2-1. Flow of study retrieval and selection



CA =Canada; US = the United States; MB=Manitoba; AB =Alberta; CO=Colorado; CT=Connecticut; KY=Kentucky

Study		Rate Ratio (Ru	ıral vs. Urban)
Overall Intentional			
Hammig 2003 (US, IL)	0.50		
Suicides/Self-harm			
Brownell 2002 (CA, MB)	2.70		
CIHI 2006 (CA)	4.75		1
Hammig 2003 (US, IL)	2.00		1
Svenson 1996 (US, KY)	1.22		1
Homicides/Assaults			
Brownell 2002 (CA, MB)	1.46		•
Coyne 1999 (US, NC)	0.72		
Hammig 2003 (US, IL)	0.40		
Lapidus 1998 (US, CU)	0.05	1	
Riddick 1989 (US, AL)	1.04		•
Svenson 1996 (US, KY)	1.81		1
Child Abuss			
lacon 1983 (IIS 68)	0.75		
Cohnitror 2004 (IIS MI)	0.75		
Summer 1005 (US KY)	1.00		
Svenson 1996 (03, MT)	1.82		'
Fight-related			
Lowry 1998 (US)	0.78	1	
	0.02	0.1	
	High	ner injury in urban	Higher injury in rural

Figure 2-3. Rate ratios of intentional injury for rural children to urban children

US=the United States; IL= III inois; CA=Canada; MB=Manitoba; KY=Kentucky; NC=North California; CO= Connecticut; AL=Alabama; GA=Georgia; MO=Missouri

Study	Rate	Ratio (Ru	ıral vs. Urbar	ı)
Overall Motor Vehicle				
Brownell 2002 (CA, MB)	2.75		I I I	
CIHI 2006 (CA)	2.93		1 I I	
Hammig 2003 (US, IL)	1.40		1	
Oliver 2009 (CA)	1.95		1	
As Occupants	1 20			
Hammig 2003 (05, IL)	5.40		'	
Kmet 2006 (GA, AB)	1.90			·
Lapidus 1998 (US, CT)	2.04		l ' .	
Niemcryk 1997 (03, NV)	2.94		l .'	
Oliver 2009 (CA)	2.44			
Svenson 1996 (US, KT)	2.39		'	
As Passengers				
King 1994 (US, AL)	1.97		1	
An Dadal Cualista				
Hommin 2002 (IIS II.)	2.20			
Maanbaraan 2004 (CA)	2.30			
Wacpherson 2004 (GR)	1.00		ľ	
As Pedestrians				
Hammig 2003 (US, IL)	0.70	- E		
Svenson 1996 (US, KY)	1.56		1	
	0.1 0.2	0.5	1 2	5 10
	Higher injur	y in urban	Higher injury i	in rural

Figure 2-4. Rate ratios of motorvehicle crash-related injury for rural children to urban children

CA, Canada; MB, Manitoba; US, The united states; IL, Illinois; AB, Alberta; CT, Connecticut; NV, Nevada; KY, Kentucky; AL, Alabama

Study		Rate Ratio (Rural ∨s. Urban)
Overall Firearm		
Nance 2002 (US, PA)	0.09	E
Nance 201C (US)	0.91	
Svenson 1996 (US, KY)	1.26	
Unintentional		
Harruff 1992 (US, TN)	0.53	1
Keck 1988 (US, OK)	3.80	
Nance 2002 (US, PA)	0.72	1
Nance 201C (US)	2.19	1.1
Patterson 1990 (US, TX)	2.89	1 I
Svenson 1996 (US, KY)	2.01	
Homicides/Assaults		
Nance 2002 (US, PA)	0.02	1
Nance 2010 (US)	0.27	1
Patterson 1990 (US, TX)	0.42	1
Svenson 1996 (US, KY)	0.11	1
Zavoski 1995 (US, CT)	0.88	1
Suicides/Suicide Attem	ots	
Nance 2002 (US, PA)	0.60	1
Nance 201C (US)	2.01	1
Patterson 1990 (US, TX)	0.56	1
Svenson 1996 (US, KY)	1.28	105
	0.0	1 0.1 1 10 100

Figure 2-5. Rate ratios of firearm-related injury for rural children to urban children

US=The united states; PA=Pennsylvania; KY=Kentucky; TN=Tennessee; OK=Oklahoma; TX=Texas; CT=Connecticut

Study	Rate Ratio (Rural vs. Urban)
Drowning Hammig 2003 (US, IL) Svenson 1996 (US, KY)	1.40 I 1.62 I
Burns Hammig 2003 (US, IL) Svenson 1996 (US, KY)	1.00 2.02
Falls Brownell 2002 (CA, MB) Svenson 1996 (US, KY)	2.18 1.73
Poisonings Svenson 1996 (US, KY)	1.49
Bicycle-related Macpherson 2004 (CA) Svenson 1996 (US, KY)	1.47 2.11
Work-related Parker 1994 (US, MN) Zierold 2011 (US, WI)	1.21 0.50 I
Sport-related Rose 2008 (CA, AB) Yang 2008(Concussions) (U	0.88 I 0.1.75 I
Falls from Window Stone 2000 (CA, OH)	0.24
Suffocation Hammig 200? (US, IL)	1.00
	0.1 0.2 0.5 1 2 5 10 Higher injury in urban Higher injury in rural

Figure 2-6. Rate ratios of other cause of injury for rural children to urban children

US=The united states; IL=IIIinois; KY=Kentucky; CA=Canada; MB=Manitoba; MN=Minnesota; WI=Wisconsin; AB=Alberta; OH=Ohio

Chapter 3. Differences in incidence of all-cause injury between farm, rural, and urban children in Alberta

3.1 Introduction

Injury is known as a major cause of death in children in Canada.¹ A wide range of socio-economic, cultural, physical environment factors and living conditions that children are exposed to can play a significant role in determining their health including the incidence of injury.^{2,3} It is assumed that farm children suffer from high rates of injury due to complex environmental hazards related to both farms and life in rural areas. Firstly, agriculture is one of the most dangerous occupational sectors in Canada,^{1,4} and farm children are often exposed to agricultural hazards in their daily life either by working on farms^{5,6} or by living on farms, which have resulted in high paediatric agricultural injury rates.⁷⁻¹¹ Secondly, farm children are also exposed to health-related rural conditions including exposures to diverse dangerous primary industries,^{4,12} risky rural driving/road conditions,¹³⁻¹⁵) poorer access to health services,^{12,16} and lower socio-economic status.^{17,18} Prior studies have reported that rural children were at a higher risk of overall injury^{19,20}, motor vehicle injury^{19,21,22}, and suicide^{19,21} than urban children in Canada. A systematic review on pediatric injuries in Canada and the United States²³ reported that children living in more remote rural areas are likely to be at a higher risk of overall injury, especially of severe injury, than their urban counterparts.

Despite of the likelihood of high risk of injury for farm children, the

comparative approach to examine the relative risks of overall injury for farm children compared with ones for other pediatric groups have rarely been examined in previous research. Most studies involving farm children as participants have addressed only agricultural injury. More precisely, there have been a substantial number of studies on farm-related injuries among all children in a general population^{7,9,24-26}, a few surveys on all agricultural injury occurred on farms,^{27,30} and some studies on occupational injury for young workers in agriculture in comparison with those in other industries.^{11,31} These prior studies have applied an agricultural injury-focused approach rather than farm children-oriented one. To our knowledge, an examination of the risk of all-cause injury including both agricultural and non-agricultural injuries for farm children has not been conducted in North America. Another shortfall in the literature is a paucity of injury rate comparisons between farm and other or general paediatric populations.

A substantial number of studies examined differences in injury rates between rural and urban children.^{19,32-37} However, comparisons of overall injury incidence between heterogeneous rural paediatric groups, particularly, between farm and non-farm children have not been performed in North America. Rose (2008)³⁸ conducted a survey to compare the injury experience for children living in urban city, town, rural areas, and farms, but this study examined only sports-related injury for adolescents.

In Alberta, there was a unique opportunity to set up farm population list in 1998, from which an Alberta farm children list can be derived. In the present study, the farm children list was linked to multiple administrative health databases so that all injury records for identified farm children could be tracked from 1999 to 2010.

The aim of this study was to examine risk and patterns of all-cause incident injury for farm children compared to non-farm children (rural, urban children) under 18 years of age in Alberta using the linkage of multiple administrative databases. Comprehensive understanding of the relative burden and patterns of injury for farm and non-farm children would contribute to the development of appropriate injury prevention initiatives and safety standards for farm and other groups of children.

3.2 Materials and methods

3.2.1 Study Design

A population-based retrospective cohort study with a closed population was conducted to examine incidence of injury for pediatric subjects using the linkage of the multiple administrative databases from January 1, 1999 to December 31, 2010. All subjects that met the inclusion criteria in the fiscal year of 1998 were selected and followed up until they became 18 years of age within the study period.+

3.2.2 Study participants

In 2006, Alberta's population consisted of an 82.1% urban and 17.9% rural

populations where a quarter of those located rurally are farm families.³⁹ Alberta farms accounted for 31.2% of all farms in Canada, and main farming practices were cattle (beef) ranching and grain/oilseed farming in 2006.⁴⁰ The study population consisted of farm and three groups of non-farm children under 18 years of age (rural-non-First Nations (FN) children, rural-FN children, urban children) who lived in Alberta in the fiscal year of 1998/99 and were not lost to follow up before the start of the study period (January 1, 1999). As a closed population, there was no new entry into the study population after the initial selection of subjects. Subjects left the study due to death, migration or by becoming 18 years of age.

Farm children were identified from the all-ages Alberta farm population list that captured virtually all farm residents in Alberta. The all-ages farm population list was set up by probabilistically linking the Farm Fuel Tax subsidy list in 1998 and Health Care Insurance Plan Registry file in the same year to identify farm families. Two groups of non-farm children (rural and urban children) were extracted from two representative samples of all-ages non-farm rural and urban population that were randomly selected from the Alberta Health Care Insurance Plan registry with the equivalent sample size to the farm population, respectively. Rural children were classified into FN and non-FN based on the Alberta health insurance premium status. Classification of rural or urban residence of subjects was based on their postal code in 1998 from the registry file: a postal code with a "0" as the second character denotes a rural area where there are no letter carriers and residents go to the corner postal box or the post office to pick up their mail.⁴¹

3.2.3 Data Sources

Injury data for 12 calendar years (1999 to 2010) were derived from four administrative health databases that are maintained by Alberta Health, Government of Alberta. The Alberta Health databases capture information on medical services of all individuals in Alberta eligible for Alberta Health care coverage. Alberta has a social health care system where all medically necessary services are universally provided according to the Canada Health Act.⁴² Four heath databases included Alberta Vital Statistics File, Hospital Discharge Abstract Database, the Ambulatory Care Classification System, and Physician Claim File that contain data for mortality, hospital admissions, emergency department (ED) visits, and physician visits, respectively. The Physician Claim File consisted of services performed in a physician office, in hospital, in the ED, or diagnostic & therapeutic centers.

Demographic information of subjects (age, sex, 3 digits of postal code, migration, health zone, and Alberta health insurance premium status) was obtained from the Health Care Insurance Plan Registry file. The insurance premium status was used as a proxy measure of socioeconomic status (SES) and categorized into high SES (i.e., no subsidy group) and low SES (i.e., FN treaty-status Aboriginals, full premium subsidy, and partial premium subsidy groups) in this study. All the health databases and the Health Care Insurance Plan Registry file were deterministically linked using scrambled personal health number (PHN) and merged into a single file arranging all injury records and demographic information by each study subject.

3.2.4 Injury identification

Injury data were medical records that contained the following International Classification of Disease (ICD) diagnostic codes or external causes of injury codes (E-codes) for "injury and poisoning" in any of diagnostic fields, including early complication or sequelae of trauma but excluding complications of medical and surgical care and misadventures;

a. Diagnostic codes: 800-995 except 909(.3, .5) (ICD-9) or SOO-T98 except T80-T88 (ICD-10)

b. E-codes: E800-E869, E880-E929, E950-E999 (ICD-9) or V01-Y36, Y85-Y87, Y89 (ICD-10)

The body site, nature, mechanisms, and intent of injury were classified into subcategories based on categorization tables for ICD diagnostic codes or external causes of injury codes (E-codes) for ICD 9th and ICD 10th revision coding system, respectively. The categorization tables followed previously published frameworks or matrices including the Barell Injury Diagnosis Matrix, Injury Mortality Diagnosis Matrix, and ICD-10 and ICD-9 comparability table for mechanism and intent codes.⁴³⁻⁴⁵ The categorization table also covered the injury data that were coded with ICD 9th revision Clinical Modification (ICD-9-CM) and ICD 10th revision Canada (ICD-10-CA) system, because sufficiently broad subcategories (8 body sites, 16 nature, 5 types of intents, and 19 mechanisms) were used to reduce the possibility of diagnostic categorization error occurrences due to different ICD versions.

3.2.5 Injury episode

One injury event may result in multiple services. As a unit of injury case, an episode of injury was created by integrating all the related medical records for the same injury event into one injury episode across the four combined databases. To construct the injury episode, all injury data from multiple sources were merged together and sorted by subject's identification (ID) and medical service date. Beginning with the first injury record for each child, the immediate next injury record for the same child was determined whether the record is a follow-up visit of the previous record or another new injury episode for the child with the criteria. The criteria were built from a detailed data examination and modification of the criteria used in previous publications, ⁴⁶⁻⁴⁸ while trying to be conservative in determining a record as a follow-up visit not to lose any incident case. An additional three years of injury records prior to 1999 were used to eliminate any incident injuries that occurred before 1999 and were treated resultantly after 1999.

To be determined as a follow-up visit of the previous injury record, the injury record should meet at least one of the following criteria compared with the previous injury record: the injury record (1) had ICD codes for sequelae or late effect of injury; (2) appeared on the same day; (3) occurred within 7 days in the same category of body region <u>or</u> the nature of injury; (4) occurred within 180 days in the same category of both body region <u>and</u> nature of injury; or (5) occurred within 180 days with the exactly same diagnostic codes in all ten ICD diagnostic fields compared with the previous injury record. Episode identification for fatal cases was manually conducted, as the Vital Statistics database contains only a
single E-code without any supporting diagnostic codes.

For each injury episode, only the record at the highest level of care was extracted and used in the analysis while serving a role as a proxy of severity of an injury episode. If there were multiple records at the same highest level of care (e.g., two hospitalization records for a child), the earlier record was chosen. A single episode of injury might contain multiple E-codes for mechanisms (e.g., fall and burn). An episode with multiple E-codes was counted once for the calculation of overall injury rate, but counted multiple times in respective E-code categories for the generation of cause-specific injury rates.

A child may experience multiple episodes of injury during the study period. To consider this, a time to multiple injury episodes model was used in all analysis, where all injury episodes of interest for a subject were taken into account, and time at risk of an injury episode for the subject continued after an injury episode until the true end of follow-up of the child.

3.2.6 Statistical analysis

Descriptive analysis for demographic variables (age, gender, proxy SES, and health service zone by residential area) and for injury episodes were generated by children's groups and proxy severity of injury (i.e., the highest level of care per episode) using frequencies, proportions, and rates. Differences in demographic variables between children's groups were tested using one-way ANOVA and chi-square statistics. Injury episodes for hospitalizations, emergency department (ED) visits, and deaths that contained valid E-codes for injury and poisonings were classified by mechanism and intent of injury: physician claims do not contain E-codes.

Overall and variable-specific crude incidence rates (i.e., injury episodes per 100,000 person-years) were calculated, where the numerator was the number of injury episodes allowing multiple episodes per child, and the denominator was the sum of time at risk (i.e., total follow-up time) of all subjects. For overall injury, age-and sex-adjusted incidence rates by the level of care were generated with 95% confidence interval (CI) using the direct standardization method⁴⁹ and the 2006 Canadian Census population⁵⁰ as the standard. For variable-specific injury, crude relative risks (or rate ratios: RRs) of injury for a children's group compared to urban children were calculated with 95% CI. Regarding the follow-up time of an individual, the time point of the end of follow-up of an individual was the earliest time point of the following time points: the first move-out from Alberta; the first move-out from rural to urban areas or vice versa; the first discontinuance of registration of Alberta Health Insurance plan; becoming 18 years of age; and the end of study period. Crude incidence proportions (injuries per 1000 children per year) were calculated for the purpose of a comparison with crude incidence rates.

As an analytical analysis, to examine the relationship between injury incidence and covariates, a recurrent event survival analysis⁵¹⁻⁵³ using Cox Proportional-Hazard (PH) regression with counting process formation and clustered robust standard errors was carried out. From the Cox Proportional-PH regression, hazard ratios (HRs) of injury for each children's group in comparison

to urban children were estimated with a 95% confidence interval adjusting for potential confounders (i.e., age, sex, and proxy SES). Clustered robust standard errors were estimated to consider correlations within multiple outcomes of data for a child. In the recurrent event survival analysis, a time to multiple injury episodes model was used by allowing multiple injury episodes for a subject, and segmenting the total follow-up time of the subject by multiple time points of injury episodes. Therefore, if a child had multiple events, the child had more than one record (i.e., long data structure), and time at risk of a recurrent event for the child was from the time point of the previous injury episode to that of the next injury episode (i.e., counting process formation) and it was assumed that the recurrent events of the child are independent. Data management was conducted using SPSS Version 18.0 and statistical analyses were carried out using STATA Version 12.1.

3.3 Results

From 1999 to 2010 of 115,378 children under 18 years of age, a total of 275,442 injury episodes (124,594 physician office visits, 145,656 ED visits, 5,029 hospitalizations, 163 deaths as the highest level of care received per episode) were identified. A total of 95.1% of ED visits, 99.0% of hospitalizations, and all of the fatal episodes containing valid E-codes for injury and poisonings were used for the analysis of mechanism and intent of injury. Farm children consisted of rural-living (77.4%) and urban-living farm children (22.7%). As homogeneities

were found in injury patterns and rates between rural- and urban-living farm children, results from the two farm groups were presented in combination. Non-farm rural children were composed of 83.0% non-FN and 17.0% FN children. Since there were considerable heterogeneities between rural FN and non-FN children, results from the two rural groups are presented separately. Rural FN children represented a majority of all FN children in the study population (87.2%). The rest of FN children (12.8% of all FN, 1034 urban-living FN children) were classified into urban children comprising 3% of urban children.

3.3.1 Demographic Characteristics

Demographic characteristics of the four groups of children are illustrated in Table 3-1. Rural FN children were younger (mean age: 8.9 years, p<0.05) and more likely to live in the north health services zone of Alberta (53.6 %) than other groups of children. Farm and rural FN children were at a lower SES status (any subsidy for health care premium: 29.1 %, 100%, respectively) than the other groups (p<0.001). Two groups of rural children experienced greater loss to follow-up before they reached 18 years of age during the study period (rural non-FN 38.0%, rural FN 26.3%) than other groups (p<0.001), mainly due to moves to urban areas (81.6 %, 86.6% of all losses, respectively), while farm children showed the most stable residency with the fewest losses to follow-up (9.1 %).

3.3.2 Incidence rate of injury by the level of care

When all causes and intents of injuries are considered together, farm and rural (FN, non-FN) children consistently experienced higher injury rates than urban children across both sexes and all levels of care, except at the physician office visit level: rates for the physician office visit-level injuries were the highest in urban children across both sexes. Rural FN children sustained the greatest rates (age-and sex-adjusted) of injury-related ED visits (25158.0 episodes per 100,000 person years), hospitalizations (1538.6 episodes per 100,000 person years), and deaths (84.3 deaths per 100,000 person years) across sexes. Rural non-FN children documented the second highest rates for ED visit-level injuries, but for serious injuries (hospitalizations and deaths), farm children ranked second next to rural FN (Table 3-2). As for injuries at all levels of care from physician office visits to deaths combined, the risk if injury was significantly, but slightly higher among farm and rural children than urban children (adjusted hazard ratios: 1.09-1.14). However, when considering injuries at the ED visit level and above combined, hazard ratios of overall injury for farm, rural non-FN, and rural-FN children (reference category: urban) increased to 1.32 (95% CI: 1.30-1.35), 1.43 (1.40-1.46), and 1.60 (1.55-1.66), respectively after adjusting for age, sex, and proxy SES. The adjusted hazard ratios of severe injuries (hospitalizations and deaths combined) further increased to 1.77 (1.64-1.91), 1.7 (1.57-1.87), and 2.67 (2.36-3.02), respectively (Table 3-3).

Overall, injury rates for males were significantly higher than females (adjusted hazard ratios of injuries at the ED visit level and above combined: 1.52, 95% CI: 1.50-1.55). When describing in more detail, injury rates for males were

consistently higher than females across all children's groups and the care levels. The sex disparity consistently increased with proxy severity of injury among urban and farm children (unadjusted RR for males to females for urban and farm children, respectively: 1.18, 1.17 for physician office visits; 1.45, 1.60 for ED visits; 1.81, 1.99 for hospitalizations; 3.90, 2.74 for deaths). However, for two rural groups, there were similar trends as above for physician office and ED visits, but comparable risk of fatal injuries between sexes were found (unadjusted RR: 1.15 for non-FN. 1.06 for FN).

According to the results from multivariate Cox PH regression for injuries, children at a low SES were at a lower risk of overall injury (four databases combined; Hazard ratio: 0.97, 95% CI: 0.96-0.99) but at a higher risk of serious injury (hospitalizations and deaths; Hazard ratio: 1.15, 95% CI: 1.07-1.24) adjusting for children's group, age, and sex.

3.3.3 Intent of injury

With regard to injuries at the ED visit level and above combined, unintentional injuries followed the same patterns as overall injury: farm and rural children consistently had higher rates than urban group across all levels of care, with the highest rate for rural FN group, especially for deaths (Table 3-4). Rural FN children were also at the greatest risk for intentional injuries (crude RR=3.13 for self-inflicted, 4.37 for purposely-inflicted injuries), with a remarkably increased risk for suicide deaths (crude RR=21.1). Farm children were at the lowest risk of

intentional injuries (crude RR=0.56 for violent, 0.33 for self-inflicted injuries), despite a higher rate of death by suicides than rural non-FN or urban children.

When injury episodes at the ED visit level and over were combined, overall, males sustained higher rates of unintentional injuries (crude RR of male to female =1.6) and assaults (crude RR=2) than females , while females sustained higher rates of self-inflicted injuries (crude RR of female to male =2.9), which existed across all children's groups. The proportion of intentional injury tended to increase with the severity of injury: 2.4% at the ED visit-level injuries vs. 22.1% for fatal injuries (suicides 17.8 %, homicide 4.3 %), when all children's groups were combined. A greater proportion of suicides (15.0%) for rural FN children and homicides (28.1%) for urban children than other groups were observed.

3.3.4 Mechanisms of injury

Examination of mechanism-specific injury rates showed that the top three causes of non-fatal injuries (ED visits and hospitalizations) were falls, struck by or against, and transport-related injuries across most children's groups (Figure 3-1). As for fatal injuries, the most likely contributing cause was transport-related injuries across children's groups (crude rate: 4.3-31.5 deaths/100,000 person-years, 47-63% of deaths by children's group) followed by suffocation (crude rate: 0.9-16.8) (Figure 3-2).

When compared with urban children, for injuries at the ED visit level and above combined, farm and rural children experienced higher rates of injury for most mechanisms, notably for Other Land Transport (OLT: land transport injuries other than motor vehicle traffic, pedal cyclist, pedestrian injuries; i.e., ATVs, animal riding, agricultural vehicle-related injuries; crude RR=2.9~4.3), natural/environmental injuries (i.e., injuries due to natural hazards including animals, plant, lightning, excessive heat or cold, etc., crude RR=2.4~3.2), and firearms (crude RR=2.0-10.3). More remarkably increased risk of firearm (crude RR=10.3, 73% of them unintentional) and suffocation (crude RR=5.6, self-harm 52%, unintentional 48% of them) for rural FN children, and machinery for farm (crude RR=5.2) and rural non-FN children (crude RR=2.6) were observed. In addition to these mechanisms, rural children (FN and non FN) had greater than 2 times the risk for cuts, fire/hot objects/substance, and non-motor vehicle traffic (MVT) pedestrian injuries compared with urban children. When compared with farm children, urban children sustained higher rates of poisonings (crude RR of farm to urban=0.64) and pedal cyclist injuries (crude RR=0.20 for MVT, 0.71 for non-MVT pedal cyclist injuries) across all levels of care (Table 3-5).

When compared within farm and rural children, for injuries at the ED visit level and above combined, the rank of risk for overall injuries among children's groups (rural FN > rural non-FN > farm) were held for all mechanisms except for farm hazard-related ones (specifically, animal-riding OLT, agricultural vehicle-related OLT, farm animal-related natural/environmental injuries, and machinery). As for these mechanisms, the risk rank was opposite (farm> rural non-FN> rural FN) (Table 3-5).

With regard to the detailed causes of transport and natural/environmental injuries, firstly, the leading mechanism of transport injuries was OLT for ED visits

and hospitalizations (overall, 37.7%, 52.3%) and MTV for deaths (70.7%), overall. For injuries at the ED level and above combined, farm children experienced the greatest rate of OLT, followed by rural non-FN, rural FN, and urban children in a descending order. Among OLT injuries, 38.6-57.4% by children's group involved in off-road vehicles (e.g., All Terrain Vehicles (ATVs)) and 19.1-32.7% were animal-riding injuries. Secondly, natural/environmental injuries were mainly composed of bees/wasps/hornets, mammals (ie., dogs and farm animals), and non-venomous insects. Greater risk of dogs and non-venomous insects injuries for rural FN (crude RR=3.1, 3.4), and notably increased risk of farm animal-related injury for farm children (crude RR=6.7) as well as for rural non-FN children (crude RR=3.5) were documented.

3.3.5 Mechanisms of intentional injuries

Intentional injuries were mainly associated with five mechanisms including poisoning, suffocation, cutting/piercing, firearm-related, and struck by or against. Composition of intentional injuries for these mechanisms varied by proxy severity of injury: the higher proxy injury severity was, grater intentional injuries were sustained.

When injuries at the ED visit level and over combined, rural FN children suffered from a strikingly increased risk of unintentional firearm-related injuries (crude RR=11.2), self-inflicted suffocation (crude RR=11.2, for death, RR=39.3) and self- and purposely-inflicted cuts (crude RR=3.2, 5.7, each). Main mechanisms for suicides were suffocations among rural FN children (81.8% of suicides) and firearms and suffocation among farm children (41.6% of suicides, each). Intent types of firearm injuries varied by children's group: firearm injuries were mostly unintentional (75.0% of ED visits) or assaults (50% of hospitalizations and all deaths) for urban children, but mainly intentional (82.1% of ED visits and 100% of hospitalizations) or suicide (62.5% of deaths) for farm children. Struck by or against were involved in unintentional or assaults across groups.

3.4 Discussion

This study focused on the differences in rates, intents, and causes of injury incidences between farm and several non-farm children's groups. Overall, rural FN children sustained the greatest burden of injury, followed by rural non-FN and farm children, while urban children had the lowest. For injuries at the ED visit level and over combined, farm, rural non-FN, and rural-FN children were 1.32 times, 1.43 times, and 1.6 times more likely to sustain all-cause injuries compared with urban children after adjustment for potential confounders. Farm children were at a higher risk of severe injuries (hospitalizations and deaths) than non-FN rural children. We believe our results on incidence rates and relative risk of all-cause injury for farm children compared to specific groups of non-farm children are novel, as there has rarely been literature available to identify farm children in administrative health data and examine all-causes of injury including both agricultural and non-agricultural injuries for them.

Patterns of injury disparity among farm, rural, and urban children were different by proxy severity of injury (i.e., level of care). Urban children had higher rates of minor-severity injuries (physician office visits), but farm and rural children consistently had higher rates of injuries at the ED visit level and over along with increased injury disparities for more severe injuries (a clearly linear relationship between injury disparity and injury severity). Increased rates of minor-severity injury for urban children could be attributed either by a greater risk of less severe injuries or by relatively superior medical access in urban areas than in rural areas. These findings also imply the importance of proper selection of data sources or injury severity in research, as considerably different pictures of injury disparity (sometimes opposite directions) can be obtained.

Our results on overall patterns for injuries at the ED visit level and above combined confirms the findings from previous publications that have reported higher risk of overall injury for rural children than urban children,^{19-21,33} the tendency of increased injury disparities between rural and urban children for more severe injuries,^{20,34,37,54} and higher injury risk for FN children compared with non-FN children.⁵⁵⁻⁵⁷

Findings on injury mechanisms and causes based on three databases (ED visits, hospitalizations, deaths) were able to present similarities regarding the most common causes of injuries, but distinguishing injury issues for each children's group for less frequent mechanisms of injuries were as follows: 1) struck by or against and falls were the most common causes but appeared to be not considerably different in risk across children's groups; 2) farm children appeared

to sustain a greater burden of unintentional injuries associated with the farm environment including farm machinery, OLT (animal-riding- and agricultural vehicle-related), natural/environmental injuries (farm-animals), and drowning deaths than other groups. Farm children were at a lowest risk for self-harm and violent injuries except suicidal deaths; 3) rural non-FN children appeared to be between farm and rural FN children in terms of injury risk and patterns: rural non-FN children were at a higher risk than farm children but lower than rural FN children for non-traffic pedestrian, poisoning, suffocation, poisoning, overall self-harm and violent injuries. However, rural non-FN children had increased risk of farm hazard-related injuries than rural FN children; 4) FN children living in rural areas had distinct differences in injury incidence from other groups. Besides OLT, natural/environmental, and non-traffic pedestrian injuries that were common for farm and rural groups, remarkably increased risk of unintentional firearm as well as intentional injuries (especially, self-inflicted suffocation and self- and purposely-inflicted cut) were the main issues noted in the analysis.

Regarding the findings for mechanisms and intent, there is consistency with previous publications that have found that struck by or against, fall, and transport injuries are top three causes of non-fatal unintentional pediatric injury^{58,59} and that that MVT injury was the leading cause of unintentional fatal injury, ^{58,59} although the figures of MVT-related death rates in prior research are closer to ones in urban children in the present study they were considerably lower than ones in farm or rural children. The present research also appears to be concordant with prior findings that have revealed the following: machinery

injuries and farm animal-related injuries were the leading cause of agricultural fatal and non-fatal injuries, respectively³⁰; ATV-related injuries were more prevalent for rural residents than urban ⁶⁰; there were a tendency of greater self-harm for rural children^{19,21} and more for assault-related injuries for urban children ^{21,61}; First Nations children suffered a high risk of unintentional injury, self-harm and assaults-related injury than non-FN children.^{55,56,62} Findings from previous research were limited to just one group or simple rural-urban comparisons, but in this study we were able to conduct a valid comparison between farm and diverse non-farm pediatric populations.

When looking at injury-risk differentials between groups in a comprehensive perspective, it was recognized that injury disparity between the farm/rural group and the urban group of children was consistent and universal for most injury mechanisms. There were typical injury mechanisms that had substantially greater risk of injury for specific groups (e.g., farm hazard-related injuries for farm and rural non-FN children, firearms and suffocation for rural FN children) that needs special attentions and preventive efforts to. However, as a whole, the increased risk for farm/rural group was also noteworthy implying the need for intervention efforts for underlying risk factors among farm and rural children, particularly for FN children. Previous research has reported adverse health determinants in rural areas including inferior medical environment (i.e., availability and quality of health care services and programs),^{12,16,17,63} lower SES (e.g., income, education, employment)^{12,17,18} and higher levels of risky behaviors,¹⁴ in addition to diverse physical hazards.^{12,13} Furthermore, FN children

may be affected by social stressors such as cultural alienation, discrimination, and intergenerational effects of Indian Residential Schools.^{12,64,65} For this generic and inter-related causes of injury in rural areas, new intervention strategies such as a community-based participatory approaches for rural populations,^{12,66,67} multifaceted approaches for farm safety,^{68,69} and cultural healing and restoring identity for FN,^{70,71} along with common education approaches (e.g., workshops, booklets, awareness campaign, etc.) have recently been introduced and emphasized.

With regard to methodology for injury risk assessment, the relative risk of injury between children's groups appeared to be influenced by the different methods applied to estimate the risk of injury. RR for rural non-FN compared with the urban children was observed to be different when we used incidence density rate (i.e., injuries/1000 person-years) compared with using incidence proportion (i.e., injuries per 1000 children). This may be attributed to a relatively greater loss to follow-up for rural non-FN participants due to a greater number of relocations to urban areas or to other provinces than other children's groups: shorter follow-up time would have led to a reduced denominator in person-time rate resulting in increased incidence density rate. It implies the use of incidence proportions can lead to a relatively greater underestimation of injury risk for populations with a greater tendency to move than other comparison populations.

There were some limitations of the present study. Firstly, this study has limited information on circumstances that lead to injuries, changes in farming status over time, and various risk factors other than age, sex, and a proxy of socio-economic status. These are inherent weakness of administrative health records that are routinely collected for non-research purposes. Therefore, the potential for misclassification of participant demographic information and injury episode and residual confounding remained.

Second, the possibility of misclassification of injuries exists from errors in coding and charting of injury code and diagnostic errors in administrative data. However, this misclassification is not likely to occur differentially between groups as we have data from a single health system.

Third, some differential misclassification of injury events may occur if healthcare seeking behaviors or accessibility to health care services are different between farm and non-farm residents. If rural populations are less likely to seek or get treatment from the health care system possibly due to the longer distances traveled to health care facilities, rates of injury, particularly for minor injury, may be underestimated.

Forth, the possibility of misclassification of a proxy of socio-economic status for FN children exists. All FN treaty-status Aboriginals in the insurance premium status in Alberta were classified into children in a low SES status in this study, but all FN children may not be in low SES status. However, children's SES status does not appeared to considerably affect the results as there were not much differences between adjusted and unadjusted hazard ratios of injury.

Nevertheless, the strengths of this study in methodology included: 1) increased external validity (i.e., a population-based design with a large sample size); 2) high coverage of injuries (i.e., the use of multiple data sources capturing

all records in the health care system) and provision of comprehensive view of injury rates by the proxy severity of injury; 3) valid assessment of incident injury and the determination of proxy severity of each episode (i.e., identifying injury incidence episodes by linking medical records from all available data sources as well as determining the facility where the highest level of care was received); 4) accurateness in calculating injury rates (i.e., the use of injury density rates by using person-time at risk of each individual and allowing multiple injury events per a child), and; 5) reduced selection bias for the sample and information bias (i.e., observer bias, recall bias) through the use of administrative data. Along with these strengths, the present study was able to provide a broader picture of injury incidence for detailed, specified children's groups covering every cause and intent of injury.

3.5 Conclusions

This study followed farm and three groups non-farm Albertan children (115,378 children) under 18 years of age from 1999 to 2010 to compare rates, cause, and intent of their incident injuries using multiple, linked administrative data. Rural FN children sustained the greatest burden of overall injury, followed by rural non-FN, farm, and urban children (in descending order) and the rank was largely consistent for most mechanisms of injury. Considerably increased risk of OLT, natural/environmental, and unintentional firearm-related injuries were noted for farm and rural children. Greater risk of farm hazard-related injuries (e.g.,

farm-animal and machinery-related injuries) were noted for farm and rural non-FN children, and markedly higher risk of unintentional firearm-related injuries and suicidal suffocation were of greater concern for rural FN children. Findings from this study clearly indicate a need for targeted and specialized injury prevention strategies for higher-risk mechanisms in each group as well as attention for general risk factors among farm and rural pediatric populations.

References

1. Statistics Canada. Leading causes of death and hospitalization in canada. . ;2012(02/22).

2. Lerer LB, Lopez AD, Kjellstrom T, Yach D. Health for all: Analyzing health status and determinants. *World Health Stat Q*. 1998;51(1):7-20.

3. Link BG, Phelan J. Social conditions as fundamental causes of disease. *J Health Soc Behav.* 1995;Spec No(Spec No):80-94.

4. Sharpe A, Hardt J. Five deaths a day: Workplace fatalities in canada,1993-2005. 2006;CSLS Research Paper 2006-04.

5. Marlenga B, Pickett W, Berg RL. Agricultural work activities reported for children and youth on 498 north american farms. *J Agric Saf Health*. 2001;7(4):241-252.

6. Lee BC, Westaby JD, Chyou PH, Purschwitz MA. Agricultural employers' hiring and safety practices for adolescent workers. *J Agric Saf Health*. 2007;13(1):25-32.

7. Canadian Agricultural Injury Reporting (CAIR). Agricultural fatalities in canada 1990-2005. http://www.caisp.ca/natrep2.html2008.

8. Bancej C, Arbuckle T. Injuries in ontario farm children: A population based study. *Inj Prev.* 2000;6(2):135-140.

9. Rivara FP. Fatal and non-fatal farm injuries to children and adolescents in the united states, 1990-3. *Inj Prev.* 1997;3(3):190-194.

10. Layne LA, Castillo DN, Stout N, Cutlip P. Adolescent occupational injuries requiring hospital emergency department treatment: A nationally representative sample. *Am J Public Health*. 1994;84(4):657-660.

11. Hard DL, Myers JR. Fatal work-related injuries in the agriculture production sector among youth in the united states, 1992-2002. *Journal of agromedicine*. 2006;11(2):57-65.

12. Ministerial Advisory Council on Rural Health. Rural health in rural hands: Strategic directions for rural, remote, northern and aboriginal communities. . 2002.

13. Mitchell-Taverner, P.,Zipparo, L. Survey on speeding and enforcement. www.infrastructure.gov.au/roads/safety/publications/.../Speed_Risk_4.pdf. Updated 2003April 2011.

14. Muelleman RL, Mueller K. Fatal motor vehicle crashes: Variations of crash characteristics within rural regions of different population densities. *J Trauma*. 1996;41(2):315-320.

15. Chris D, Geoff E, Bjorn J. Rural road maintenance: Sustaining the benefits of improved access. . 2007.

16. Esposito TJ, Maier RV, Rivara FP, et al. The impact of variation in trauma care times: Urban versus rural. *Prehospital Disaster Med.* 1995;10(3):161-166.

17. Eberhardt MS, Ingram DD, Makuc DM. Urban and rural health chartbook. health, united states, 2001. 2001.

18. Singh V,Statistics Canada. Rural income disparities in canada: A comparison across the provinces.

http://www.statcan.gc.ca/bsolc/olc-cel/olc-cel?lang=eng&catno=21-006-X200100 7. Updated 2002. Accessed 7, 3.

19. CIHI (Canadian Institute for Health Information). How healthy are rural canadians? an assessment of their health status and health determinants. . 2006.

20. Jiang X, Li D, Boyce W, Pickett W. Variations in injury among canadian adolescents by urban-rural geographic status. *Chronic Dis Can*. 2007;28(1-2):56-62.

 Brownell MD, Friesen D, Mayer T. Childhood injury rates in manitoba: Socioeconomic influences. *Canadian Journal of Public Health*. 2002;93(SUPPL. 2):S50-S56.

22. Oliver L, Kohen D. Neighbourhood income gradients in hospitalisations due to motor vehicle traffic incidents among canadian children. *Inj Prev*. 2009;15(3):163-169.

23. Kim K, Ozegovic D, Voaklander DC. Differences in incidence of injury between rural and urban children in canada and the USA: A systematic review. *Inj Prev*. 2012;18(4):264-271.

24. Alberta Centre for Injury Control & Research (ACICR). Agricultural-related injury deaths in alberta, 1990-2009. http://www.acicr.ca/documents-reports/injury-data-reports2009. 25. Pickett W, Brison RJ, Hoey JR. Fatal and hospitalized agricultural machinery injuries to children in ontario, canada. *Inj Prev.* 1995;1(2):97-102.

26. Pickett W, Hartling L, Brison R, Guernsey J, Canadian Agr Injury Surveillance Program. Fatal work-related farm injuries in canada, 1991-1995. *Can Med Assoc J*. 1999;160(13):1843-1848.

27. Hendricks KJ, Goldcamp EM. Injury surveillance for youth on farms in the U.S., 2006. *J Agric Saf Health*. 2010;16(4):279-291.

28. Pickett W, Brison RJ, Berg RL, Zentner J, Linneman J, Marlenga B. Pediatric farm injuries involving non-working children injured by a farm work hazard: Five priorities for primary prevention. *Inj Prev.* 2005;11(1):6-11.

29. Morrongiello BA, Pickett W, Berg RL, Linneman JG, Brison RJ, Marlenga B. Adult supervision and pediatric injuries in the agricultural worksite. *Accid Anal Prev*. 2008;40(3):1149-1156.

30. Canadian Agricultural Injury Reporting (CAIR). Fatal and hospitalized agricultural injuries among children and youth in canada. http://cair-sbac.ca/childrep.html. Updated 2007.

31. Miller ME, Kaufman JD. Occupational injuries among adolescents in washington state, 1988-1991. *Am J Ind Med.* 1998;34(2):121-132.

32. Gagné, M., Hamel, D. Deprivation and unintentional injury hospitalization in quebec children. *Chronic Dis Can.* 2009;29(2).

33. Gilbride SJ, Wild C, Wilson DR, Svenson LW, Spady DW. Socio-economic status and types of childhood injury in alberta: A population based study. *BMC Pediatr.* 2006;6:30.

34. Kmet L, Macarthur C. Urban-rural differences in motor vehicle crash fatality and hospitalization rates among children and youth. *Accid Anal Prev*. 2006;38(1):122-127.

35. Macpherson AK, To TM, Parkin PC, et al. Urban/rural variation in children's bicycle-related injuries. *Accid Anal Prev.* 2004;36(4):649-654.

36. Thompson TR. Childhood and adolescent suicide in manitoba: A demographic study. *Can J Psychiatry*. 1987;32(4):264-269.

37. Thouez JP, Joly MF, Rannou A, Bussiere Y, Bourbeau R. Geographical variations of motor-vehicle injuries in quebec, 1983-1988. *Soc Sci Med*. 1991;33(4):415-421.

38. Rose MS, Emery CA, Meeuwisse WH. Sociodemographic predictors of sport injury in adolescents. *Med Sci Sports Exerc*. 2008;40(3):444-450.

39. Statistics Canada. Farm population and total population by rural and urban population, by province (2001 and 2006 census of agriculture and census of population). 2008.

40. Alberta Agriculture and Food. 2006 census of agriculture for alberta. . September 2007.

41. Valerie dP, Roland B, Ray DB. Definitions of rural
str /> ... 2001;Rural and Small Town Canada Analysis Bulletin Catalogue no. 21-006-XIE Vol. 3, No.3.

42. Health Canada. Canada health act. http://www.hc-sc.gc.ca/hcs-sss/medi-assur/cha-lcs/index-eng.php.

43. Barell V, Aharonson-Daniel L, Fingerhut LA, et al. An introduction to the barell body region by nature of injury diagnosis matrix. *Inj Prev.* 2002;8(2):91-96.

44. Fingerhut LA, Warner M. The ICD-10 injury mortality diagnosis matrix. *Inj Prev*. 2006;12(1):24-29.

45. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention's (CDC). Injury in the united states: 2007 chartbook. . March 2008.

46. Lestina DC, Miller TR, Smith GS. Creating injury episodes using medical claims data. *J Trauma*. 1998;45(3):565-569.

47. Carter MW, Porell FW. The effect of sentinel injury on medicare expenditures over time. *J Am Geriatr Soc.* 2011;59(3):406-416.

48. Braun PA, Beaty BL, DiGuiseppi C, Steiner JF. Recurrent early childhood injuries among disadvantaged children in primary care settings. *Inj Prev.* 2005;11(4):251-255.

49. Ann S, George R.S. Chapter 3. comparing disease frequencies. In: *Essentials of epidemiology in public health*. Jones and Bartlett Publications; 2008:59-76.

50. Statistics Canada. 2006 census: Data products. http://www12.statcan.ca/census-recensement/2006/dp-pd/index-eng.cfm.

51. Kleinbaum DG, Klein M. Chapter 8. recurrent event survival analysis. In: *Survival analysis: A self-learning text, third edition*. Spinger; 2012:363-379.

52. Kelly PJ, Lim LL-. Survival analysis for recurrent event data: An application to childhood infectious diseases. *Stat Med*. 2000;19(1):13-33.

53. Andersen PK, Gill RD. Cox's regression model for counting processes: A large sample study. *Annals of Satistics*. 1982;10:1100-1120.

54. Danseco ER, Miller TR, Spicer RS. Incidence and costs of 1987-1994 childhood injuries: Demographic breakdowns. *Pediatrics*. 2000;105(2):e27-e27.

55. Alaghehbandan R, Sikdar KC, MacDonald D, Collins KD, Rossignol AM. Unintentional injuries among children and adolescents in aboriginal and non-aboriginal communities, newfoundland and labrador, canada. *Int J Circumpolar Health*. 2010;69(1):61-71.

56. Oliver LN KD. Unintentional injury hospitalizations among children and youth in areas with a high percentage of Aboriginal identity residents: 2001/2002 to 2005/2006. *Health Rep.* 2012;23(3):7-15.

57. Bratu I, Lowe D, Phillips L. The impact of fatal pediatric trauma on aboriginal children. *J Pediatr Surg.* 2013;48(5):1065-1070.

58. Public Health Agency of Canada. Child and youth injury in review, 2009 edition –Spotlight on consumer product safety. . 2009.

59. Nagesh NB, Julie G, Ann MD, Rose AR, Michael FB, David AS. CDC childhood injury report: Patterns of onintentional injuries among 0-19 years olds in the united states, 2000-2006. 2008.

60. Unni P, Morrow SE, L Shultz B. Analysis of pediatric all-terrain vehicle trauma data in middle tennessee: Implications for injury prevention. *J Trauma Acute Care Surg.* 2012;73(4 Suppl 3):S277-80.

61. Svenson JE, Spurlock C, Nypaver M. Factors associated with the higher traumatic death rate among rural children. *Ann Emerg Med.* 1996;27(5):625-632.

62. Harrop AR, Brant RF, Ghali WA, Macarthur C. Injury mortality rates in native and non-native children: A population-based study. *Public Health Rep.* 2007;122:339-346.

63. McCowan CL, Swanson ER, Thomas F, Handrahan DL. Outcomes of pediatric trauma patients transported from rural and urban scenes. *Air Med J*. 2008;27(2):78-83.

64. Royal Commission on Aboriginal Peoples. *Choosing life: Special report on suicide among aboriginal people*. Ottawa, ON: Canada Communication Group Pub.; 1995.

65. Bombay A, Matheson K, Anisman H. The impact of stressors on second generation indian residential school survivors. *Transcult Psychiatry*. 2011;48(4):367-391.

66. Deguchi K, Oono M, Kitamura K, Nishida Y. Childhood injury prevention through community-based participatory research: A multidimensional approach in the love and safety omura study in nagasaki, japan. . Inj. Prev. 2012;18(Suppl. 1):A108.

67. Helitzer D, Willging C, Hathorn G, Benally J. Building community capacity for agricultural injury prevention in a navajo community. *Journal of Agricultural Safety & Health*. 2009;15(1):19-35.

68. Rasmussen K, Carstensen O, Lauritsen JM, Glasscock DJ, Hansen ON, Jensen UF. Prevention of farm injuries in denmark. *Scand J Work Environ Health*. 2003;29(4):288-296.

69. Donham KJ, Rautiainen RH, Lange JL, Schneiders S. Injury and illness costs in the certified safe farm study. *Journal of Rural Health*. 2007;23(4):348-355.

70. Williams, E., Guenther, J. and Arnott, A. Traditional healing: A literature review. . 2011;Working paper series 2: Evaluation and policy. No. 2.

71. Public Health Agency of Canada. Aboriginal children: The healing power of cultural identity.

http://www.phac-aspc.gc.ca/hp-ps/dca-dea/prog-ini/ahsunc-papacun/aboriginal-au tochtones-eng.php. Updated 2013-02-20. Accessed August 5th, 2013.

	Urban	Farm	Rural non-FN	Rural FN
	(N=34,386)	(N=39,658)	(N=34,288)	(N=7,046)
Sex (male)*	50.7%	51.9%	51.2%	51.5%
Age (years, mean ± SD)**	9.6±4.9	9.9±4.9	9.7±4.9	8.9±4.8
Socio-economic status** Low status ¹	18.8%	29.1%	17.9%	100.0%
Health services zone				
Edmonton	38.4%	7.1%	7.6%	3.7%
Calgary	38.8%	10.4%	17.4%	10.7%
North	8.2%	28.4%	31.9%	53.6%
Central	8.4%	34.2%	28.8%	18.4%
South	6.3%	20.0%	14.2%	13.6%
Loss to follow up **	14 20/	0.19/	29.00/	26.20/
before 18 years of age	14.370	9.170	30.07	20.3%
Person-years followed				
Males	118,604	143,021	94,898	24,654
Females	115,552	133,064	89,078	22,975
Total**	234,156	276,085	183,976	47,629

* p<0.05, ** p<0.001 regarding differences between groups

¹Any subsidy received for health care insurance premium

FN: First Nations

Level of care	Urban			Farm	-		Rural no	on-FN		Rural FN		
Crude incidence	rate (injur	ies/100,000	person-ye	ars) (95% (CI)							
PO visits	18539.8	(18365.4 ,	18714.2)	16513.8	(16362.2 ,	16665.3)	15960.8	(15778.2 ,	16143.3)	13071.9	(12747.2,	13396.6)
ED visits	14995.2	(14838.3 ,	15152.0)	20397.7	(20229.2 ,	20566.2)	23273.1	(23052.7 ,	23493.6)	23960.3	(23520.7,	24399.9)
Hospitalizations	424.1	(397.7,	450.5)	765.0	(732.4,	797.6)	736.5	(697.3,	775.7)	1192.6	(1094.5,	1290.6)
Deaths	8.5	(4.8,	12.3)	25.7	(19.7,	31.7)	21.7	(15.0,	28.5)	67.2	(43.9,	90.5)
Age-and sex-sta	ndardizec	l incidenc	e rate (inj	uries per 1	00,000 pers	on-years)	(95% CI)					
PO visits	21049.4	(20533.3 ,	21565.5)	19138.8	(18688.7 ,	19588.9)	18251.7	(17732.8 ,	18770.7)	15890.6	(14770.3,	17010.9)
ED visits	15812.6	(15390.1 ,	16235.2)	21976.9	(21518.5 ,	22435.3)	24704.1	(24132.4 ,	25275.8)	25158.1	(25031.2,	25284.9)
Hospitalizations	478.1	(401.1,	555.1)	868.0	(773.6,	962.3)	838.0	(728.3,	947.6)	1538.6	(1169.8,	1907.4)
Deaths	14.6	(-1.9,	31.2)	32.6	(13.1,	52.1)	25.8	(6.4,	45.2)	84.3	(4.0,	164.6)

Table 3-2. Incidence rate and proportion of any-cause injuries

Crude injury proportions (injuries/100,000 children/year) (95% CI)

PO visits	15210.7	(15067.6	15353.8	13851.0	(13723.8	13978.1	10318.0	(10200.0	10436.0	10646.0	(10381.6,	10910.5)
		,)		,)		,)			

ED visits	12302.5	(12173.9 ,	12431.3)	17108.7	(16967.3 ,	17249.9)	15045.2	(14902.6 ,	15187.6)	19513.7	(19155.7,	19871.8)
Hospitalizations	348.0	(326.3,	369.6)	641.7	(614.3,	669.0)	476.1	(450.8,	501.5)	971.2	(891.4,	1051.1)
Deaths	7.0	(3.9,	10.1)	21.6	(16.6,	26.6)	14.1	(9.7,	18.4)	54.7	(35.8,	73.7)

FN: First Nations, PO: physician office, ED: emergency department

		Farm	Ru	ral non-FN	F	Rural-FN
	HR	95% CI	HR	95% CI	HR	95% CI
Unadjusted						
All levels of injuries	1.09	1.08-1.11	1.11	1.1-1.13	1.1	1.07-1.12
ED visits and above	1.32	1.30-1.35	1.44	1.41-1.47	1.53	1.49-1.58
Severe injuries (hospitalizations, deaths)	1.83	1.69-1.97	1.73	1.59-1.88	2.91	2.61-3.24
Adjusted*						
All levels of injuries	1.09	1.08-1.11	1.11	1.09-1.12	1.14	1.11-1.17
ED visits and above	1.32	1.30-1.35	1.43	1.40-1.46	1.6	1.55-1.66
Severe injuries (hospitalizations, deaths)	1.77	1.64-1.91	1.71	1.57-1.87	2.67	2.36-3.02

Table 3-3. Hazard ratios of any-cause injuries from Cox proportional hazard model (Reference group: urban children)

* Adjustment for age, sex, and a proxy of socio-economic status

FN: First Nations

Intent	Level	Urban	Farm	Rural non-FN	Rural FN	Farm			Rural	non-FN		Rural F	N	
of injury	of care	Rate (ir	ijuries per 10	00,000 perso	on-years)		R	ate ratio	o (95% (CI), Refer	ence gr	oup: urba	an	
Unintentional	ED visits	13290	19263	21997	21539	1.45	(1.44,	1.46)	1.66	(1.64,	1.67)	1.62	(1.60,	1.64)
	Hospitalizations	372	727	655	941	1.95	(1.87,	2.03)	1.76	(1.67,	1.85)	2.53	(2.41,	2.64)
	Deaths	6	21	17	44	3.22	(2.65,	3.79)	2.63	(2.01,	3.25)	6.88	(6.22,	7.55)
Suicide/ self-inflicted	ED visits	115	21	74	262	0.19	(-0.10,	0.47)	0.65	(0.44,	0.85)	2.28	(2.07,	2.50)
	Hospitalizations	38	25	57	202	0.64	(0.33,	0.96)	1.48	(1.20,	1.77)	5.24	(4.96,	5.53)
	Deaths	1	4	3	19	5.09	(3.59,	6.59)	3.82	(2.22,	5.42)	22.12	(20.59 ,	23.66)
Violence/ Purposely	ED visits	348	196	410	1531	0.56	(0.46,	0.67	1.18	(1.08,	1.28	4.40	(4.30,	4.50)
inflicted	Hospitalizations	17	7	18	67	0.43	(-0.10,	0.97)	1.11	(0.65,	1.57)	4.03	(3.57,	4.50)

Table 3-4 Crude rate and rate ratio	o of anv-cause	iniuries by	the intent of injury
	o or any-cause	injunes by	the intent of injury

	Deaths	1	1	1	2	0.57	(-1.22,	2.35)	0.42	(-1.84 ,	2.69)	1.64	(-0.62 ,	3.90)
Undetermined	ED visits	38	53	70	220	1.38	(1.11,	1.64)	1.82	(1.56,	2.09)	5.74	(5.45,	6.02)
	Hospitalizations	4	6	8	38	1.45	(0.63,	2.27)	2.04	(1.21,	2.86)	9.45	(8.65,	10.25)
	Deaths	0	0	1	2	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-

FN, First Nations; ED, emergency department; 95%CI, 95% Confidence interval

Mechanism	Urban	Farm	Rural non-FN	Rural FN	Farm			Rural	non-FN		Rural	FN	
Weendhish	Crude r	ate (injuries	s per 100,000 pers	on-years)		Cı	rude rate	ratio (9	5% CI), F	Referenc	e: urba	n	
Struck by or against	3733	5050	5735	5721	1.35	(1.33	1.38)	1.54	(1.51	1.56)	1.53	(1.49,	1.58
						,	,		,	,		ζ, j)
Struck unintentional	3470	4875	5384	4527	1 40	(1.38	1 4 3)	1 55	(1.52	1 58)	1 30	(1 26	1.35
otruck_drinteritional	5470	4075	5504	4527	1.40	,	1.43)	1.55	,	1.50)	1.50	(1.20,)
	000	470	0.47	44.00		(0.54	0.70)	4 00	(1.22			(4.40	4.65
Struck_violence	262	172	347	1188	0.66	,	0.78)	1.33	,	1.44)	4.54	(4.43,)
						(1.07			(1.33				1.52
Fall	3824	4179	5179	5656	1.09	,	1.12)	1.35	`.	1.38)	1.48	(1.44,)
						, (1 72			(1 81				, 2 12
All Transport	1454	2560	2692	2986	1.76	(1.72	1.80)	1.85	(1.01	1.89)	2.05	(1.99,	2.12
						, (1.20			, (1 E1)
MVT	509	741	807	1041	1.45	(1.38	1.53)	1.58	(1.51	1.66)	2.04	(1.94,	2.15
						,			,)
Pedal cyclists:non-traffic	522	369	724	932	0.71	(0.62	0 79)	1.39	(1.31	1 46)	1.78	(1.68	1.89
	0LL	000	121	002	0.71	,	0.70)	1.00	,	1.10)		(1.00,)

Table 3-5. Crude rate and relative risk of injuries at the emergency department visit level and above combined by mechanism and intent

Pedestrians: non-traffic	19	25	41	52	1 33	(0.95	1 71)	2 20	(1.83	2 57)	2 79	(2 30	3.28
r cucomano. non tramo	10	20	71	02	1.00	,	1.7 1)	2.20	,	2.07)	2.75	(2.00,)
OLT	210	1266	1040	022	4 20	(4.22	1 20)	2 27	(3.19	2 26)	2 02	(202	3.05
OLI	310	1300	1040	932	4.30	,	4.30)	3.21	,	3.30)	2.93	(2.02,)
	100	550	500	E25	A 64	(4.38	4 62)	4 0 0	(3.95	4 01)	4 27	(4.20	4.54
OLI-ATVS	123	55Z	500	535	4.51	,	4.03)	4.08	,	4.21)	4.37	(4.20,)
	00	440	000	470	7.00	(6.89	7 00)	2 50	(3.39	0.77)	0.00		3.09
OLI-animal riding	63	440	220	1/8	7.06	,	7.23)	3.58	,	3.77)	2.82	(2.50,)
	0	40	-	0	0 447	(8.09	10.14	0.40	(2.02	4.04	4 00	(-0.96	3.42
OLI-agri. venicie	2	16	5	2	9.117	,)	3.18	,	4.34)	1.23	,)
	05		70	05		(0.46	0.00		(0.68	4.40		(-0.28	0.88
Other transport	85	57	76	25	0.668	,	0.88)	0.90	,	1.12)	0.30	,)

Table 3-5. (Continued)

Mechanism	Urban	Farm	Rural non-FN	Rural FN	Farm			Rural r	non-FN		Rural	FN	
	Crude ra	ate (injuries	per 100,000 persor	i-years)		Cr	rude rate	e ratio (9	95% CI), F	Referenc	e: urbai	า	
Cut or pierce	863	1510	1876	2401	1.75	(1.70,	1.80)	2.18	(2.12,	2.23)	2.78	(2.71,	2.86

Cut_unintentional	797	1490	1824	2104	1.87	(1.81,	1.92)	2.29	(2.23,	2.34)	2.64	(2.56,	2.72
Cut_self harms	40	5	29	130	0.14	(-0.41,	0.68)	0.72	(0.38,	1.05)	3.24	(2.92,	3.56)
Cut_violence	20	3	7	111	0.15	(-0.60,	0.90)	0.33	(-0.30	0.97)	5.66	(5.27,	6.06
Overexertion	1360	1560	1794	1384	1.15	(1.10,	1.19)	1.32	(1.27,	1.37)	1.02	(0.93,	, 1.10)
Natural or environmental	377	905	902	1216	2.40	(2.32,	2.48)	2.39	(2.31,	2.47)	3.22	(3.12,	3.33
Bees/wasps/hornets	165	344	354	321	2.08	(1.97,	2.20)	2.14	(2.02,	2.27)	1.94	(1.76,	2.13)
Dogs	128	116	197	397	0.90	(0.75,	1.06)	1.54	(1.39,	1.69)	3.11	(2.93,	3.29)
Non-venous insects	71	127	186	244	1.79	(1.60,	1.97)	2.61	(2.43,	2.80)	3.41	(3.18,	3.65)
Mammals except for dogs	50	345	174	120	6.96	(6.77,	7.15)	3.52	(3.31,	3.73)	2.42	(2.10,	2.73)
Poisoning	363	232	355	806	0.64	(0.54,	0.74)	0.98	(0.88,	1.08)	2.22	(2.10,	2.34

Poisonunintentional	234	177	228	409	0.76	(0.63,	0.88)	0.98	(0.85,	1.10)	1.75	(1.59,	1.92)
Poisonself harms	104	38	93	262	0.37	(0.14,	0.60)	0.90	(0.71,	1.10)	2.53	(2.31,	2.74)
Poison_violence	3	1	3	4	0.21	(-1.34,	1.76)	0.80	(-0.32 ,	1.91 0	1.23	(-0.32 ,	2.78)
Poison_Undetermined	23	16	30	130	0.71	(0.31,	1.10)	1.32	(0.95,	1.69)	5.64	(5.28	6.01)

Table 3-5. (Continued)

Mechanism	Urban Crude r	Farm	Rural non-FN	Rural FN	Farm	Cr	Rural	non-FN (95% CI)	Referen	Rural Fl	N	
Fire or hot objects	142	261	298	338	1.83	(1.70,	1.96) 2.09	(1.96,	2.23)	2.38	(2.19,	2.57)
Machinery	41	214	105	48	5.22	(5.01,	5.44) 2.57	(2.33,	2.82)	1.18	(0.72,	1.63)
Suffocation	18	29	40	101	1.64	(1.26,	2.01) 2.21	(1.83,	2.59)	5.62	(5.20,	6.03)
Suffounintentional	13	26	34	48	2.00	(1.58,	2.42) 2.59	(2.16,	3.02)	3.65	(3.11,	4.19)

Suffoself harms	5	2	5	52	0.39	(-0.67	1.44)	1 04	(0.16	1 92)	11 17	(10.46	11.88
						(0.07,		1.04	(0.10,	1.52)		,)
Firearm	0	10	10	02	2 02	(1 5 1	2.53	2 1 2	(1 59	2 66)	10 20	(0.79	10.82
Firearm	9	10	19	92	2.02	(1.51,)	Z.1Z (1	(1.56,	2.00)	10.30	(9.70,)
Fireers unintentional	0	45	45	67	0.40	(1.00	3.09	0.55 (4.00	(1.00	2 40)	44.04	(10.61	11.87
Firearm_unintentional	0	15	15	07	2.40	(1.00,)	2.55	(1.90,	3.19)	11.24	,)
Firearm_self harms	0	2	1	2									
	2			2	0.17	(2.32)	0.51 (-1.13,			(-1.16	a (a)	
Firearm_violence		0	1			(-1.98,			(-1.13,	2.15)	0.98	,	3.13)
	6	_	6	15	1.30	<i></i>	2.00		(a a -	1.88)	2.65	<i>(</i> , , , , , , , , , ,	• `
Drowning		7				(0.61,	1.08)	1.08	(0.27,			(1.73,	3.57)
							1.95						
Other specified, classifiable	749	1417	1508	1510	1.89	(1.84,	2.	2.01	(1.95, 2.07)	2.02	(1.93,	2.10)	
Other specified.							1.21						
not elsewhere classified	203	222	254	325	1.09	(0.98,)	1.25	(1.12,	1.38)	1.60	(1.42,	1.78)
Unspecified	1098	2140	2466	2112	1.95	(1.90.	2)	2.25	(2.20.	2.30)	1.92	(1.85.	2.00)
·						()	/		()	,		、 ,	/

FN, First Nations; OLT, other land transport; 95%CI, 95% Confidence interval



Figure 3-1. Crude incidence rate of non-fatal injuries (emergency department visits and hospitalizations) by the mechanism of injury


Figure 3-2. Crude incidence rate of fatal injuries by the mechanism of injury

Chapter 4. Agricultural injury for farm and non-farm children in Alberta

4.1 Introduction

Agriculture has been recognized as one of the most dangerous occupational sectors in Canada as well as across the world due to the high rates of fatal injuries.¹⁻³ A farm is a unique environment where the farming workplace and living environment cannot easily be separated. Therefore, the paediatric population participating in farm work at a young age are exposed to agricultural hazards such as tractors, animals, machinery, chemicals and bodies of water ⁴⁻⁶ as well as by residing or playing on farms where these hazards exist. Among all farm-related deaths of children, 69.1-82.0 % occurred among non-working children, ⁷⁻⁹ and 70.5% of those non-occupational deaths were to young children aged 6 and under.⁷ The hazardous agricultural environment has resulted in high rates of fatality for children in Canada and the U.S. ranging from 6.1 to 13.7 per 100.000 population per vear.^{3,10-14} Approximatley 40% of farm injuries in children seen in emergency departments leave them with long-term disabilities.¹⁵ In Alberta, 69 children and youths under 20 years of age died from agricultural injuries between 1990 and 2009.16

Despite prior efforts to reveal the risk of paediatric agricultural injuries, there have been limitations in the provision of the following accurate information on agricultural injuries: 1) the relative burden of agricultural injuries in different paediatric populations exposed to farm hazards and; 2) comparisons and burden of non-agricultural injuries versus agricultural injuries. Firstly, farm-related injuries can be experienced by a range of paediatric populations including children living on farms as well as ones visiting, neighbouring, or being hired on farms. However, the majority of prior studies on farm-related injuries using administrative health databases have aimed at examining agricultural injuries for the general paediatric population as a whole.⁷⁻¹⁴ This existing approach may be efficient to illustrate general problems from agricultural injury for all children in a population, but has restrictions in accessing children's group-specific risks of agricultural injuries.

A few studies examined the demographic composition of paediatric agricultural injuries reporting that 51-77.8% of agricultural injuries occurred to children living on a farm ^{7,8,17} and that 60.2-76.0% were to a child of a farm owner.^{7,8,11} Results from these studies suggest that while the majority of agricultural injuries occurred to farm children, a substantial proportion of farm injuries are suffered by non-farm children. Although these publications provide an image of the diverse groups of children affected by farm hazards, a detailed profile of agricultural injury in terms of incidence rates, relative risks, and causes particular to each specific group of children has not been raised. Secondly, there has been a lack of comparative information on agricultural paediatric injuries contrasted with overall or non-agricultural events in terms of distinctive features and the relative size of injury problems, since the majority of prior research on farm-related injuries have focused on detailed descriptions of only agricultural injury.

The objective of this study was to compare the rates and patterns of agricultural injury incidence between farm and several groups of non-farm children under 18 years of age in Alberta, and to investigate characteristics of agricultural injury in comparison with non-agricultural injuries. Comprehensive and precise understanding of the risk of agricultural injury sustained by diverse groups of children would help to set up the context to apply farm safety standard regulations and to develop target-specific practical guidelines for paediatric farm safety interventions.

4.2 Materials and methods

4.2.1 Study Design

A retrospective cohort study was designed with a fixed population, where children who met the inclusion criteria in the fiscal year of 1998 were selected and followed until they became 18 years of age within the study period (January 1, 1999 to December 31, 2010). A population-based approach utilized the linkage of multiple administrative health databases to examine the incidence of all-cause injury.

4.2.2 Study location

Alberta farms occupied 21.6% of all farms in Canada representing the third

largest province in Canada with regards to the number of farms.¹⁸ The main types of farming undertaken in Alberta were cattle ranching and oilseed/grain farming.¹⁸ In 2006, Alberta's population comprised 82.1% urban residents and 17.9% rural ones, with a quarter of those located rurally were farm families.¹⁹ Alberta has a social health care system where all medically necessary services are universally provided in accordance with the Canada Health Act.²⁰

4.2.3 Study participants

The study population consisted of virtually all farm children and representative samples of non-farm children younger than 18 years of age who lived in Alberta in the fiscal year of 1998/99 and were not lost to follow up before January 1, 1999. As a closed population, there was no new entry into the study population after the initial selection of subjects. Subjects left the study due to death, migration or by becoming 18 years of age.

Farm children were identified from the all-ages Alberta farm population list, which was set up from a probabilistic linkage of the Farm Fuel Tax subsidy list in 1998 and the Health Care Insurance Plan Registry file in the same year. Farm children were classified into rural-living and urban-living farm children by their residential areas in 1998. Classification of rural or urban residence was based on postal code from the registry information: a postal code with a "0" as the second character denotes a rural area where there are no letter carriers and residents go to the corner postal box or the post office to pick up their mail.²¹

Non-farm children (rural and urban children) were extracted from two

representative samples of all-ages non-farm rural and urban population that were randomly selected from the Alberta Health Care Insurance Plan registry with the equivalent sample size to the all-age farm population, respectively. Non-farm rural children were further subdivided into First Nation (FN) and non-FN children based on health insurance premium status, for consideration of differing injury characteristics for FN children from non-FN children.^{22,23}

4.2.4 Data Sources

Injury data for 12 calendar years (1999 to 2010) were gathered from three databases maintained by Alberta Health (AH), Government of Alberta. Three heath databases included Alberta Vital Statistics File, Hospital Discharge Abstract Database, and the Ambulatory Care Classification System that contain data for mortality, hospital admissions, and emergency department (ED) visits, respectively. The three health databases were deterministically linked to the Health Care Insurance Plan Registry file using scrambled personal health number (PHN) being merged into a single file.

The Health Care Insurance Plan Registry file provided demographic information of subjects including age, sex, 3 digits of postal code, migration, health zone, and Alberta health insurance premium status. The insurance premium status was used as a proxy measure of socioeconomic status (SES) and categorized into high SES (i.e., no subsidy group) and low SES (i.e., FN treaty-status Aboriginals, full premium subsidy, and partial premium subsidy groups) in this study.

4.2.5 Injury identification

Injury data included all medical records that contained the following International Classification of Disease (ICD) diagnostic codes or external causes of injury codes (E-codes) for "injury and poisoning" in any of diagnostic fields, inclusive of early complication or sequelae of trauma but removing complications of medical and surgical care and misadventures;

a. Diagnostic codes: 800-995 except 909(.3, .5) (ICD-9) or SOO-T98 except T80-T88 (ICD-10)
b. E-codes: E800-E869, E880-E929, E950-E999 (ICD-9) or V01-Y36, Y85-Y87, Y89 (ICD-10)

Agricultural injuries were identified when any of the following E-codes are founded in the health database coded with ICD-9 or ICD-10;

a. E849.1 (ICD-9) or U98.7 (ICD-10): occurred on a farm (farm buildings and land under cultivation excluding farm house and home premises of farm).

b. E919.0 (ICD-9) or W30 (ICD-10): contact with agricultural machinery

c. V84 (ICD-10): occupant of agriculture machines injured in transport accident

d. E863, E950.6, E980.7 (ICD-9) or X48, X68, Y18 (ICD-10): poisoning by agricultural chemical

Non-fatal agricultural injuries were captured by linking multiple data sources and manually checking and filling the E-codes of farm injuries within the same injury episode. However, as for fatal agricultural injuries, virtually all agricultural machinery deaths but only a portion of non-machinery agricultural deaths were be able to be detected. Death certificates usually contain only a maximum of one E-code for the cause of death so that E-codes for agricultural machinery injuries generally were included, but E-codes for the place of occurrence were usually not included resulting in limited availability to describe non-machinery agricultural injuries. In this study, non-machinery agricultural deaths treated in any medical facility for the fatal injury were identified through multiple data linkage, but ones without any associated medical facility visits could not be identified.

Injury records were classified by nature, body site injured, mechanisms, and intent of injury into subcategories based on categorization tables, where detailed ICD diagnostic codes or external causes (E-codes) were assigned to each category for each version of the ICD coding system. The categorization tables followed previously published frameworks or matrices including the Barell Injury Diagnosis Matrix, Injury Mortality Diagnosis Matrix, and ICD-10 and ICD-9 comparability table for mechanism and intent codes.²⁴⁻²⁶ To reduce the potential errors due to diagnostic differences or coding discrepancies between different ICD versions, sufficiently broad categories of injury (8 body sites, 16 natures, 5 types of intents, and 19 mechanisms) were utilized. A single injury case might contain multiple E-codes for mechanisms (e.g., fall and burn). An injury rate, but might count multiple times in respective E-code categories for the generation of cause-specific injury rates.

4.2.6 Injury episode

As a unit of injury case, an episode of injury was created to reduce the likelihood of false injury incidence counts where there were multiple visits for an injury event. Across the four combined databases, all the subordinate visits for one injury event were included within one injury episode. To construct the injury episode, first, all injury data from multiple sources were merged together and sorted by the subject's id and medical service date. Beginning with the first injury record for each child, the immediate next injury record for the same child was determined to examine whether the record was a resultant visit of the previous injury record or another new injury episode for the child based on criteria below.

The criteria were built from detailed data examination and modification of the criteria used in previous publications,²⁷⁻²⁹ while trying to be conservative in determining a record as a follow-up visit so as not to lose any incident cases. To be determined as a follow-up visit of a previous injury record, the injury record needed to meet at least one of the following criteria compared with the previous injury record: the injury record (1) had ICD codes for sequelae or late effect of injury, (2) appeared on the same day, (3) occurred within 7 days in the same category of body region or the nature of injury, (4) occurred within 180 days in the same category of both body region and nature of injury, or (5) occurred within 180 days with the exactly same diagnostic codes in all ten ICD diagnostic fields compared with the previous injury record. An episode identification for fatal cases was manually conducted, as the Vital Statistics database contained only a single E-code without any supporting diagnostic codes. An additional three years of injury records prior to 1999 were used to eliminate any incident injuries that occurred before 1999 and were treated subsequently after 1999. For each injury episode, only the record at the highest level of care was extracted and used in the analysis while playing a role as a proxy of severity for an injury episode. If there were multiple records at the same highest level of care (e.g., two hospitalization

records for a child), the first record was chosen.

A child may experience multiple episodes of injury during the study period. To consider this, a time to multiple injury episodes model was used in all analysis, where all injury episodes of interest for a subject were taken into account, and time at risk of an injury episode for the subject continued after an injury episode until the true end of follow-up of the child.

4.2.7 Statistical analysis

Descriptive statistics for demographic variables (age, gender, proxy SES, and health service zone by residential area) and episodes of agricultural injury were generated by children's group and proxy severity of injury (i.e., the highest level of care per episode) using frequencies, proportions, and rates. Differences in demographic variables between children's groups were tested using one-way ANOVA and chi-square statistics. Characteristics of agricultural injuries in comparison with non-agricultural injuries were examined including demographics of children injured, lethality using the injury pyramid, intent, mechanisms, and nature of injury.

Overall and variable-specific crude incidence rates of agricultural injury (i.e., injury episodes per 100,000 person-years) were calculated, where the numerator was the number of injury episodes allowing multiple episodes per child, and the denominator was the sum of time at risk (i.e., total follow-up time) of all subjects. For overall injury, age-and sex-adjusted incidence rates by the level of care were generated with 95% confidence interval (CI) using the direct standardization method³⁰ and the 2006 Canadian Census population³¹ as the standard. For cause-specific injury, crude relative risks (or rate ratios: RRs) of injury for a children's group compared to urban children were calculated with 95% CI. Regarding the follow-up time of an individual, the time point of the end of follow-up was the earliest time point of the following time points: the first move-out from Alberta, the first move-out from rural to urban areas or vice versa, the first discontinuance of registration of the Alberta Health Insurance plan, becoming 18 years of age, or the end of study period.

As an analytical analysis, to examine the relationship between injury incidence and covariates, a recurrent event survival analysis³²⁻³⁴ using Cox Proportional-Hazard (PH) regression with counting process formation and clustered robust standard errors was carried out. From the Cox Proportional-PH regression, hazard ratios (HRs) of injury for each children's group in comparison to urban children were estimated with a 95% confidence interval adjusting for potential confounders (i.e., age, sex, and proxy SES). Clustered robust standard errors were estimated to consider correlations within multiple outcomes of data for a child. In the recurrent event survival analysis, a time to multiple injury episodes model was used by allowing multiple injury episodes for a subject, and segmenting the total follow-up time of the subject by multiple time points of injury episodes. Therefore, if a child had multiple events, the child had more than one record (i.e., long data structure), and time at risk of a recurrent event for the child was from the time point of the previous injury episode to that of the next injury episode (i.e., counting process formation) and it was assumed that the

recurrent events of the child are independent. Data management and statistical analyses were conducted using SPSS 18.0 and STATA MP 12.1.

4.3 Results

From 1999 to 2010 (12 years of follow-up) there were a total of 1,839 agricultural injury episodes (1,616 ED visits, 225 hospitalizations, and 8 deaths as the highest level of care received per episode) among 115,378 children under 18 years of age. All of the episodes contained valid E-codes for injury and poisonings. The majority of farm children (77.4%) lived in rural areas, but 22.7% of farm children resided in urban areas. Rural children were composed of 83.0% of non-FN and 17.0% of FN children. FN children living in rural areas represented 87.2% of all FN children in the study population. The rest of FN children (12.8% of all FN, 1034 urban-living FN children) were classified into urban children comprising 3% of urban children.

4.3.1 Demographic Characteristics

Demographic characteristics of five groups of children (urban, rural FN, rural non-FN, rural-farm, and urban-farm) are reported in Table 4-1. The majority of farm children lived in rural areas, but 22.7% of farm children resided in urban areas. The FN children's group residing in rural areas represented 87.2% of all FN children in the study population. Rural FN children were younger (mean age: 8.9 years, p<0.05) and more likely to live in the north health services zone of Alberta

(53.6%) than other groups of children. Farm (urban, rural-living) and rural FN children were more subsidized (22.1%, 31.1%, 100%, p<0.001) than the other groups (18.8%, 17.9%). The two groups of rural children experienced more loss to follow-up before 18 years of age during the study period than other groups, mainly due to relocation to urban areas (81.6% of all losses for rural children), while farm children (urban or rural-living) showed the most stable residency with the fewest loss to follow up (7.4% and 9.7% respectively).

4.3.2 Frequency and incidence rate

The age- and sex-adjusted rate of agricultural injury episode at the ED visit level and above combined was the highest in rural-living farm children (672.3 injuries/100,000 person-years; 95% CI, 577.2-767.4), followed by urban-living farm children (369.4; 95% CI, 243.6-495.2) and rural non-FN children (180.2; 95% CI, 130.1-230.3) while being the lowest in urban children (23.7; 95% CI, 6.0-41.3) (Table 4-2). As for agricultural injuries at the ED visit level and above combined, hazard ratio (HR) of injury was significantly higher for farm (adjusted HRs: 16.63-26.91) and rural children (adjusted HRs: 2.68-8.21) compared with urban children (Table 4-3).

According to the results from multivariate Cox PH regression for agricultural injuries at ED visit level and above combined, injury rates significantly and consistently increase with age, and children at a low SES experienced significantly higher rates of injury compared to children with no-subsidy for health care insurance premium (adjusted HRs= 1.44, 95% CI,

Sex

Males experienced higher rates of agricultural injury than females across children's groups and most care levels (Figure 4-1), accounting for 71.7% of all injured individuals with agricultural injury episodes, overall. Hazard ratio of agricultural injury for males was significantly higher than females (Adjusted HR=2.30, 95% CI, 2.07-2.55) (Table 4-3). The sex disparity of agricultural injuries tended to be intensified for children's groups at a higher risk of agricultural injuries as well as more serious injuries, presenting increased risk of severe agricultural injuries for farm and rural males: when injuries at the ED visit level and above combined were considered, the relative risk of farm injury for males to females were the highest for rural-living farm children (RR=2.78) followed by urban-living farm children (2.06) and rural non-FN children (1.72).Among rural-living farm children, the RR increased with proxy severity of injury with a RR of 2.73 for ED visits, 3.07 for hospitalizations, and 4.68 for deaths (Table 4-4).

Mechanisms of injury

For most mechanisms of injury, cause-specific incidence rates of non-fatal injuries (ED visits and hospitalizations combined) were the highest in rural-living farm children, followed by urban-living farm children and rural non-FN children (Table 4-5). The most common cause of non-fatal agricultural injuries was natural/environmental injuries (i.e., injuries due to natural hazards including animals, plant, lightning, excessive heat or cold, etc.) across all children's groups (19.5-22.2% by children group) (Table 4-6). Natural/environmental injuries, machinery, and falls were the top three mechanisms across the two farm groups and the rural non-FN group who were at higher risk of overall agricultural injury. Among rural-living farm children, the top three mechanisms were natural/environmental (115.6 injuries/100,000 person-years), machinery (105.3) and falls (81.0). Urban children suffered greater proportion of other land transport (OLT; land transport injuries other than motor vehicle traffic, pedal cyclist, pedestrian injuries) (17.8%) than other groups (Table 4-6).

For fatal injuries, agricultural machinery was the leading cause of agricultural deaths (6 out of 8 deaths). Deaths occurred mainly among rural-living farm children (6 deaths), for males (7 deaths), and at 5-9 years of age at the time of event (5 deaths). It should be noted that there was a possibility of underestimation of non-machinery deaths in this study.

Agricultural injury within the context of overall injuries

Agricultural injury comprised a small portion of overall injuries in urban and rural FN children, but represented a larger proportion on serious injuries for farm and rural children. For rural-living farm children, agricultural injuries accounted for 9.0% and 11.3% of any-cause hospitalized injuries and fatal injuries, respectively. Agricultural injuries also comprised a considerable

proportion for a number of specific mechanisms or nature of injury events that

were more likely related to farm hazards including machinery-related injuries, amputations and crush injuries. Overall, agricultural machinery injuries accounted for 35.3% of all machinery injuries in the entire study population combined. Farm-related amputations accounted for 13.9 % of all amputations for all participants and 22.9% of those for rural-living farm children. Farm-related crush injuries comprised 7.2% and 12.7% of all crush injuries for all participants and for rural-living farm children, respectively.

4.3.3 Agricultural versus non-agricultural injury

Injury pyramid

Agricultural injuries represented a different shape for the injury pyramid than those of non-agricultural injuries. For agricultural injuries, there were fewer hospitalizations and ED visits per one death (a ratio of 1: 28: 201 for death, hospitalizations, ED visits) than in non-agricultural injuries (1: 31: 886).

Sex and age at the injury

For both agricultural and non-agricultural injuries, males were injured more often than females, but the sex disparity in injury risk was greater for agricultural injuries compared with non-agricultural injuries: for injuries at ED visit level and above combined, males were at 2.39 times (95% CI: 2.15-2.64) greater risk for non-agricultural injuries than females versus 1.52 times (95% CI: 1.50-1.53) for non-agricultural injuries. In terms of age at the time of injury event, the proportion of older patients increased with the proxy-severity of injury in non-agricultural injuries, while agricultural injuries showed the opposite pattern with there being an increased risk of more severe injury for

younger children: for non-agricultural injuries, older children aged 15-17 years comprised 36.9%, 42.2%, and 59.4% of ED visit, hospitalization, and deaths, respectively, but 43.3%, 25.3%, and 25.0% for agricultural injuries.

Intent

Agricultural injuries were more likely to be unintentional than non-agricultural injuries. In non-agricultural injuries, 92.6%, 89.7%, and 74.8% of ED visits, hospitalization, and deaths were unintentional, while in farm-related injuries, unintentional injury explained 99.6 %, 99.6% and 100% of ED visits, hospitalization, and deaths, respectively.

Mechanisms

There were considerable differences in the mechanisms responsible for agricultural and non-agricultural injuries. Almost half non-agricultural injuries were due to 'struck by or against' and 'falls', whereas agricultural injuries were mainly attributed by 'natural/environmental', 'machinery', and 'falls' (Table 4-7). Even within the same category of injury mechanisms, the detailed mechanisms were different. For example, for natural/environmental injuries, the majority of these injuries involved farm animals (i.e., related with mammals except dogs, 87.6%) in agricultural injuries, but other kinds of living things (i.e., related with

nonvenomous insects/arthropods or hornets/wasps/bees, 78.7%) in non-agricultural injuries. Another example, OLT injuries were mainly related with agricultural-vehicle (43.6%), animal riding (42.9%), and a small portion of all-terrain vehicles (ATVs) (5.3%) in agricultural injuries. However, in non-agricultural injuries, OLT mostly consisted of ATVs (44.2%) and animal riding injuries (27.1%).

Nature of injury

The main types of nature of injury were similar for both agricultural and non-agricultural injuries: wounds, contusions, fractures, and dislocations, although the proportion and rank of each were slightly different. The most common nature of injury was wound (32.0%) for agricultural injuries and dislocations (21.5%) for non-agricultural injuries (Table 4-7). Amputations and crush injuries were notably more common among agricultural injuries than in non-agricultural injuries. Agricultural amputations mostly occurred to farm children (27 out of total 29 amputations) and males (24 amputations), among farm children, and 41.4% of agricultural amputations (12 episodes) were due to farm machinery.

4.4 Discussion

This study explored the incidence and characteristics of agricultural injuries among five children's groups as well as in comparison with non-agricultural injuries or injury overall. Previous research has mainly conducted a non-comparative evaluation of a burden of agricultural injuries (i.e., rates and main causes of agricultural injuries) for general pediatric populations combined,⁷⁻¹⁴ or compared occupational injuries for young workers.^{14,35} Using a different approach that tracked all injuries (both agricultural and non-agricultural injuries) for children identified, this study was able to provide a valid and comparative assessment of the incidence of agricultural injuries between children's groups.

Agricultural injury rates appeared to be the highest among rural-living farm children (583.7 injuries/100,000 person-years) and the lowest among urban children (19.2 injuries/100,000 person-years). By applying these injury rates and the size of each group's population in Alberta, the actual burden of agricultural injuries by children's group could be roughly estimated. Given the fact that the size of the rural (non-farm) and urban (non-farm) population in Alberta were about 2.9 and 17.4 times greater than farm children,¹⁹ it is assumed that approximately 50%, 30%, and 20% of agricultural injuries at the ED visit level and above were sustained by farm, non-farm urban, and non-farm rural children, respectively, indicating the wide extent of the population at considerable risk of agricultural injuries. These results are similar to the findings from previous research that have reported that a majority of agricultural injuries occurred to children of farm owners (69.4-76.0%)^{7,8} or farm residents' children (51-77.8%)^{7,8,17} and that 60.2% of fatal pediatric agricultural injuries were to the children of the farm owner/operators, followed by farm visitors (10.6%), other relatives of owner (9.9%), and hired workers (9.1%).¹¹ Natural/environmental injuries (mainly due to farm animals) dominated ED visit injuries for most children's groups implying a need for attention to carefully consider the populations involved with these types of injuries. Animal-related injuries have been reported as one of the main mechanisms of non-fatal agricultural injuries.³⁶⁻³⁸

The rates of agricultural injury from this study appeared to be lower in general than ones from previous studies: 2.8 deaths and 70.2 hospitalizations per 100,000 person-years from this study versus 6.1-7.0 deaths ^{3,11} and 98.3 hospitalizations³⁹ per 100,000 people per year in Canada in prior reports. However, it may be difficult to compare the present results with earlier reports because of differences in the study designs in terms of the calculation of injury rates (episode vs. services, person time vs. injury proportions), study designs (cohort study vs. cross-sectional study), and study populations (specific groups vs. general populations).

Agricultural injuries were found to have different features from non-agricultural injuries in that agricultural injuries were more likely to be unintentional and lethal than non-agricultural injuries. Also, those with agricultural injuries were more likely to be serious, males, and younger. Previous research has reported that young farm children were more vulnerable to agricultural injuries, particularly to machine injury even when not participating in work (e.g., run over by a tractor when a bystander),^{7,9,40} and that parent supervision in close proximity (e.g., while working on the farm) increased the injury rates for children.⁷ The leading mechanisms of farm-related injuries at the ED visit level and above combined were natural/environmental injuries, machinery, and falls, while the main mechanisms of non-agricultural injuries were struck by or against, fall, and transport-related injuries. Agricultural machinery injuries were the most lethal, and of more concern for farm children. Among children, various types of machinery has been reported as the main cause of agricultural deaths comprising 47-68.0% of agricultural deaths in Canada^{8,11,41} and 25-29.5% in the U.S.^{9,12,13} in the 1990s with a higher proportion for occupational agricultural injuries^{9,13}. Machinery has also been reported as the cause of 46-53.3% of pediatric agricultural hospitalizations.^{11,37}

There were possibilities that farm-related injuries, especially fatal injuries were underestimated in the present study. It was observed that E-codes for on-farm injuries were more likely to be missed than diagnostic codes, especially for the ED visit records, and particularly for visits following the initial visit for the same injury episode. Although this study tried to capture agricultural injuries at the most comprehensive level using the linkage of multiple data sources, a complete capturing of agricultural injuries could not be guaranteed if none of the medical records of an episode reported the E-code for the place of injury occurrence. For agricultural fatal injuries, there was possibility that a risk of the injury was underestimated if they occurred outside of any health facility and were non- machinery agricultural death. The proportion of machinery deaths among agricultural deaths seems to be higher compared with prior studies (75% vs. 47-68.0%^{8,11,41}). Despite the small number, as well as a potential underestimation of agricultural deaths in the present study, the inclusion of death data provided a

chance to roughly depict the injury pyramid of the incidence of agricultural injury compared with non-agricultural injuries.

When examining the injury pyramid in this study, agricultural injuries were found to be more lethal than non-agricultural injuries, but considering the possibility of underestimation of agricultural deaths, the lethality of agricultural injuries might be even more problematic. Concerns of underestimation of agricultural injuries emphasize the need to incorporate E-codes for the place of injury occurrence in administrative health databases, especially in vital statistics death data. Also, continuous and extended operations of agriculture-specific injury surveillance⁴² are required to complement the limitations of administrative databases.

Although a reduction of overall pediatric injury rates over time has consistently been presented from prior publications,^{43,44} there have been mixed results (no large differences vs. reduction) regarding the temporal trend of agricultural injury rates.^{11,13,45,46} Diverse intervention programs and efforts to prevent childhood agricultural injuries have been tried, but the impact of the initiatives on the reduction of injury rates have rarely been evaluated in a valid way.^{47,48}

As for recommendation for prevention strategies, 1) Government regulations need to be instituted, which include a minimum age for operating farm equipment, tractor certification and using helmets for ATVs; 2) Regular education for farm safety lessons **at** school⁵⁵⁻⁵⁷ would be effective for both farm and non-farm children who could visit a farm; 3) Education for the parents of farm

children would be essential. Providing safe play areas (i.e., separated from farm work place) and adequate supervision for young children as well as an appropriate assignment of farm work to children using NAGCAT^{53,54} are needed; 4) Along with traditional educational initiatives for farm safety, new interventional approaches recently introduced including multifaceted interventions^{49,50}, community-based interventions^{51,58,59}, participatory programs^{51,52} can be actively applied for the pediatric farm safety. The precise picture of farm injury risk among subgroups of children from this study would help to set specified and targeted intervention strategies for each pediatric population.

Limitations of the present study included the following: 1) agricultural injuries, especially agricultural deaths, might be underestimated in this study, if E-codes for on-farm injuries were not recorded in any of medical databases for an episode, although this underestimation would likely be non-differential among comparison groups; 2) the use of administrative databases has inherent weaknesses including the possibility of misclassification of injuries due to errors in coding and charting of the injury code, and limited information on circumstances that led to injuries (e.g., occupational injury or not), and various risk factors other than age, sex, and proxy socio-economic status. However, these limitations are not likely to exist differentially between groups as the data came from a uniform health system; 3) misclassification of a proxy of socio-economic status for FN children may occur. All FN treaty-status Aboriginals in the insurance premium status in Alberta were classified into children in a low SES status. However,

children's SES status does not appeared to considerably affect the results as there were not much differences between adjusted and unadjusted hazard ratios of agricultural injury; 4) there is a possibility that some differential misclassification of injury events occurred if healthcare seeking behaviors or accessibility to health care services differ between farm and non-farm residents. If rural populations are less likely to seek or get treatment, possibly due to the longer distances to health care facilities,^{60,61} their injury rates, especially for minor injuries,⁶² may be underestimated. One other thing to be aware of is that the results of this study are more likely be influenced by older age groups as this study followed up a fixed study population over time without the addition of young children into the study population.

The present study has several strengths. This study likely captured most, if not all, injuries that were treated in medical facilities by using multiple sources of information; especially the detection of agricultural injuries was enhanced through manual searching for potential agricultural injury records within an injury episode in the multiple databases linked. This study was able to provide an accurate picture of injury by the highest level of care received, removing all the subsequent medical records for an episode. The highest level of medical care was used as a proxy severity of injury. Thirdly, valid and accurate assessment of incident injury rates (i.e., person-time incidence rates) were available by identifying injury incidence (i.e., injury episodes, numerators in the rate calculation) through multiple medical records with an allowance of multiple injury events per child, and by using person-time at risk of each individual as the denominator in the rate calculation. Also, external validity of the results from this study increased as it was population-based with a large sample size. Lastly, the use of administrative databases reduced selection bias for the sample as well as information bias (i.e., observer bias, recall bias). Because of these strengths, the present study was able to provide a comprehensive and accurate picture of incident agricultural injuries within all injuries as well as among specified pediatric populations.

4.5 Conclusions

This study followed five groups of Albertan children (115,378 children) under 18 years of age for 12 years to compare rates and cause of incident agricultural injuries using multiple administrative databases that were linked. Incidence rates of agricultural injuries were highest for the rural-living farm children, but considerable incidence rates were observed among urban-living farm children and non-FN rural children providing insight into the impact of agricultural injuries on broader pediatric populations. Agricultural injuries appeared to have distinct characteristics in various aspects (e.g., sex and age distributions of victims, and intent, severity, mechanisms and nature of injuries) from non-agricultural injuries. These findings suggest the need for specialized approaches to prevent agricultural injuries as well as the need to extend agricultural injury controls to non-farming populations, along with specified strategies to each pediatric population classified in this study.

References

1. Sharpe A, Hardt J. Five deaths a day: Workplace fatalities in canada,1993-2005. 2006;CSLS Research Paper 2006-04.

2. National Safety Council, ed. Injury facts 2008 edition. ; 2010.

3. Pickett W, Hartling L, Brison R, Guernsey J, Canadian Agr Injury Surveillance Program. Fatal work-related farm injuries in canada, 1991-1995. *Can Med Assoc J*. 1999;160(13):1843-1848.

4. Marlenga B, Pickett W, Berg RL. Agricultural work activities reported for children and youth on 498 north american farms. *J Agric Saf Health*. 2001;7(4):241-252.

5. Browning SR, Westneat SC, Szeluga R. Tractor driving among kentucky farm youth: Results from the farm family health and hazard surveillance project. *J Agric Saf Health*. 2001;7(3):155-167.

6. Cheryl H, Kelley JD, Jane G. Pediatric exposure to agricultrual machinery: Implication for primary prevention. *ournal of Agromedicine*. 1994;1(1):57-74.

7. Pickett W, Brison RJ, Berg RL, Zentner J, Linneman J, Marlenga B. Pediatric farm injuries involving non-working children injured by a farm work hazard: Five priorities for primary prevention. *Inj Prev.* 2005;11(1):6-11.

8. Morrongiello BA, Pickett W, Berg RL, Linneman JG, Brison RJ, Marlenga B. Adult supervision and pediatric injuries in the agricultural worksite. *Accid Anal Prev*. 2008;40(3):1149-1156.

9. Goldcamp M, Hendricks KJ, Myers JR. Farm fatalities to youth 1995-2000: A comparison by age groups. *J Safety Res.* 2004;35(2):151-157.

10. Rivara FP. Fatal and nonfatal farm injuries to children and adolescents in the united states. *Pediatrics*. 1985;76(4):567-573.

11. Canadian Agricultural Injury Reporting (CAIR). Fatal and hospitalized agricultural injuries among children and youth in canada. http://cair-sbac.ca/childrep.html. Updated 2007.

12. Rivara FP. Fatal and non-fatal farm injuries to children and adolescents in the united states, 1990-3. *Inj Prev.* 1997;3(3):190-194.

13. Myers JR, Adekoya N. Fatal on-farm injuries among youth 16 to 19 years of age: 1982-1994. *J Agric Saf Health*. 2001;7(2):101-112.

14. Hard DL, Myers JR. Fatal work-related injuries in the agriculture production sector among youth in the united states, 1992-2002. *Journal of agromedicine*. 2006;11(2):57-65.

15. Swanson JA, Sachs MI, Dahlgren KA, Tinguely SJ. Accidental farm injuries in children. *Am J Dis Child*. 1987;141(12):1276-1279.

16. Alberta Centre for Injury Control and Research (ACICR). Children and youth injuries in alberta. 2009.

17. Hendricks KJ, Goldcamp EM. Injury surveillance for youth on farms in the U.S., 2006. *J Agric Saf Health*. 2010;16(4):279-291.

18. Alberta Agriculture and Food. 2006 census of agriculture for alberta. . September 2007.

19. Statistics Canada. Farm population and total population by rural and urban population, by province (2001 and 2006 census of agriculture and census of population). 2008.

20. Health Canada. Canada health act. http://www.hc-sc.gc.ca/hcs-sss/medi-assur/cha-lcs/index-eng.php.

21. Valerie dP, Roland B, Ray DB. Definitions of rural
str /> ... 2001;Rural and Small Town Canada Analysis Bulletin Catalogue no. 21-006-XIE Vol. 3, No.3.

22. Oliver LN KD. Unintentional injury hospitalizations among children and youth in areas with a high percentage of Aboriginal identity residents: 2001/2002 to 2005/2006. *Health Rep.* 2012;23(3):7-15.

23. Bratu I, Lowe D, Phillips L. The impact of fatal pediatric trauma on aboriginal children. *J Pediatr Surg.* 2013;48(5):1065-1070.

24. Barell V, Aharonson-Daniel L, Fingerhut LA, et al. An introduction to the barell body region by nature of injury diagnosis matrix. *Inj Prev.* 2002;8(2):91-96.

25. Fingerhut LA, Warner M. The ICD-10 injury mortality diagnosis matrix. *Inj Prev*. 2006;12(1):24-29.

26. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention's (CDC). Injury in the united states: 2007 chartbook. . March 2008.

27. Lestina DC, Miller TR, Smith GS. Creating injury episodes using medical claims data. *J Trauma*. 1998;45(3):565-569.

28. Carter MW, Porell FW. The effect of sentinel injury on medicare expenditures over time. *J Am Geriatr Soc*. 2011;59(3):406-416.

29. Braun PA, Beaty BL, DiGuiseppi C, Steiner JF. Recurrent early childhood injuries among disadvantaged children in primary care settings. *Inj Prev*. 2005;11(4):251-255.

30. Ann S, George R.S. Chapter 3. comparing disease frequencies. In: *Essentials of epidemiology in public health*. Jones and Bartlett Publications; 2008:59-76.

31. Statistics Canada. 2006 census: Data products. http://www12.statcan.ca/census-recensement/2006/dp-pd/index-eng.cfm.

32. Kleinbaum DG, Klein M. Chapter 8. recurrent event survival analysis. In: *Survival analysis: A self-learning text, third edition*. Spinger; 2012:363-379.

33. Kelly PJ, Lim LL-. Survival analysis for recurrent event data: An application to childhood infectious diseases. *Stat Med*. 2000;19(1):13-33.

34. Andersen PK, Gill RD. Cox's regression model for counting processes: A large sample study. *Annals of Satistics*. 1982;10:1100-1120.

35. Miller ME, Kaufman JD. Occupational injuries among adolescents in washington state, 1988-1991. *Am J Ind Med.* 1998;34(2):121-132.

36. Gerberich SG, Gibson RW, French LR, et al. Injuries among children and youth in farm households: Regional rural injury study-I. *Inj Prev*. 2001;7(2):117-122.

37. Zietlow SP, Swanson JA. Childhood farm injuries. *Am Surg.* 1999;65(7):693-697.

38. Pickett W, Brison RJ, Niezgoda H, Chipman ML. Nonfatal farm injuries in ontario: A population-based survey. *Accid Anal Prev.* 1995;27(4):425-433.

39. Canadian Agricultural Injury Reporting (CAIR). Fatal and hospitalized agricultural injuries among children and youth in canada. http://www.caisp.ca/tecrep.html2007.

40. Brison RJ, Pickett W, Berg RL, Linneman J, Zentner J, Marlenga B. Fatal agricultural injuries in preschool children: Risks, injury patterns and strategies for prevention. *CMAJ*. 2006;174(12):1723-1726.

41. Alberta Centre for Injury Control & Research (ACICR). Agricultural-related injury deaths in alberta, 1990-2009. http://www.acicr.ca/documents-reports/injury-data-reports2009.

42. Hartling L, Pickett W. The canadian agricultural injury surveillance program: A new injury control initiative. *Chronic Dis Can.* 1998;19(3):108-111.

43. Public Health Agency of Canada. Child and youth injury in review, 2009 edition –Spotlight on consumer product safety. . 2009.

44. Safety Kids Canada. Child and youth unintentional injury: 1994-2003 10 years in review. 2006;1-888-SAFE-TIPS.

45. Lim GW, Belton KL, Pickett W, Schopflocher DP, Voaklander DC. Fatal and non-fatal machine-related injuries suffered by children in alberta, canada, 1990-1997. *Am J Ind Med*. 2004;45(2):177-185.

46. Hendricks KJ, Layne LA, Goldcamp EM, Myers JR. Injuries to youth living on U.S. farms in 2001 with comparison to 1998. *J Agromed*. 2005;10(4):19-26.

47. Hartling L, Brison RJ, Crumley ET, Klassen TP, Pickett W. A systematic review of interventions to prevent childhood farm injuries. *Pediatrics*. 2004;114(4):e483-96.

48. DeRoo LA, Rautiainen RH. A systematic review of farm safety interventions. *Am J Prev Med*. 2000;18(4 Suppl):51-62.

49. Rasmussen K, Carstensen O, Lauritsen JM, Glasscock DJ, Hansen ON, Jensen UF. Prevention of farm injuries in denmark. *Scand J Work Environ Health*. 2003;29(4):288-296.

50. Donham KJ, Rautiainen RH, Lange JL, Schneiders S. Injury and illness costs in the certified safe farm study. *Journal of Rural Health*. 2007;23(4):348-355.

51. Deguchi K, Oono M, Kitamura K, Nishida Y. Childhood injury prevention through community-based participatory research: A multidimensional approach in the love and safety omura study in nagasaki, japan. . Inj. Prev. 2012;18(Suppl. 1):A108.

52. Helitzer D, Willging C, Hathorn G, Benally J. Building community capacity for agricultural injury prevention in a navajo community. *Journal of Agricultural Safety & Health*. 2009;15(1):19-35.

53. Marlenga B, Brison RJ, Berg RL, Zentner J, Linneman J, Pickett W. Evaluation of the north american guidelines for children's agricultural tasks using a case series of injuries. *Inj Prev*. 2004;10(6):350-357.

54. Marlenga B, Pickett W, Berg RL. Evaluation of an enhanced approach to the dissemination of the north american guidelines for children's agricultural tasks: A randomized controlled trial. *Prev Med.* 2002;35(2):150-159.

55. Liller KD, Noland V, Rijal P, Pesce K, Gonzalez R. Development and evaluation of the kids count farm safety lesson. *J Agric Saf Health*. 2002;8(4):411-421.

56. Page AN, Fragar LJ. Recall of farm hazards in australian primary school age children using a 3-d visual cue test. *Aust J Rural Health*. 2001;9(5):216-221.

57. Reed DB, Kidd PS, Westneat S, Rayens MK. Agricultural disability awareness and risk education (AgDARE) for high school students. *Inj Prev.* 2001;7(Suppl 1):59-63.

58. Landsittel DP, Murphy DJ, Kiernan NE, Hard DL, Kassab C. Evaluation of the effectiveness of educational interventions in the pennsylvania central region farm safety pilot project. *Am J Ind Med*. 2001;40(2):145-152.

59. Lee B, Westaby J, Berg R, Kiu L. The national occupational injury research symposium. 2000;A5.1.

60. Buske L. How far away is the nearest physician? *Can Med Assoc J*. 1997;157(2):228-228.

61. Ministerial Advisory Council on Rural Health. Rural health in rural hands: Strategic directions for rural, remote, northern and aboriginal communities. . 2002.

62. Potter BK, Manuel D, Speechley KN, Gutmanis IA, Campbell MK, Koval JJ. Is there value in using physician billing claims along with other administrative health care data to document the burden of adolescent injury? an exploratory investigation with comparison to self-reports in ontario, canada. *BMC Health Serv Res.* 2005;5(1):15.

	Urban	Rural FN	Rural non-FN	Farm-U	Farm-R
	(N=34,386)	(N=7,046)	(N=34,288)	(N=8,956)	(N=30,702)
Sex (male)*	50.7%	51.5%	51.2%	52.0%	51.8%
Age (years, mean ± SD)**	9.6±4.9	8.9±4.8	9.7±4.9	10.0±4.8	9.9+4.9
Socio-economic status**					
Low status ¹	18.8%	100.0%	17.9%	22.2%	31.1%
Health zone					
Edmonton	38.4%	3.7%	7.6%	19.5%	3.4%
Calgary	38.8%	10.7%	17.4%	10.7%	10.3%
North	8.2%	53.6%	31.9%	18.7%	31.3%
Central	8.4%	18.4%	28.8%	34.9%	34.0%
South	6.3%	13.6%	14.2%	16.3%	21.0%
Loss to follow up **	14 20/	26.2%	28.00/	7 40/	0.7%
before 18 years of age	14.370	20.3%	30.0%	1.470	9.1%

Table 4-1. Subject demographics

Person-years followed						
Males	118,604	24,654	94,898	32,617	110,403	
Females	115,552	22,975	89,078	29,834	103,230	
Total	234,156	47,629	183,976	62,452	213,633	

* p<0.05, ** p<0.001 regarding differences between children's groups

¹Any subsidy received for health care insurance premium

FN: First Nations, Farm-U: Farm in Urban areas, Farm-R: Farm in Rural areas

Level of care	Urbaı	n		Rural	FN		Rural r	non-FN		Farm-L	J		F	arm-R	
Crude incidence ra	Crude incidence rate (injuries per 100,000 person-years) (95% CI)														
ED visits	17.9	(12.5,	23.4)	58.8	(37.0 ,	80.6)	138.1	(121.1 ,	155.0)	305.8	(262.5 ,	349.2)	510.7	(480.4,	541.0)
Hospitalizations	1.3	(-0.2,	2.7)	8.4	(0.2,	16.6)	24.5	(17.3,	31.6)	36.8	(21.8,	51.9)	70.2	(59.0,	81.5)
Deaths ¹	0.0	(0.0,	0.0)	0.0	(0.0,	0.0)	0.5	(-0.5,	1.6)	1.6	(-1.5,	4.7)	2.8	(0.6,	5.1)
Total	19.2	(13.6,	24.8)	67.2	(43.9 ,	90.5)	163.1	(144.6 ,	181.5)	344.3	(298.2 ,	390.3)	583.7	(551.3,	616.1)
Age-and sex-standardized incidence rate (injuries per 100,000 person-years) (95% CI)															
ED visits	21.1	(5.2,	36.9)	57.0	(-1.7 ,	115.6)	156.1	(108.5 ,	203.8)	331.7	(211.8 ,	451.7)	600.5	(509.2,	691.8)
Hospitalizations	2.6	(-5.1,	10.3)	7.4	(-8.6 ,	23.3)	23.4	(8.2,	38.7)	36.4	(-1.1,	73.9)	66.7	(41.7,	91.7)
Deaths ¹	0.0	(0.0,	0.0)	0.0	(0.0,	0.0)	0.7	(-1.9,	3.2)	1.2	(-3.5,	6.0)	5.0	(-4.3,	14.3)
Total	23.7	(6.0,	41.3)	64.4	(3.6,	125.1)	180.2	(130.1 ,	230.3)	369.4	(243.6 ,	495.2)	672.3	(577.2,	767.4)

Table 4-2. Incidence rate of agricultural injury

¹Agricultural deaths may include virtually all machinery-related agricultural deaths but a part of non-machinery ones.

FN: First Nations, Farm-U: Farm in Urban areas, Farm-R: Farm in Rural areas

ED: Emergency department

Variable	Hazard Ratio	SE	Р	95% CI
Children's group				
	2.69	0.64	<0.000	1 60 4 00
RUIAIFIN	2.00	0.04	1	1.00-4.20
	0.04	1 24	<0.000	
Rufai non-Fin	8.21	1.34	1	5.97-11.31
	10.00	0.70	<0.000	44 07 00 40
Farm-U	10.03	2.79	1	11.97-23.10
	00.04	4 4 7	<0.000	40.00.00.40
Farm-R	26.91	4.17	1	19.86-36.46
Urban	Reference	-	-	-
Age, years				
45 47	0.05	0.50	<0.000	4 70 4 00
15-17	2.65	0.59	1	1.72-4.09
	0.07	0.40	<0.000	4 00 0 00
10-14	2.07	0.43	1	1.39-3.09
5-9	1.43	0.29	0.077	0.96-2.13
1-4	1.09	0.22	0.685	0.73-1.62
<1	Reference	-	-	-
Sex				
	0.00	0.40	<0.000	0 07 0 77
Males	2.30	0.12	1	2.07-2.55
Females	Reference	-	-	-

 Table 4-3. Multivariate Cox proportional hazard model for agricultural injuries at the emergency department visit level and above combined

Proxy SES

Low status	1.44	0.07	<0.000 1	1.30-1.59
No-subsidy	Reference	-	-	-

FN: First Nations, Farm-U: Farm in Urban areas, Farm-R: Farm in Rural areas Proxy SES: Proxy socio-economic status based on subsidy status received for health care insurance premium


	Urban	Rural	Rural	Farm-U	Farm-R
		FN	non-FN		
ED	1.08 1.07 (0.77-1.38		1.54 (1.49-1.60	1.95	2.73
visits	(0.87-1.27)))	(1.86-2.04)	(2.71-2.76)
Hospitali zations	-	0.93 (0.89-2.76) -	3.29 (2.46-4.11) -	3.29 (1.64-4.94) -	3.07 (2.85-3.30) 4.68
Deaths					(6.32-15.67)
Total	1.22 (1.00-1.43)	1.06 (0.80-1.32)	1.72 (1.67-1.77)	2.06 (1.98-2.15)	2.78 (2.76-2.80)

Table 4-4. Relative risks (95% CI) of agricultural injury for males to females

FN: First Nations, Farm-U: Farm in Urban areas, Farm-R: Farm in Rural areas ED: Emergency department

Mechanism	Urban	Rural FN	Rural	Farm- U	Farm-R	Rural	FN		Rural n	on-FN		Farm-U			Farm-R		
	Rate ((injuries p	er 100,00	00 persor	i-years)	Rate ratio (95% C			(95% C	I), Refere	ence: urb	an					
	4.07	14.7	35.8	67.2	115.6	0.44	(0.40		0.40	(7.7.4	0.07)	4 - 7 -	(15.06	10.11	07.07	(26.44	07.70)
Natural	4.27	0	7	5	2	3.44	++ (2.40, 4.4	4.41)	4.41) 0.4 0	(7.74,	7.74, 9.07)	15.75	,	16.44)	27.07	,	27.70)
Machinany	1 71	6 20	23.9	67.2	105.3	2 60	(2.10	19, 5.18) 14.00	14.00 (12.98 , 15.02) 3	15 02)		(38.34	40.20)	64 65	(60.66	62 64)	
Machinery	1.71	0.30	2	5	2	3.09	(2.19,			39.37	,	40.38) 01.03		,	02.04)		
Fall	2 14	10.5	26.6	51.2	80 08	4 92	(3.68	6 16)	12 47	(11.55	13 39)	24 00	(23.05	24 94)	37 92	(37.03	38 81)
	2.17	0	3	4	00.00	7.52	2 (0.00, 0.10) 12.4 7	,	10.00)			24.04)	, GINZ ,		00.01)		
Cut	0.85	8 40	22.2	28.8	66 00	002 (014	^{11.5} 26.09	(24.67	67 (32 27.51) 33.74		(32.28	35 21)	77 27 (75.88 78		78 67)		
Out	0.00	0.40	9	2	00.00	5.00	(0.14,	3	20.05	,	, , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , ,		,	00.21)	·, ///,		10.01)
Struck	1 28	2 10	12.5	44.8	57 11	1 64	(-0.62	3 90)	9 76	(8.55	10.96)	34 99	(33.80	36 18)	44 57	(43.43	45 72)
Olidok	1.20	2.10	0	3	07.11	1.04	,	0.00)	0.10	(0.00,	10.00)	04.00	,	00.10)		,	10.12)
	3 4 2	2 10	13.5	25.6	38 85	0 61	(-1.46	2 69)	3 98	(3.18	4 77)	7 50	(6 65	8 35)	11 37	(10.65	12,10)
0L1	0.12	2.10	9	2	00.00	0.01	,	2.00)	0.00	(0.10,	,	7.00	(0.00,	(0.00, 0.00)		,	,
Other SC	11 11	12.5	9 67	13.9	12 75	1 13	(0.23	2 02)	0 87	(0.27	1 47)	1 26	(0 49	2 02)	1 15	(0.61	1 68)
		0	0.07	5	12.70		(0.20,	(0.20, 2.02)	0.07	(0.27,	,	1.20	(0.10,	2.02)		(0.01,	1.00)
Overexertion	1.71	6.30	2.72	11.2 1	13.57	3.69	(2.19,	5.18)	1.59	(0.28,	2.91)	6.56	(5.33,	7.79)	7.95	(6.90,	8.99)

Table 4-5. The leading causes of non-fatal agricultural injuries (crude incidence rates and rate ratios)

Poisoning 2.56 8.40 2.72 6.40 10.30 3.28 (2.01, 4.54) 1.06 (-0.13, 2.25) 2.50 (1.23, 3.76) 4.02 (3.12, 4.92)

FN: First Nations, Farm-U: Farm in Urban areas, Farm-R: Farm in Rural areas

OLT: Other Land Transport, Other SC: Other Specified, Classifiable

Natural/environmental: injuries related with animals, plant, lightning, excessive heat or cold, etc.

Ran k	Urban	Rural FN	Rural non-FN	Farm-U	Farm-R
	Natural/	Natural/	Natural/	Natural/	Natural/
1	environmenta	environmenta	environmenta	environmenta	environmenta
	I	I	I	I.	I
	22.2%	21.9%	22.0%	19.5%	19.8%
2	OLT	Fall	Fall	Machinery	Machinery
	17.8%	15.6%	16.3%	19.5%	18.0%
3	Poisoning	Cut	Machinery	Fall	Fall
	13.3%	12.5%	14.7%	14.9%	13.9%
4	Fall	Poisoning	Cut	Other SC	Other SC
	11.1%	12.5%	13.7%	14.0%	12.8%
5	Other SC	Other SC	Other SC	Struck	Cut
	11.1%	12.5%	9.7%	13.0%	11.3%
6	Machinery	Machinery	OLT	Cut	Struck by or against
	8.9%	9.4%	8.3%	8.4%	9.8%
7	Overexertion	Overexertion	Struck by or against	OLT	OLT
	8.9%	9.4%	7.7%	7.4%	6.7%
Table	AC The		as of non-foi		iniurioo

Table 4-6. The leading causes of non-fatal agricultural injuries (proportions)

FN: First Nations, Farm-U: Farm in Urban areas, Farm-R: Farm in Rural areas

OLT: Other Land Transport, Other SC: Other Specified, Classifiable

Natural/environmental: injuries related with animals, plant, lightning, excessive heat or cold, etc.

Rank	Agricultural injur	y	Rank	Non-agricultural injury			
	Mechanism of inju	ıry					
1	Natural/environmental	20.2%	1	Struck by or against	24.0 %		
2	Machinery	17.3%	2	Fall	21.8 %		
3	Fall	14.4%	3	Unspecified	9.4%		
4	Other SC	12.3%	4	Overexertion	7.7%		
5	Cut	11.2%	5	Cut	7.1%		
6	Struck by or against	9.6%	6	Other SC	6.0%		
7	OLT	7.2%	7	OLT	4.5%		
8	Overexertion	2.6%	8	MVT	3.5%		
9	Poisonings	2.2%	9	Natural/environmental	3.5%		
10	Unspecified	1.7%	10	Pedal cyclist, other	2.7%		
	Nature of injury						
1	Wound	32.0%	1	Dislocation	21.5 %		
2	Contusion	20.9%	2	Contusion	20.4 %		
3	Fracture	19.1%	3	Wound	19.8 %		
4	Dislocation	9.4%	4	Fracture	16.6 %		
5	Internal	4.4%	5	Internal	3.2%		
6	Crush	3.1%	6	Foreign body	2.1%		
7	Foreign body	2.1%	7	Burn	1.5%		
8	Burn	2.0%	8	Other effects	1.5%		
9	Toxic Exposure	1.9%	9	Toxic Exposure	1.3%		

Table 4-7. Mechanism and nature of injury for non-fatal agricultural vs. non-agricultural injuries

10	Amputation	1.6%	10	Crush	0.5%
----	------------	------	----	-------	------

Other SC: Other Specified, Classifiable, OLT: Other Land Transport, MVT: Motor Vehicle Traffic

Natural/environmental: injuries related with animals, plant, lightning, excessive heat or cold, etc.

Chapter 5. Differences in injury-related health care utilization for farm, rural, and urban children

5.1 Introduction

A review of health care utilization provides information on needs for medical services, patterns of services sought, and medical facilities frequently used by populations with different characteristics. In particular, episode-based utilization analysis has been used for the evaluation of the quality and efficiency of medical care provided as well as for appropriate planning and budgeting of health resources to meet the health needs of a defined population.¹ Injury-related health care utilization may mainly be determined by health care needs but also be influenced by social, economic, geographical, and cultural factors including accessibility to medical services, perceived quality of service, health care seeking behavior, etc.²⁻⁵

A substantial number of publications have demonstrated disparities in health care service provisions and utilization between rural and urban settings, reporting greater pre-hospital deaths,⁶⁻⁹ higher case fatality,¹⁰⁻¹² and more preventable deaths¹³ among rural residents, possibly due to inferior access to adequate trauma care.^{11,13-19} Although the rural pediatric population is composed of heterogonous groups, patterns of injury-involved health care uses between detailed subgroups, particularly between farm and other groups of children, have not been compared in North America.

Injury-related health care utilization for farm children might be expected to be similar to that for rural children as there is likely an exposure to similar health hazards (e.g., dangerous primary industries, traffic/road conditions, etc.)¹⁹⁻²² and the prevailing medical environment in rural areas. On the other hand, differences might be introduced by distinct residential environments (i.e., a routine exposure to diverse agricultural hazards) for farm children ^{23,24} compared with the other rural children. A lack of information on health care use for farm children in previous research may possibly be attributed to difficulties in identifying farm families in administrative health databases. Only an approach that specifically identifies farm children and tracks down their health service use in administrative health databases will enable an examination of health care utilization for farm and non-farm children.

In Alberta, there was a unique opportunity to set up a farm population list in 1998, which an Alberta farm children list can be derived from. A farm children (i.e., children whose parents are farmers) list was linked to administrative health databases so that all injury records for identified farm children could be tracked down from 1999 to 2010. The linkage of multiple administrative health databases captured nearly all injury records requiring medical care, providing a comprehensive picture of health care utilization for farm and non-farm children in Alberta.

The objective of this study was to examine differences in injury-related health care utilization between farm children and several groups of non-farm children under 18 years of age in Alberta. Findings from the present study could contribute to proper design and allocation of health care services for injuries specific to each group and identify groups with high demand.

5.2 Materials and methods

5.2.1 Study Design

A retrospective cohort study with a closed population was established. Different groups of children who met the inclusion criteria in the fiscal year of 1998 were selected and followed until they became 18 years of age within the study period (January 1, 1999 to December 31, 2010) to examine the incidence of all-cause injury. A population-based approach utilized linkage of multiple administrative health databases.

5.2.2 Study location

In 2006, Alberta's population consisted of an 82.1% urban and 17.9% rural dwellers where a quarter of those located rurally were farm families²⁵. Alberta is

the third largest province in Canada with regard to the number of farms ²⁶, which are mainly involved in cattle ranching and oilseed/grain farming.²⁷ Alberta has a social health care system where all medically necessary services are universally provided according to the Canada Health Act.²⁸

5.2.3 Study participants

The study population consisted of farm children and three groups of non-farm children under 18 years of age who lived in Alberta in the fiscal year of 1998/99 and were not lost to follow up before January 1, 1999. As a closed population, there were no new entries into the study population after the first selection of subjects at the beginning of the study period. Subjects left the study due to death, migration or by becoming 18 years of age.

Farm children were identified from the all-ages Alberta farm population list that captured virtually all farm residents in Alberta. The all-ages farm population list was set up by probabilistically linking the Farm Fuel Tax subsidy list in 1998 and Health Care Insurance Plan Registry file in the same year to identify farm families. Two groups of non-farm children (rural and urban children) were extracted from two representative samples of all-ages non-farm rural and urban population that were randomly selected from the Alberta Health Care Insurance Plan registry with the equivalent sample size to the farm population, respectively. Classification of rural or urban residence was based on their postal code from the registry: A postal code with a "0" as the second character denotes a rural area where there are no letter carriers and residents go to the corner postal box or the post office to pick up their mail.²⁹ Non-farm rural children were subdivided into First Nation (FN) and non-FN children based on health insurance premium status

5.2.4 Data Sources

Outcome data (injury records) were obtained from four health databases that were maintained by Alberta Health, Government of Alberta. The four heath databases comprisedVital Statistics File, Hospital Discharge Abstract Database, the Ambulatory Care Classification System, and Physician Claim Billing file that contained data for mortality, hospital admissions, emergency department (ED) visits, and physician visits, respectively. The Physician Claim File consisted of services performed in hospital, ED, physician office, or diagnostic & therapeutic centers. Injury data for 12 calendar years (1999 to 2010) from each of the four databases were deterministically linked using scrambled personal health number (PHN) and also linked to the Health Care Insurance Plan Registry file being merged into a single file.

The Health Care Insurance Plan Registry file provided demographic information of subjects including age, sex, 3 digits of postal code, migration, health zone, and Alberta health insurance premium status. The insurance premium status was used as a proxy measure of socioeconomic status (SES) and categorized into high SES (i.e., no subsidy group) and low SES (i.e., FN treaty-status Aboriginals, full premium subsidy, and partial premium subsidy groups) in this study.

5.2.5 Injury identification

Injury-related health records included all medical records that contained the following International Classification of Disease (ICD) diagnostic codes or external causes (E-codes) for "injury and poisoning" in any of the diagnostic fields, including early complication or sequelae of trauma but removing complications of medical and surgical care and misadventures.

a. Diagnostic codes: 800-995 except 909(.3, .5) (ICD-9) or SOO-T98 except T80-T88 (ICD-10)

b. E-codes: E800-E869, E880-E929, E950-E999 (ICD-9) or V01-Y36, Y85-Y87, Y89 (ICD-10)

Injury records were classified by nature and body site injured into subcategories based on categorization tables, where detailed ICD diagnostic codes were assigned to each category for ICD 9th and ICD 10th revision coding system, respectively. The categorization tables followed previously published frameworks or matrices including Barell Injury Diagnosis Matrix and the Injury Mortality Diagnosis Matrix.^{31,32} The categorization table also covered the injury data that were coded with ICD 9th revision Clinical Modification (ICD-9-CM) and ICD 10th revision Canada (ICD-10-CA) system, because sufficiently broad subcategories (8 body sites, 16 natures) were utilized to reduce the possibility of diagnostic categorization error occurrences due to different ICD versions.

5.2.6 Injury episode

Considering that one injury event may result in multiple medical services and visits, a definition of an episode of injury was created. Across the four databases, all injury-related medical records were classified into initial and subsequent visits of an injury episode. For each injury episode, only the record at the highest level of care was extracted and used in the analysis. This was used as a proxy measure for severity of an injury episode. If there were multiple records at the same highest level of care (e.g., two hospitalization records for a child), the first record was chosen.

To construct the injury episode, all injury data from multiple sources were merged together and sorted by the subject's id and medical service date. Beginning with the first injury record for each child, the immediate next injury record for the same child was determined, and the record was examined to identify if it represented a follow up visit of the previous injury or a new injury episode for the child based on criteria. The criteria used to identify follow up visits were built from detailed data examination and modification of the criteria used in previous publications,³³⁻³⁵ while trying to be conservative in determining a record as a follow-up visit so as not to lose any incident cases.

To be determined as a follow-up visit of the previous injury record, the injury record was required to meet at least one of the following criteria compared with the previous injury record: the injury record (1) had ICD codes for sequelae or late effects of injury, (2) appeared on the same day, (3) occurred within 7 days in the same category of body region <u>or</u> the nature of injury, (4) occurred within 180 days in the same category of both body region <u>and</u> nature of injury, or (5)

occurred within 180 days with the exactly same diagnostic codes in all ten ICD diagnostic fields compared with the previous injury record. Episode identification for fatal cases was manually conducted, as the Vital Statistics database contains only a single E-code without any supporting diagnostic codes. An additional three years of injury records prior to 1999 were used to eliminate any incident injuries that occurred before 1999 and were treated after 1999.

5.2.7 Statistical analysis

Descriptive statistics for demographic variables (age, gender, proxy SES, and health service zone by residential area) and injury-related health services use (injury episode, services, nature, the length of stay in medical facility, etc.) were generated by children's group and data source (i.e., level of care) using frequencies, proportions, and ratios. Differences in demographic and outcome variables between children's groups were tested using one-way ANOVA and chi-square statistics. Injury pyramids for injury episodes and for all associated medical services were created by calculating the ratio of non-fatal injuries at each level of care to every injury death by children's group and sex.

The place of death in terms of the level of care received for each fatal injury (e.g., in-hospital deaths) was determined by manually checking all medical records for each fatal case. If there were no associated medical records for the fatal injury episode, a place of death was marked with "out of any health facility". If any medical record existed, the highest level of care facility was chosen for the place of death (e.g., hospital death, ED death, and practitioner's office death). Hospitalization status (e.g., hospital admission category and length of hospital stay (LOS)) for all injury-related hospitalizations were examined by children's group using frequencies and proportions.

As an analytical analysis, multivariate logistic regression was carried out to examine the relationship between existence/absence of any injury service (outcome: 1, 0) and children's group adjusting for potential confounders (i.e., age, sex, and proxy SES). Also, multivariate regression was conducted to examine the relationship between a total number of injury service per subject and children's group adjusting for potential confounders (i.e., age, sex, and proxy SES). Data management and statistical analyses were conducted using SPSS[®] 18.0 and STATA[®] MP 12.1.

5.3 Results

From 12 years of follow-up (1999 to 2010) of 115,378 children under 18 years of age, there were a total of 672,805 medical services for 275,442 injury episodes documented. All physician visit-level episodes were claims from practitioner's offices. However, in terms of full injury-related records, physician claims consisted of claims from practitioner's office (58.0%), ED (38.7%), hospital (3.0%), and unknown sources (0.3%). The majority of farm children (77.4%) lived in rural areas, but 22.7% of farm children resided in urban areas. As there was homogeneity of injury patterns and rates between farm children living in rural and urban areas, data from the two farm groups were presented combinedly. Respective results for rural- and urban-living farm children for main outcomes

were presented in Appendix II.

Rural children comprised 83.0% of non-FN and 17.0% of FN children. FN children living in rural areas represented 87.2% of all FN children in the study population. The rest of FN children (1034 urban-living FN children, 12.8% of all FN) were classified into urban children comprising 3% of urban children.

5.3.1 Demographic Characteristics

Demographic characteristics of four groups of children are illustrated in Table 5-1. Rural FN children were younger (mean age: 8.9 years, p<0.001) and more likely to live in in the north health services zone of Alberta (53.6 %) than other groups of children. Farm and rural FN children received more health insurance premium subsidy (29.1 %, 100%, p<0.001) than the other groups (18.8 %, 17.9 %). Two groups of rural children (rural FN, rural non-FN) were more likely to be lost to follow-up before 18 years of age during the study period than other groups, mainly due to migration to urban areas (81.6 % of all losses for rural children), while farm children showed the most stable residency with the lowest loss to follow up (9.1 %).

5.3.2 Injury episodes and services

ED admission for all children's group except for urban children was the most common level of care for injury episodes. The proportions of ED visit-level injury episodes among all injury episodes was greatest for rural FN children (62.6%), followed by rural non-FN children (58.2 %), and farm children (54.1%). For

urban children, physician office visit-level injury episodes were the most common (54.6%). Regarding the full medical services received for the injury episodes, physician office visits were dominant across all children's groups comprising from 61.8% (FN) to 73.1% (urban children) of all services. Physician claims mainly consisted of physician office visits (21.0-48.8% of claims), ED services (22.3-36.8%), and in-patient services (1.4-3.8%). When considering all levels of injury records together, the ratios of services to episodes ranged from 2.1 (FN) to 2.6 (farm children). The ratio of services to episodes for physician office visits was considerably lower among rural FN children (1.3) than other groups (2.0-2.44).

A total of 68.2% of all subjects (78,747 out of 115,378 children) have ever received a medical service at any care level due to injury. As a result from multivariate logistic regression, adjusted odds ratios (ORs) of an experience of injury service for each children's group compared to urban group were not significant (adjusted ORs: 0.98-1.0, p-value: 06-0.8 by children's group) implying no significant relationship between an experience of injury service during the study period and children's group adjusting for age, sex, and proxy SES. Also, results from multivariate regression indicated that children's group alone or children's group, age, sex, and proxy SES taken together did not significantly predict the total number of injury service for a subject (F (9, 115368)=1.81, p-value=0.061).

5.3.3 Injury pyramid by children's groups and sex

Ratios of injuries at each level of care to deaths (i.e., injury pyramids) for injury episodes and for related full medical services varied by children's group and sex (Table 5-2, Figure 5-1). In terms of injury episodes, overall, rural FN children had the least hospitalizations, ED visits, and physician office visits per single death (18: 357: 195 per death) than any other children's groups indicating the greatest lethality of injuries for rural FN children. Farm children had the second greatest lethality, followed by rural non-FN and urban children in descending order with consistent rankings at every care level (Table 5-2). While male children showed similar trends as those for both sexes combined, for females, the second ranked group for lethality was rural, non-FN females next to rural FN ones both in episodes and full services. Urban females presented notably lower lethality than any other groups both in episodes and full services (Figure 5-1).

5.3.4 Place of deaths in terms of level of care

The proportion of in-hospital injury deaths of all injury deaths was greater among urban children (30%) than farm and rural children (6.3-17.5%) (Figure 5-2). Injury deaths occurred outside of any health facility were most common for rural FN children, followed by rural non-FN, farm, and urban children in descending order (84.4%, 62.5%, 53.5%, and 40.0%, respectively). The greatest proportion of deaths in EDs was documented from farm children (33.8%).

5.3.5 Hospitalization status

When considering all injury hospitalization records, in terms of an admission

category to a hospital, an urgent admission was the most common category across all children's groups and was more prevalent in rural FN (84.9% of all hospitalizations) and farm children (80.4%). The proportion of emergent admissions was greater in urban children than other groups.

5.3.6 Nature of injury

Dislocation, contusion, wound, fracture, and internal injuries were the most common natures of injury in physician office visit- and ED visit-level injury episodes across all children's groups, although rural FN children had less dislocations but more contusions and wounds than other groups (Table 5-4). In hospitalization-level episodes, fracture was the most prevalent nature of injury for all groups, followed by poisoning for rural FN children and internal injuries for the other three groups. For nature-specific injury rates, rural FN children had considerably higher rates for blood vessel injury, burns and toxic effects, while farm children had higher rates for crushing injury and amputations than the other groups of children.

When injury-related physician's claims, ED visits, and hospital admissions were combined, a ratio of services to episodes was greater for fracture and nerve injuries than other nature of injury across children's groups (2.85-6.35, 3.57-4.03) (Table 5-5). In particular, nerve injuries for rural FN children showed the greatest number of services per episode (6.35services/episode). Beyond these two natures of injury, amputations and internal injuries, especially among rural FN and farm children, were documented at about 3 services per episode.

5.4 Discussion

This study explored the injury-related health care utilization among four pediatric populations in Alberta using an individual-based linkage of all available administrative medical records from physician claims to deaths. A key finding of the present study was that farm and rural children, especially rural FN children, had greater utilization of higher levels of medical facilities, greater proportions of pre-hospital deaths, and fewer non-fatal injuries per death (i.e., a thinner "shape" of injury pyramid) than urban children, implying more serious and lethal injuries for farm and rural children.

Both in injury episodes and related medical services, it was found that proportions of ED visits and hospitalizations (higher levels of medical facilities) were the greatest for rural FN children, followed by rural non-FN, farm, and urban children in descending order. These results may be associated with two factors. Firstly, this trend may be mainly attributed to greater severity of injury for farm and rural children, particularly for rural FN children. Similar trends of injury severity were found from the shape of injury pyramids that presented the highest lethality of injury (i.e., the thinnest "shape" of pyramid) for rural FN children, followed by farm, rural, and urban children in descending order. These findings confirm the results of previous research that have reported higher rates of severe injuries for rural and remote rural children compared with urban counterparts.³⁶⁴⁰ Secondly, the results may be partly caused by less efficient capture of minor injuries for farm and rural children, particularly for rural FN children, as shown in

the low ratio of services to episodes for physician office visits for rural FN children, which may be associated with different medical environments^{11,13,15,16} and health seeking culture/behaviors between groups.²

Unlike the apparent differences in health care utilization by the level of medical facilities between children's groups above, no significant differences between the children groups in an existence/absence of injury service/episode over the follow-up time or total number of injury services per child were found from the multivariate regression analysis. The results imply the analysis without an appropriate consideration of severity of injury and time at risk of injury would lead to misleading conclusions.

Regarding the place of deaths (i.e., level of treatment), it was noticeable that the majority of injury deaths occurred out of any medical facility for farm and rural children (53.3%-84.4%) unlike urban children (40.0%). Out of hospital deaths were 70-93.7% by children's group. Several prior research findings have reported considerable proportions of out-of-hospital injury deaths although the figures varied by study population and country. There have been reports of out-of-hospital injury deaths ranged between: 38.6% (the U.S., farm children);⁴¹ 40% vs. 72% (urban vs. rural areas, the U.S., all ages);⁹ 52% (Europe, all ages);⁷ 85% (Sweden, <14 years);⁶ and, 34% (the U.S., all ages).⁸ A greater proportions of deaths at the scene (or before hospitalization) and less common in-hospital deaths for farm and rural children than urban children could be explained by a higher severity of injury in rural groups ³⁶⁻⁴⁰ as well as by poorer quality of medical services in rural areas including longer transport time to care, ^{11,13-16}

less-advanced pre-hospital care,¹⁷ more difficult access to a trauma center,¹⁸ and a lack of high-level trauma care centers for rural children.^{12,19}

All these findings regarding utilization of higher-level injury services and an increased proportion of out-of-hospital deaths suggest the demands of high-level pediatric trauma care for severe injuries for farm and rural children are not being met. Given most high-level traumatic facilities are located in urban areas, the allocation and regionalization of advanced traumatic care facilities in rural areas (including FN resident locations and farming areas) should be an issue to be addressed. Given the common use of ED services and higher proportion of ED deaths than in-hospital deaths among farm and rural children, improved trauma care in the ED may be particularly effective in reducing the impact of injury in rural areas.

The findings of a high proportion of pre-hospital deaths across children's groups underline the importance of inclusion of vital statistics in research on fatal or severe injuries because the likelihood of there being considerable missing cases of death in hospital discharge or medical care databases. Prior studies also point out the substantial underestimation of fatal injuries in hospital data.^{42,43} The use of limited information of deaths would lead to a significant underestimation of rates as well as a bias in the examination of prevalence and incidence of severe injuries considering different structures of places of deaths between children's groups.

Limitations of the present study include the possibility of misclassification of injuries due to errors in coding and charting of injury codes, which is an inherent weakness of administrative databases. However, the misclassification is not likely to happen differentially between groups as the data came from a uniform health system. Our data had limited information on injury severity or detailed health care services given for each injury, although we were able to use level of care as a proxy measure of injury severity. There is a possibility of differential misclassifications of injury events and services if healthcare seeking behaviors or accessibility to health care services are different between children's groups. If populations living in rural areas are less likely to seek or get treatment from health care system possibly due to the longer distance to health care facilities,^{19,44} their injury rates may be underestimated. Lastly, misclassification of a proxy of socio-economic status for FN children may occur. All FN treaty-status Aboriginals in the insurance premium status in Alberta were classified into children in a low SES status, but all FN children may not be in low SES status. However, children's SES status does not appeared to considerably affect the results as there were not much differences between adjusted and unadjusted results in regression.

One other thing to be aware of is that the results of this study are more likely to be influenced by older age groups as this study followed up a fixed study population over time without new entry of young children into the study population.

The main strength of this study was the full coverage of all injury-related health services that were recorded in any administrative health database from physician claims to vital certificates. Also, the medical records were classified into an injury episode with initial and subsequent follow-up visits providing insight to the relationship between injury incidence and service use. The linkage of multiple databases and the identification of an injury episode across these databases made it possible to track and determine the location of deaths (i.e., the health facility where the last health service was received for the fatal injury or on-spot death without any health service recorded). This was a population-based study with a large sample size, which enhances the external validity of the results, and the use of administrative databases likely reduced bias (both selection bias and information bias). With these strengths, we were able to provide a comprehensive picture of frequency and patterns of injury-related medical services utilized by diverse pediatric populations, which has not been available from a substantial number of previous studies that have addressed urban-rural disparities of health services utilization.

5.5 Conclusions

This study followed farm and three groups of non-farm Albertan children (115,378 children) under 18 years of age from 1999 to 2010 to compare the injury-related health care utilization by linking administrative medical records from physician claims to death certificates. Various indicators including greater utilization of higher levels of medical facilities, thinner shapes of the injury pyramid, and greater proportions of pre-hospital deaths for rural FN children, followed by rural non-FN and farm children, compared with urban children

suggested a greater proportion of more serious injuries for farm and rural children. These findings emphasize the need for improved medical services, especially for efficient allocation and timely provision of advanced trauma care for serious injuries for rural areas including FN resident locales and farming areas. Findings regarding different patterns of health care utilization by children's group indicate the importance of targeted and strategic health services plans for specific pediatric populations.

References

- 1. Hornbrook MC, Hurtado AV, Johnson RE. Health care episodes: Definition, measurement and use. Med Care Rev. 1985;42(2):163-218.
- 2. MacKian S. A review of health seeking behaviour:problems and prospects. 2005.
- 3. Tipping G, Segall M. Health care seeking behaviour in Developing Countries: An annotated bibliography and literature review development. 1995. 2005.
- 4. Lerer LB, Lopez AD, Kjellstrom T, Yach D. Health for all: Analyzing health status and determinants. World Health Stat Q. 1998;51(1):7-20.
- 5. Link BG, Phelan J. Social conditions as fundamental causes of disease. J Health Soc Behav. 1995;Spec No(Spec No):80-94.
- 6. Gedeborg R, Chen LH, Thiblin I, et al. Prehospital injury deaths--strengthening the case for prevention: Nationwide cohort study. J Trauma Acute Care Surg. 2012;72(3):765-772.
- Soreide K, Kruger AJ, Vardal AL, Ellingsen CL, Soreide E, Lossius HM. Epidemiology and contemporary patterns of trauma deaths: Changing place, similar pace, older face. World J Surg. 2007;31(11):2092-2103.
- 8. Sauaia A, Moore FA, Moore EE, et al. Epidemiology of trauma deaths: A reassessment. J Trauma. 1995;38(2):185-193.
- 9. Rogers FB, Shackford SR, Hoyt DB, et al. Trauma deaths in a mature urban vs rural trauma system. A comparison. Arch Surg. 1997;132(4):376-381.

- McCowan CL, Swanson ER, Thomas F, Handrahan DL. Outcomes of pediatric trauma patients transported from rural and urban scenes. Air Med J. 2008;27(2):78-83.
- Gonzalez RP, Cummings GR, Phelan HA, Mulekar MS, Rodning CB. Does increased emergency medical services prehospital time affect patient mortality in rural motor vehicle crashes? A statewide analysis. Am J Surg. 2009;197(1):30-34.
- Culica D, Aday LA. Factors associated with hospital mortality in traumatic injuries: Incentive for trauma care integration. Public Health. 2008;122(3):285-296.
- 13. Esposito TJ, Maier RV, Rivara FP, et al. The impact of variation in trauma care times: Urban versus rural. Prehospital Disaster Med. 1995;10(3):161-166.
- 14. Carr BG, Caplan JM, Pryor JP, Branas CC. A meta-analysis of prehospital care times for trauma. Prehosp Emerg Care. 2006;10(2):198-206.
- 15. Grossman DC, Kim A, Macdonald SC, Klein P, Copass MK, Maier RV. Urban-rural differences in prehospital care of major trauma. J Trauma. 1997;42(4):723-729.
- 16. Nance ML, Carr BG, Branas CC. Access to pediatric trauma care in the united states. Arch Pediatr Adolesc Med. 2009;163(6):512-518.
- 17. Esposito TJ, Sanddal ND, Hansen JD, Reynolds S. Analysis of preventable trauma deaths and inappropriate trauma care in a rural state. J Trauma. 1995;39(5):955-962.
- Hsia R, Shen YC. Possible geographical barriers to trauma center access for vulnerable patients in the united states: An analysis of urban and rural communities. Arch Surg. 2011;146(1):46-52.
- 19. Ministerial Advisory Council on Rural Health. Rural health in rural hands: Strategic directions for rural, remote, northern and aboriginal communities. . 2002.
- 20. Mitchell-Taverner, P.,Zipparo, L. Survey on speeding and enforcement. www.infrastructure.gov.au/roads/safety/publications/.../Speed_Risk _4.pdf. Updated 2003April 2011.
- 21. Muelleman RL, Mueller K. Fatal motor vehicle crashes: Variations of crash characteristics within rural regions of different population densities. J Trauma. 1996;41(2):315-320.

- 22. Chris D, Geoff E, Bjorn J. Rural road maintenance: Sustaining the benefits of improved access. . 2007.
- Marlenga B, Pickett W, Berg RL. Agricultural work activities reported for children and youth on 498 north american farms. J Agric Saf Health. 2001;7(4):241-252.
- 24. Lee BC, Westaby JD, Chyou PH, Purschwitz MA. Agricultural employers' hiring and safety practices for adolescent workers. J Agric Saf Health. 2007;13(1):25-32.
- 25. Statistics Canada. Farm population and total population by rural and urban population, by province (2001 and 2006 census of agriculture and census of population). 2008.
- 26. Statistics Canada. 2006 census of agriculture. .
- 27. Alberta Agriculture and Food. 2006 census of agriculture for alberta. . September 2007.
- 28. Health Canada. Canada health act. http://www.hc-sc.gc.ca/hcs-sss/medi-assur/cha-lcs/index-eng.p hp.
- 29. Valerie dP, Roland B, Ray DB. Definitions of rural
str /> . . 2001;Rural and Small Town Canada Analysis Bulletin Catalogue no. 21-006-XIE Vol. 3, No.3.
- 30. Alberta Health and Wellness. Alberta health care insurance plan (AHCIP). http://www.health.alberta.ca/health-care-insurance-plan.html2009.
- 31. Barell V, Aharonson-Daniel L, Fingerhut LA, et al. An introduction to the barell body region by nature of injury diagnosis matrix. Inj Prev. 2002;8(2):91-96.
- 32. Fingerhut LA, Warner M. The ICD-10 injury mortality diagnosis matrix. Inj Prev. 2006;12(1):24-29.
- 33. Lestina DC, Miller TR, Smith GS. Creating injury episodes using medical claims data. J Trauma. 1998;45(3):565-569.
- Carter MW, Porell FW. The effect of sentinel injury on medicare expenditures over time. J Am Geriatr Soc. 2011;59(3):406-416.
- Braun PA, Beaty BL, DiGuiseppi C, Steiner JF. Recurrent early childhood injuries among disadvantaged children in primary care settings. Inj Prev. 2005;11(4):251-255.

- Kim K, Ozegovic D, Voaklander DC. Differences in incidence of injury between rural and urban children in canada and the USA: A systematic review. Inj Prev. 2012;18(4):264-271.
- Jiang X, Li D, Boyce W, Pickett W. Variations in injury among canadian adolescents by urban-rural geographic status. Chronic Dis Can. 2007;28(1-2):56-62.
- Brownell MD, Friesen D, Mayer T. Childhood injury rates in manitoba: Socioeconomic influences. Canadian Journal of Public Health. 2002;93(SUPPL. 2):S50-S56.
- Reid SR, Roesler JS, Gaichas AM, Tsai AK. The epidemiology of pediatric traumatic brain injury in minnesota. Arch Pediatr Adolesc Med. 2001;155(7):784-789.
- 40. Danseco ER, Miller TR, Spicer RS. Incidence and costs of 1987-1994 childhood injuries: Demographic breakdowns. Pediatrics. 2000;105(2):e27-e27.
- 41. Rivara FP. Fatal and non-fatal farm injuries to children and adolescents in the united states, 1990-3. Inj Prev. 1997;3(3):190-194.
- 42. Olsen SJ, Durkin MS. Validity of hospital discharge data regarding intentionality of fatal pediatric injuries. Epidemiology. 1996;7(6):644-647.
- Cooper A, Barlow B, Davidson L, Relethford J, O'Meara J, Mottley L. Epidemiology of pediatric trauma: Importance of population-based statistics. J Pediatr Surg. 1992;27(2):149-153.
- 44. Buske L. How far away is the nearest physician? Can Med Assoc J. 1997;157(2):228-228.

	Urban	Farm	Rural non-FN	Rural FN
	(N=34,386)	(N=39,658)	(N=34,288)	(N=7,046)
Sex (male)*	50.7%	51.9%	51.2%	51.5%
Age (years, mean ± SD)**	9.6±4.9	9.9±4.9	9.7±4.9	8.9±4.8
Socio-economic status** Low status ¹	18.8%	29.1%	17.9%	100.0%
Health services zone				
Edmonton	38.4%	7.1%	7.6%	3.7%
Calgary	38.8%	10.4%	17.4%	10.7%
North	8.2%	28.4%	31.9%	53.6%
Central	8.4%	34.2%	28.8%	18.4%
South	6.3%	20.0%	14.2%	13.6%
Loss to follow up ** before 18 years of age	14.3%	9.1%	38.0%	26.3%
Person-years followed				
Males	118,604	143,021	94,898	24,654
Females	115,552	133,064	89,078	22,975
Total**	234,156	276,085	183,976	47,629

* p<0.05, ** p<0.001 regarding differences between groups

¹Any subsidy received for health care insurance premium

FN: First Nations

	Urban		Far	Farm		al FN	Rural FN		
Episodes (n, %)									
PO visits	43,412	54.6%	45,592	43.8%	29,364	39.9%	6,226	34.1%	
ED visits	35,112	44.1%	56,315	54.1%	42,817	58.2%	11,412	62.6%	
Hospitalizations	994	1.2%	2,112	2.0%	1,355	1.8%	568	3.1%	
Deaths	20	0.0%	71	0.1%	40	0.1%	32	0.2%	
Total	79,538	100.0 %	104,090	100.0 %	73,576	100.0 %	18,238	100.0 %	
Full services (n, %)									
Physician claims	133,092	73.1%	191,837	70.4%	121,059	67.5%	24,047	61.8%	
PO visits	88854	48.8%	111459	40.9%	64134	35.7%	8170	21.0%	
ED Services	40656	22.3%	73527	27.0%	53213	29.7%	14300	36.8%	
In-Patient Services	2616	1.4%	6494	2.4%	3500	2.0%	1482	3.8%	
Diagnostic Serv. or unknown	966	0.5%	357	0.1%	212	0.1%	95	0.2%	
ED visits	47,938	26.3%	78,193	28.7%	56,882	31.7%	14,229	36.6%	
Hospitalizations	1,030	0.6%	2,259	0.8%	1,475	0.8%	601	1.5%	
Total	182,060	100.0 %	272,289	100.0 %	179,416	100.0 %	38,877	99.9%	
Services/1 episode	2.3		2.6		2.4		2.1		
Pyramid									
Episodes (Death: hospi.: ED: PO)	1: 50: 175	56: 2171	1: 30 : 79	93: 642	1: 34 : 10	1: 34 : 1070 : 734		1: 18: 357 : 195	
Full services (Death: hospi.: ED: PO)	1: 52: 239	97: 6655	1: 32: 110	1 : 2702	1: 37: 142	22: 3026	1: 19: 445: 751		

Table 5-2. Episodes and services of any-cause injuries

FN: First Nations, PO: physician office, ED: emergency department

	Urban	Farm	Rural Non-FN	Rural FN
All hospitalizations (No.)	1,030	2,259	1,475	601
Admission category				
Emergency	199 (19.3%)	238 (10.5%)	215 (14.6%)	60 (10.0%)
Urgent	738 (71.7%)	1,816 (80.4%)	1,131 (76.7%)	510 (84.9%)
Elective	93 (9.0%)	205 (9.1%)	129 (8.7%)	31 (5.2%)
Length of stay (LOS)				
0-2days	729 (70.8%)	1,607 (71.1%)	1,079 (73.2%)	405 (67.4%)
3+ days	301 (29.2%)	652 (28.9%)	396 (26.8%)	196 (32.6%)
LOS (mean +_SD, days)	3.96+12.6	3.30+7.25	3.32+8.17	4.05+10.8
Special care unit (SCU)				
SCU (No. %)	105 (10.2%)	248 (11.0%)	150 (10.2%)	62 (10.3%)
SCU days (mean +_SD, days)	2.86 +4.56	4.21+8.66	3.08 +4.95	3.82+5.78

Table 5-3. Status of all hospitalizations by children's group

FN: First Nations

Donk	Lishas		Гана		Rural		Rural	
Rank	Urban		Farm		non-FN		FN	
PO visits (%)							
1	Dislocation	51. 4	Dislocation	63. 4	Dislocation	58. 0	Dislocation	36. 4
2	Contusion	18. 5	Contusion	13. 3	Contusion	17. 1	Contusion	27. 7
3	Wound	10. 1	Wound	6.2	Wound	6.7	Wound	9.9
4	Facture	6.7	Facture	6.2	Facture	6.1	Facture	8.4
5	Internal	2.2	Internal	1.9	Internal	2.1	Internal	2.1
ED visits (%	%)	00		00		00		05
1	Dislocation	23. 5	Dislocation	22. 1	Dislocation	22. 2	Wound	25. 7
2	Contusion	21. 2	Wound	20. 6	Contusion	21. 1	Contusion	22. 4
3	Facture	18. 6	Contusion	19. 9	Wound	20. 9	Dislocation	15. 9
4	Wound	17. 2	Facture	15. 3	Facture	13. 6	Facture	13. 7
5	Internal	3.2	Internal	2.9	Internal	2.7	Internal	1.9
Hospital ac	Imissions (%)							
1	Facture	56. 1	Facture	52. 8	Facture	49. 7	Facture	39. 6
2	Internal	12. 9	Internal	19. 1	Internal	15. 6	Poisoning	18. 5
3	poisoning	10. 6	Dislocation	5.1	Wound	11. 1	Wound	13. 4

Table 5-4. The leading natures of injury episodes by children's group and the level of medical care

4	4 Wound		Poisoning	43	Contusion	10.	Internal	10.
4	wound	9.4	Foisoning	4.3	Contusion	3	Internal	2
-	Contusion	0.0	Dum	0.7	Deisering	0.4	Ocatusian	10.
5	Contusion	ntusion 6.6 Burn 2.7 Poisonin		Poisoning	9.4	Contusion	4	
6	Dislocation	4.2	Nerve	2.4	Dislocation	3.9	Toxic	4.9
7	Foreign body	3.2	Toxic	2.3	Burn	2.8	Burn	4.4

FN: First Nations, PO: physician office, ED: emergency department

Nature of injury	Urban	Farm	Rural non-FN	Rural FN	Total
Nerve	6.35	4.15	4.52	2.85	5.05
Facture	3.64	4.03	3.96	3.57	3.86
Amputation	2.12	3.79	2.91	3.44	3.21
Internal	2.48	3.19	2.76	3.32	2.87
Dislocation	2.49	2.90	2.70	1.97	2.69
Burn	2.23	2.94	2.67	2.55	2.63
Poisoning	2.26	2.06	2.32	2.65	2.29
Blood	2.29	2.15	1.57	2.13	2.00
Wound	1.78	2.05	2.02	2.05	1.97
Crush	1.50	2.30	2.31	2.14	1.96
Foreign body	1.70	1.96	1.89	1.86	1.87
Contusion	1.53	1.79	1.77	1.72	1.70
Тохіс	1.62	1.44	1.48	1.74	1.53
Other effects	1.27	1.28	1.39	1.52	1.34

Table 5-5. An average number of services per an injury episode by nature of injury (From records of physician's claims, ED visits, and hospitalizations combined)

FN: First Nations, ED: emergency department





167

Figure 5-1. Injury pyramid by children 's group and sex FN: First Nations, PO: physician office, ED: emergency department



Figure 5-2. The place of deaths in terms of level of care

FN: First Nations, PO: physician office
Chapter 6. General discussion and conclusions

6.1 Overview of study objectives

There has been a lack of information on the overall and relative burden of injury for farm children compared to other groups of children. The objectives of this theses were 1) to systematically review available evidence regarding differences in injury incidence between rural and urban pediatric populations in Canada and the United States, and 2) to examine compare risk and patterns of all-cause incident injury (chapter 3), agricultural injury incidence (chapter 4), and injury-related health care utilization (chapter 5) for farm children compared to several groups of non-farm (rural, First nations, urban) children under 18 years of age in Alberta using an individual-based linkage of multiple administrative health databases from 1999 to 2010 from Alberta.

6.2 Summary and interpretations of the results

The systematic review of the literature revealed rural-urban differences in rates and patterns of injury in children. Rural children appeared to be at higher risk of overall injury, motor vehicle collision (MVC) injury, and suicide, whereas urban children in the U.S. experienced higher rates of firearm-related homicides. Greater rural-urban injury disparities were likely to be found between more extreme rural and urban areas, and children in remote rural areas were at increased risk of severe injuries than urban counterparts.

Regarding the risk of overall incidence of all-cause injury, rural FN children sustained the greatest burden of injury, followed by rural non-FN, farm, and urban children (in descending order), and the rank was largely consistent for most mechanisms of injury. Regarding the injury disparity by proxy severity of injury, urban children had higher rates of minor-severity injuries (physician office visits), but farm and rural children consistently had higher rates of injuries at emergency department (ED) visit level of severity and above with increased injury disparities for more severe injuries (a clearly linear relationship between injury disparity and injury severity). Farm children were at a higher risk of severe injuries (hospitalizations and deaths) than non-FN rural children. Considerably increased risk of other land transport (OLT), natural/environmental, and firearm-related injuries were noted for farm and rural children in common. Greater risk of farm hazard-related injuries (e.g., farm-animal and machinery-related injuries) were observed for farm and rural non-FN children, and markedly higher risk of unintentional firearm-related injuries and suicidal suffocation were of greater concern for rural FN children.

Agricultural injury comprised a small portion of overall injuries, but had more effect on serious injuries (e.g., about 10% of hospitalized and fatal injuries of all injuries for rural-living farm children) and on specific mechanisms/nature of injury events (e.g., 35.3% of all machinery-related injuries, 13.9% of all amputations and 7.2% of all crush injuries). Rural-living farm children appeared to have the highest rates of agricultural injuries, but considerable incidence rates were observed among urban-living farm children and non-FN rural children indicating the impact of agricultural injuries on broader pediatric populations.

Similarly, by applying injury rates observed from this study and the size of each group's population in Alberta¹, it is assumed that approximately 50%, 30%, and 20% of agricultural injuries at the ED visit level of severity and above were sustained by farm, non-farm urban, and non-farm rural children, respectively as an actual burden of agricultural injury. It was found that agricultural injuries had distinct characteristics compared with non-agricultural injuries: more unintentional and lethal, more males and younger victims for serious injuries, and higher proportions of natural/environmental injuries, machinery, and falls for agricultural than non-agricultural injuries.

When examining injury-related health care utilization, it was found that higher levels of medical facilities (ED visits and hospitalizations) were more frequently used by rural FN children, followed by rural non-FN, farm, and urban children in descending order both in injury episodes and related medical services. Regarding the place of death in terms of level of care, it was noticeable that the majority of injury deaths occurred outside of any medical facility for farm and rural children (53.3%-84.4%), unlike urban children (40.0%). The greater proportion of more serious injuries for farm and rural children, especially rural FN children, than urban children was demonstrated by various indicators including greater utilization of higher levels of medical facilities, greater proportions of pre-hospital deaths, and fewer non-fatal injuries per death (i.e., a thinner "shape" of the injury pyramid) for farm and rural children, especially rural FN children.

6.3 Limitations and strengths

Limitations of the present study included the following: 1) this study has limited information on circumstances that led to injuries (e.g., occupational injury or not), changes in farming status over time, and various risk factors other than age, sex, and a proxy measure of socio-economic status. These are inherent weakness of administrative health records that are routinely collected for non-research purposes. Therefore, the potential for misclassification of participant demographic information and injury episode and residual confounding remained; 2) the possibility of misclassification of injuries exists from errors in coding and charting of injury code and diagnostic errors in administrative data. However, this misclassification is not likely to occur differentially between groups as we have data from a single health system; 3) some differential misclassification of injury events may occur if healthcare seeking behaviors or accessibility to health care services are different between farm and non-farm residents. If rural populations are less likely to seek or get treatment from the health care system possibly due to the longer distance to health care facilities,^{2,3} their injury rates, especially for minor injuries,⁴ may be underestimated; 4) the possibility of misclassification of a proxy of socio-economic status for FN children exists. All FN treaty-status Aboriginals in the insurance premium status in Alberta were classified into children in a low SES status in this study, but all FN children may not be in low SES status. However, children's SES status does not appeared to considerably affect the results as there were not much differences between adjusted and unadjusted hazard ratios of injury ; 5) agricultural injuries, especially agricultural

deaths, might be underestimated in this study, if E-codes for on-farm injuries were not recorded in any of medical databases per an episode, although this underestimation would be non-differential among comparison groups. One thing to be aware of is that the results of this study were more likely be influenced by older age groups as this study followed up the fixed study population over time without the addition of young children into the study population.

Nevertheless, the strengths of this study included: 1) increased external validity as a population-based study with a large sample size; 2) full coverage of all injury-related health services that have been recorded in any administrative health database from physician claims to vital certificates; 3) enhanced detection of agricultural injuries through manual supplementary work for the identification of potential agricultural injury records within an injury episode in the multiple databases linked; 4) provision of an accurate picture of incident injuries (i.e., injury episode) and subsequent follow-up visits by the level of a proxy severity of injury through valid assessment of incident injury and the determination of proxy severity of each episode (i.e., the highest level of care per an episode); 5) greater accuracy in calculating injury rates (i.e., the use of injury density rates by using person-time at risk of each individual and allowing multiple injury events per a child), and; 6) reduced selection bias for the sample and information bias (i.e., observer bias, recall bias) through the use of administrative data. Through these strengths, the present study was able to provide a broader picture of injury incidence for detailed, specified children's groups covering every cause and intent of injury.

6.4 Implications for research

With regard to methodology of injury risk assessment, the present study highlights several implications for future research. Firstly, future studies on non-fatal injuries are recommended to access incidence density rates with person-time denominators rather than incidence proportions because the use of incidence proportions can lead to a relatively greater underestimation of injury risk for populations with a greater tendency to move than other comparison populations: shorter follow-up time due to greater losses to follow-up leads to a reduced denominator in person-time rate resulting in increased incidence density rate than when using incidence proportions.

Secondly, concerns of underestimation of agricultural injuries in this study emphasize the need to incorporate external causes of injury codes (E-codes) for the place of injury occurrence in administrative health databases, especially in vital statistics death data. Also, continuous and extended operations of agriculture-specific injury surveillance⁵ are required to complement the limitations of administrative databases.

Thirdly, the findings that high proportion of pre-hospital deaths occurred across all children's groups underlines the importance of the inclusion of vital statistics in research on fatal or severe injuries because of considerable missing cases of death in hospital discharge or any medical care databases. Prior studies also point out the substantial underestimation of fatal injuries in hospital data.^{6,7}

The use of limited information of death cases would lead to a severe underestimation as well as a bias in the examination of prevalence and incidence of particularly severe injuries.

Fourthly, to be more rigorous for future systematic reviews, primary studies on this topic are recommended to use a standard rural-urban definition to reduce heterogeneity among studies, to report injury rates with proper denominators, to perform analytical statistics controlling for potential confounders, and to provide data with basic figures of variable-adjusted as well as variable-specific injury rates (e.g., injury rates for age subgroups).

Lastly, as for data sources for injury outcomes, future studies are recommended to use emergency department visit-level injury data and above without physician claims data. Although physician claims data are important to provide comprehensive picture of injury, physician claims data are at a lack of external code of injury and poisoning, more likely to capture minor injuries, more likely to be affected by health service accessibility and health seeking behavior, and might show different picture of injury incidence from data sources of higher care level. If physician claims data is used, the results should be carefully interpreted taking the severity of injury into account in analysis.

6.5 Implications for practice

In terms of future practice to prevent pediatric injuries, findings from this study clearly indicate a need for targeted and specialized injury prevention

strategies for higher-risk mechanisms in each group or combined groups such as unintentional firearm-related injuries and suicidal suffocation for rural FN children, farm hazard-related injuries for farm and rural non-FN children, and OLT, natural/environmental, and unintentional firearm-related injuries for farm and rural children in common. In addition to address specific cause of injury in each group, there is a need for attention for underlying risk factors among farm and rural pediatric populations that are consistently and universally associated with a greater risk of injury for those groups than urban counterparts. The underlying risk factors may include diverse physical hazards,^{3,8}an inferior medical environment (i.e., availability and quality of health care services and programs),^{3,9-11} lower SES (e.g., income, education, employment),^{3,11,12} and higher levels of high risk behaviors.¹³ Furthermore, FN children may be affected by social stressors such as cultural alienation, discrimination, and intergenerational effects of Indian Residential Schools.^{3,14,15} For this generic and inter-related causes of injury in rural areas, new intervention strategies such as a community-based participatory approaches for rural populations,^{3,16,17} multifaceted approaches for farm safety,^{18,19} and cultural healing and restoring identity for FN,^{20,21} along with common education approaches (e.g., workshops, booklets, awareness campaign, etc.) have recently been introduced and emphasized. Regarding the medical environment, the efficient allocation and regionalization for advanced traumatic care facilities, especially improved trauma care in the ED is emphasized for efficient and timely care in rural areas including FN resident locations and farming areas.

6.6 Conclusions

To examine differences in injury incidence between farm and non-farm children, a systematic review of the literature (41 studies) and three population-based cohort studies that followed farm and several groups of non-farm Albertan children (115,378 children) under 18 years of age from 1999 to 2010 were conducted. The systematic review of the literature revealed that rural children were at higher risk of overall injury, MVC injury, and suicide than urban children, and that children in remote rural areas were at increased risk of more severe injuries than urban counterparts. Similarly, the population-based cohort studies demonstrated that rural FN children, followed by rural non-FN and farm children in descending order, sustained a greater burden of overall injury, particularly for severe injury than urban children, which was evidenced by the higher incidence rates for overall injury as well as for most mechanism of injury (except for farm-hazard related injuries), and greater utilizations of higher levels of medical facilities (ED visits and hospitalizations). Farm and rural non-FN children were at a greater risk of agricultural injuries, particularly for farm-animal and machinery-related injuries than rural FN and urban children. Agricultural injuries appeared to be more unintentional and lethal, and farm children were at greater risk of severe injuries than rural non-FN children. Farm children were at a lowest risk for self-harm and violent injuries except suicidal death. Findings from this study clearly indicate a need for comprehensive intervention strategies for underlying and inter-related

causes of injury in rural areas, targeted and specialized injury prevention strategies for higher-risk mechanisms in each group, attention for agricultural injury controls to extended populations, and an improved medical environment (particularly for advanced pediatric trauma care for serious injuries the ED for efficient and timely care) in rural areas.

References

- 1. Statistics Canada. Farm population and total population by rural and urban population, by province (2001 and 2006 census of agriculture and census of population). . 2008.
- 2. Buske L. How far away is the nearest physician? Can Med Assoc J. 1997;157(2):228-228.
- 3. Ministerial Advisory Council on Rural Health. Rural health in rural hands: Strategic directions for rural, remote, northern and aboriginal communities. . 2002.
- 4. Potter BK, Manuel D, Speechley KN, Gutmanis IA, Campbell MK, Koval JJ. Is there value in using physician billing claims along with other administrative health care data to document the burden of adolescent injury? an exploratory investigation with comparison to self-reports in ontario, canada. BMC Health Serv Res. 2005;5(1):15.
- 5. Hartling L, Pickett W. The canadian agricultural injury surveillance program: A new injury control initiative. Chronic Dis Can. 1998;19(3):108-111.
- 6. Olsen SJ, Durkin MS. Validity of hospital discharge data regarding intentionality of fatal pediatric injuries. Epidemiology. 1996;7(6):644-647.
- Cooper A, Barlow B, Davidson L, Relethford J, O'Meara J, Mottley L. Epidemiology of pediatric trauma: Importance of population-based statistics. J Pediatr Surg. 1992;27(2):149-153.
- 8. Mitchell-Taverner, P.,Zipparo, L. Survey on speeding and enforcement. www.infrastructure.gov.au/roads/safety/publications/.../Speed_Risk_4.pdf. Updated 2003April 2011.
- McCowan CL, Swanson ER, Thomas F, Handrahan DL. Outcomes of pediatric trauma patients transported from rural and urban scenes. Air Med J. 2008;27(2):78-83.
- 10. Esposito TJ, Maier RV, Rivara FP, et al. The impact of variation in trauma care times: Urban versus rural. Prehospital Disaster Med. 1995;10(3):161-166.
- 11. Eberhardt MS, Ingram DD, Makuc DM. Urban and rural health chartbook. health, united states, 2001. 2001.
- 12. Singh V,Statistics Canada. Rural income disparities in canada: A comparison across the provinces.

http://www.statcan.gc.ca/bsolc/olc-cel/olc-cel?lang=eng&catno=21-006-X2001 007. Updated 2002. Accessed 7, 3.

- Muelleman RL, Mueller K. Fatal motor vehicle crashes: Variations of crash characteristics within rural regions of different population densities. J Trauma. 1996;41(2):315-320.
- Royal Commission on Aboriginal Peoples. Choosing life: Special report on suicide among aboriginal people. Ottawa, ON: Canada Communication Group Pub.; 1995.
- Bombay A, Matheson K, Anisman H. The impact of stressors on second generation indian residential school survivors. Transcult Psychiatry. 2011;48(4):367-391.
- Deguchi K, Oono M, Kitamura K, Nishida Y. Childhood injury prevention through community-based participatory research: A multidimensional approach in the love and safety omura study in nagasaki, japan. . Inj. Prev. 2012;18(Suppl. 1):A108.
- Helitzer D, Willging C, Hathorn G, Benally J. Building community capacity for agricultural injury prevention in a navajo community. Journal of Agricultural Safety & Health. 2009;15(1):19-35.
- Rasmussen K, Carstensen O, Lauritsen JM, Glasscock DJ, Hansen ON, Jensen UF. Prevention of farm injuries in denmark. Scand J Work Environ Health. 2003;29(4):288-296.
- 19. Donham KJ, Rautiainen RH, Lange JL, Schneiders S. Injury and illness costs in the certified safe farm study. Journal of Rural Health. 2007;23(4):348-355.
- 20. Williams, E., Guenther, J. and Arnott, A. Traditional healing: A literature review. . 2011;Working paper series 2: Evaluation and policy. No. 2.
- Public Health Agency of Canada. Aboriginal children: The healing power of cultural identity. http://www.phac-aspc.gc.ca/hp-ps/dca-dea/prog-ini/ahsunc-papacun/aboriginal-a utochtones-eng.php. Updated 2013-02-20. Accessed August 5th, 2013.

Appendix I. MEDLINE (Ovid Version) search strategy

- 1. suburban health/ or urban health/
- 2. suburban population/ or urban population/
- 3. suburban health services/ or urban health services/
- 4. (urban or suburban or semi-urban or city or cities or metropolitan or

suburb*).ti,ab.

- 5. 1 or 2 or 3 or 4
- 6. rural population/
- 7. Rural Health/
- 8. Rural Health Services/
- 9. (rural* or semi-rural* or non-urban or farm* or agricultur* or town* or village*
- or non-metropolitan or remote).ti,ab.
- 10. 6 or 7 or 8 or 9
- 11. "Catchment Area (Health)"/
- 12. (geographic or geography or jurisdiction or catchment).ti.
- 13. 11 or 12
- 14. exp "Wounds and Injuries"/
- 15. exp Accidents/
- 16. exp homicide/
- 17. exp Self-Injurious Behavior/

18. (trauma* or injur* or wound* or accident* or collision* or deaths* or fatal or drowning* or poisoning* or burn* or suicide* or homicide* or assault*). ti.

19. 14 or 15 or 16 or 17 or 18

20. 5 and 10 and 19

21. 13 and 19

22. 20 or 21

23. limit 22 to ("all child (0 to 18 years)" or "young adult (19 to 24 years)")

24. (child* or pe?diatric* or youth* or young adult* or juvenile* or adolecen* or teenag*).mp.

25. 22 and 24

26. 23 or 25

27. exp africa/ or exp caribbean region/ or exp central america/ or latin america/ or exp south america/ or exp antarctic regions/ or exp arctic regions/ or exp asia/ or exp atlantic islands/ or exp australia/ or berlin/ or london/ or moscow/ or paris/ or rome/ or tokyo/ or exp europe/ or exp historical geographic locations/ or exp indian ocean islands/ or exp oceania/ or exp "oceans and seas"/ or exp pacific islands/

28. 26 not 27

	Urban		Farm		Farm		Rural		Rural		
	OIL	UIBAIO		in urban areas		in rural areas		non-FN		FN	
Episodes (n, %)											
PO visits	43,412	54.6%	1,339	45.8%	4,253	43.2%	29,364	39.9%	6,226	34.1%	
ED visits	35,112	44.1%	2,944	52.3%	3,371	54.7%	42,817	58.2%	11,412	62.6%	
Hospitalizations	994	1.2%	444	1.8%	,668	2.1%	1,355	1.8%	568	3.1%	
Deaths	20	0.0%	18	0.1%	53	0.1%	40	0.1%	32	0.2%	
Total	79,538	100.0%	4,745	100.0%	9,345	100.0%	73,576	100.0%	18,238	100.0%	
Full services (n, %)											
Physician claims	133,092	73.1%	8,107	72.2%	143,730	69.9%	121,059	67.5%	24,047	61.8%	
ED visits	47,938	26.3%	8,008	27.1%	0,185	29.2%	56,882	31.7%	14,229	36.6%	
Hospitalizations	1,030	0.6%	462	0.7%	,797	0.9%	1,475	0.8%	601	1.5%	
Total	182,060	100.0%	6,577	100.0%	205,712	100.0%	179,416	100.0%	38,877	99.9%	

Appendix II. Health care utilization among five children's groups

Appendix II. (Continued)

	Urban		Farm in urban areas		Farm in rural areas		Rural non-FN		Rural FN	
Pyramid										
Episodes	1: 50: 1756: 2171		1: 25: 719: 630		1: 31: 818: 646		1: 34 : 1070 : 734		1: 18: 357 : 195	
(Death: hospi.: ED: PO)										
Full services	1: 52: 2397: 6655		1: 26: 1000: 2673		1: 34: 1136: 2712		1: 37: 1422: 3026		1: 19: 445: 751	
(Death: hospi.: ED: PO)										
Place of deaths										
Out of health facility	8	40.0%	8	44.4%	30	56.6%	25	62.5%	27	84.4%
In physician office	1	5.0%	0	0.0%	1	1.9%	0	0.0%	1	3.1%
In ED	5	25.0%	7	38.9%	17	32.1%	8	20.0%	2	6.3%
In hospital	6	30.0%	3	16.7%	5	9.4%	7	17.5%	2	6.3%
Total	20	100.0%	18	100.0%	53	100.0%	40	100.0%	32	100.0%